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Performance Overview 
 

1. Chairwoman’s foreword 
 

I am delighted to welcome you to our 2021/22 Annual Report in which we set out 
how we work, how we’ve performed and, where we are focussing to make 
improvements, as we aim to provide the very best and safest care for our population.  
I must begin my foreword with a resounding round of applause on behalf of the 
RCHT Board, and indeed our population, all for our people who once again have dug 
deep into their resilience and resolve in their response to unprecedented demands 
on our hospitals over the last year. This has undeniably taken its toll and many of us 
have felt the pressure, stresses, and fatigue this brings. I am humbled and proud to 
be a part of team RCHT. My heartfelt thanks go to you all. 
It is hard to single out teams or individuals as there are simply so many worthy of 
recognition but some special mentions must go to our urgent and emergency care 
teams, respiratory and critical care and infection prevention and control teams, all of 
whom have been very much at the forefront of our response from the start of the 
Covid-19 pandemic. Many other colleagues have continued to work flexibly, adapting 
to care for patients with different needs, transferring services to other sites, 
refreshing skills or learning new ones to support teams in other specialties. This has 
asked a great deal of colleagues and it is with gratitude that I note all the work 
willingly given over the year. 
The challenging operational context has changed our perspective on the wellbeing of 
our workforce and put renewed emphasis on the ways we offer support. From mental 
health advice and counselling, to financial advice and the therapeutic benefits of sea 
swimming, we will continue to build on our support initiatives. Most important is time 
for all to relax and recharge, particularly as we move to ‘living with covid’ and begin 
to tackle the legacy of the pandemic for our patients who have been experiencing 
extended waits for non-urgent care.  
It has been important too to make time to reflect and celebrate our achievements, 
not least through our annual Brilliant You ‘virtual festival’ and Thank You Week, 
where 40 teams and individuals were presented with awards and more than 390 
received nomination certificates.   
It has once again been a year where working in partnership has played such a 
crucial role as health and care organisations have faced our biggest ever challenges. 
This includes the voluntary sector which plays such an important part in supporting 
the care of people in our hospitals and wider community. Among them our volunteers 
and Leagues of Friends who have at long last been able to return to roles within our 
hospitals but also continued to help remotely with initiatives such as support phone 
calls to patients when they go home from hospital. 
We don’t underestimate the impact the pressures on our hospitals have also had on 
those we care for and their families. In particular, the limitations we have had to 
place on visiting which we know is hard for everyone involved and we have tried to 
take a compassionate and personal approach.  We thank people for their support, 
and it is so welcome to see us returning to more normal working and visiting 
arrangements as I write my report.  
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We have much to look forward to, with exciting developments in services and not 
least the opening of fantastic new facilities for cancer care and magnetic resonance 
imaging, and the building of a new Women’s and Children’s Hospital in the years to 
come.  
Of course, we won’t be without challenges too, as we respond to the ever complex 
and growing needs of our population and will continue to work with our partners to 
ensure we are providing the services they need and rightly deserve. We look forward 
to doing all this in partnership with our many committed communities. We really want 
to hear what you think. 
I hope you enjoy reading our report and will look forward to joining us at our Annual 
Public Meeting in September to hear more about our work and to ask any questions 
you may have. 
  
 Dr Mairi Mclean 
Chairwoman 
 
2. Who we are 
 
The Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust (RCHT) was founded in 1992 as part of the 
second wave of NHS Trusts to be established in England. We have three main 
hospital sites: Royal Cornwall Hospital, Truro; St Michael’s Hospital, Hayle; and 
West Cornwall Hospital, Penzance 
 
RCHT also provides imaging and outpatient services at a number of locations across 
Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly, as well as birthing centres in St Austell, Helston and 
on the Isles of Scilly. 

 
We serve around 474,000 residents across Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly, with the 
remainder of Cornwall’s population in the east and far north of the county looking to 
Plymouth and North Devon respectively, for their acute hospital services. As a year-
round tourist destination, the number of people we care for is boosted by 
holidaymakers, which can more than double our population at the busiest times. 

 
Around 6,700 people work together across our hospitals and services, including 400 
volunteers and an in-house bank of over 1500 people working flexibly to help us 
respond to changes in demand. 

 
The geography of our county, surrounded on three sides by sea, and the remoteness 
of the Isles of Scilly present unique challenges. Our population is growing and 
ageing. The number of people living in Cornwall is rising faster than the national 
average and over the next 10 years, we are planning for a 6% increase in the 
number of people who live here. The number of people aged over 75 is also above 
the national average and increasing. More information on our population can be 
found in our ‘Trust Strategy 2019-2022 – Our Journey to Brilliant’. 
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Specific challenges for our services include:  
• A growing population: there will be 62,000 more people living in Cornwall and 

the Isles of Scilly in the next 20 years.  
• The baby boomer effect: by 2027 there will be 50% more people aged 75 to 

84; and 27% more people older than 85; 62% of hospital beds are occupied 
by people older than 65.  

• An increase in preventable illnesses: more people have preventable illnesses, 
and are having more years of ill health, often with multiple illnesses, such as 
cancer, heart problems and type 2 diabetes.  

• Health inequalities: 71,000 people are at greater risk of long-term illnesses, 
with people with severe and prolonged mental illness dying on average 15 to 
20 years earlier than those without. Just 85,000 people are living well, 
requiring only ad hoc care and support, with further 280,000 at risk of future ill 
health.  

• Mental health: high rates of suicide and self-harm, with 5% people reporting 
long-term mental health problems. Poorer physical health for people with 
enduring mental health issues and learning disabilities.  

• Workforce shortages: vital health and care jobs remain unfilled, with an ageing 
workforce approaching retirement and a high turnover of care workers. We 
need to transform our workforce to ensure we have the right skills in the right 
places.  

• Limited resources to meet growing demand: there have been increases in 
NHS funding, but peoples’ needs for services are growing faster. Funding for 
health and care is limited and with an ageing and growing population we need 
to make every pound stretch further.  

• Our geography and settlement pattern: a peninsula and 60% of people in 
settlements under 3,000 affects how and where services can be provided.  
There are particular challenges for people living on the Isles of Scilly.  

• Poor performance in some areas of our current system, improving productivity 
and reducing variation.   

 
 
3. Our services 
 
Our hospitals provide acute emergency and planned care services to our local 
population, in addition to maternity services. We also provide a number of 
specialised services (such as the treatment of cystic fibrosis and head & neck 
cancer), often working as part of a network with other acute hospital providers.  

 
Our services are organised into the following care groups and leadership teams: 

• Anaesthetics, Critical Care and Theatres; 
• Clinical Support; 
• General Surgery and Cancer; 
• Specialist Medicine; 
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• Specialist Services and Surgery; 
• Urgent, Emergency and Trauma; 
• Women, Children and Sexual Health; 
• Corporate 
• St Michael’s Hospital 
• West Cornwall Hospital 

 

4. Our team and governance 
 
Our Trust Board is made up of Non-Executive and Executive Directors who together 
are responsible for leading our hospitals. The Board meets in public at least six times 
per year and anyone is welcome to attend. Our Chair is appointed by NHS 
Improvement and works with us to appoint other members of the Trust Board. 
 
Our seven Clinical Care Groups and the two peripheral sites are supported by 
corporate teams including finance, human resources, estates and facilities. Payroll 
and information technology services are hosted by Royal Cornwall Hospitals on 
behalf of the local NHS community, which includes the provision of IT services to GP 
(General Practitioner) surgeries.  
 
Soft Facilities Management services - such as cleaning, portering and mail room – 
were provided for part of the year by MITIE; they were brought back into the Trust 
from 1 October 2021. Car parking facilities for visitors and staff are managed by Q-
Park Limited. 
 
Our patient and staff meals are produced by our in-house catering team, operating 
under the name Sustenation, which is actively developing its business model as a 
provider to other NHS Trusts and commercial businesses.  
 
Our work is founded on the National Health Service (NHS) Constitution and 
achieving the national standards set by NHS England and the United Kingdom 
Government, working in partnership with our regulators and local commissioners. 
Our main commissioner is NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group. 
 
We are a base for medical and nurse training as part of the University of Exeter 
Medical School and the University of Plymouth (nursing and dental faculties). We 
also have an expanding Research, Development and Innovation portfolio, Clinical 
School and Academy 
 
5. Our registration 
 
RCHT is fully registered with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) to allow us to 
carry out a wide range of regulated activity. The principle location registration is for 
the Royal Cornwall Hospital at Treliske, with additional registrations in place for our 
other key sites and services. 
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In August 2021, the CQC published the findings of a focussed inspection related to 
Never Events which was carried out at all three hospitals in June. This followed the 
issuing of a warning notice issued by the CQC in December 2020 requiring us to 
make improvements to the quality of healthcare we provide. 
  
The inspection found we had made significant improvements and had met the 
requirements of all aspects of the warning notice.  
  
Due to the targeted nature of the inspection, the overall rating remained unchanged 
and our hospitals are rated as requires improvement overall.  
 
A further targeted inspection in relation to Urgent and Emergency Care services was 
carried out across the health and care system in March 2022. A report on this 
inspection was awaited at the time of writing our annual report. 
 
6. Our year in numbers 
 
Here are a few of the numbers that show our core focus during 2021/22: 
 

• Our Emergency Department and Urgent Treatment Centre saw 87,127 
attendances 

• We cared for almost 40,000 emergency admissions (excluding maternity) 
• We saw over 428,000 outpatients and cared for more than 55,000 day-

case admissions 
• 4,019 babies were delivered at our hospital birth units or at home with our 

midwifery team 
• More than 345,000 diagnostic imaging examinations were carried out 
• Our pathology laboratories processed almost 1.5 million specimens 

 
7. Our strategic aims and priorities 
 
The ‘RCHT Strategy 2019-2022: Our Journey to Brilliant’ sets what we will do to 
meet our aspiration to provide brilliant care for those who need our care.  
 
Quality improvement is central to our plans, not only in the care we provide but also 
the way we support and care for the people who work for us. We are changing and 
modernising to make sure we are delivering the right services, in the right place, with 
the right skills and expertise. We aim to be regarded among the safest hospitals in 
England. 
 
Our Strategy sets out our three principal goals: 
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7.1 Brilliant Care 
Always providing safe, effective, and compassionate care, where we listen and 
learn to provide an excellent patient experience and reduce avoidable harm 

 
Brilliant Care Pledges 

1. We provide care that is consistently safe and avoids harm 
2. We are open and honest with people about their care 
3. We listen and learn from patients, their families and carers and treat them 

with compassion and respect 
4. We provide clinically effective are, which minimises delay and the amount 

of time people have to spend in our care 
5. We work with our health and care system to improve the health of our 

community 
6. We provide an environment that is clean, safe, and welcoming 

 
7.2 Brilliant People  

Working together in a supportive environment to attract, develop and retain 
brilliant people 

 
Brilliant People Pledges 

1. We provide great leadership and support to help colleagues be the best 
they can be 

2. We create a safe environment so colleagues feel supported to speak up 
3. We make sure colleagues receive feedback to know how they are doing 
4. We provide development to help colleagues learn and grow  
5. We provide an environment that supports colleague safety, health & 

wellbeing 
6. We are true to our values and create a brilliant place to work 

 
7.3 Brilliant Improvement 

Instilling a culture of quality improvement where everyone feels empowered to 
make changes for the benefit of our patient 

 
Brilliant Improvement Pledges 

1. We ensure that everyone has the capability and capacity to pursue 
quality improvement for our patients 

2. We use innovation and digital technology to improve the quality, 
experience, and cost of our care 

3. We are growing our national reputation for excellence in research and 
development 

4. We make good use of the resources that are available to us 
5. We celebrate achievement and will create a culture that enables 

continuous improvement 
 
 



 

Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2021/22 

Page 12 of 172 

Our Values and Behaviours underpin these strategic goals: 
 

• Care + Compassion We see the person in every patient, communicating with 
honesty and compassion. We listen and act on feedback to ensure 
outstanding care.  

• Inspiration + Innovation We welcome new ideas and use our initiative to 
solve problems together. We value learning and research to improve services.  

• Working Together We work to create a positive team spirit, recognise 
achievements and celebrate success. We are open, inclusive and want to 
continually improve.  

• Pride + Achievement We take pride in our work and always go the extra 
mile. We lead by example and ensure quality is at the heart of all we do.  

• Trust + Respect We respect and consider other people’s views and feelings. 
We seek consensus and respond to situations professionally and calmly. 

 
Our plans to ensure we meet our goals are presented in more detail in our 
supporting strategies: 

• Brilliant Care 
• Brilliant People 
• Brilliant Improvement 
• Clinical Strategy 
• Digital Strategy 
• Research & Development Strategy 
• Equality, Diversity & Inclusion 

 
Our Strategy will be undergoing a refresh during 2022-23 in order to remain 
responsive to current and future need, such as health inequalities, as well as to align 
with health and care system aims. The refresh will involve an extensive staff and 
public engagement exercise and there is more on this later in this report. 
 
8. Key risks  
 
Key risks that could affect the delivery of our objectives were set out within the Board 
Assurance Framework (BAF) 2021/22, developed in line with the Risk Management 
Strategy and Policy. The BAF is the key document which records the principal risks 
to strategic objectives. The BAF also provides the Board with sources of assurance 
that controls are working effectively (see the Annual Governance Statement for more 
information). The 2021/22 BAF and the principal risks related to the strategic goals 
outlined in our 2019-22 Corporate Strategy and the impact of the pandemic. 
 
The common themes of risks to our hospitals and services centre around, workforce 
and wellbeing, statutory and regulatory compliance, operational pressures, financial 
constraints and response and recovery. 
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A new risk was added in February 2022 relating to our long-term financial position. 
This is being addressed through short and longer-term mitigation and the 
establishment of a multi-year financial model which will be monitored through the 
Finance and Performance Committee. 
 
We seek to mitigate our risks through appropriate internal controls. Risks are 
assessed for their potential likelihood and impact and actions are identified to reduce 
or eliminate the risk. We implement our Risks Management Strategy and policy in 
this regard, with extreme level corporate risks and strategic risks highlighted on the 
Board Assurance Framework monitored by Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
and Trust Board. 
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Performance Analysis 
 

Brilliant Care 
 

1. Chief Executive’s summary 
 

I have been humbled by the outstanding dedication and determination of our staff 
across Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust to do everything that they can to provide 
the best possible care. To do so at any time is a credit, but to have such focus on 
care and compassion in the dual challenges of a covid pandemic and the exceptional 
pressures on patient flow arising from the large number of patients who are fit for 
discharge but waiting for social or residential care is truly outstanding. 
It was quite an introduction to RCHT, taking up post as Chief Executive in January 
this year, three months into a period of sustained exceptional operational pressure, a 
health and care system in critical incident, the biggest peak in Cornwall of COVID-19 
infections and hospital admissions, alongside significant winter pressures.  What 
immediately stood out was the extraordinary efforts being made by our people to 
keep patients safe and well-cared for in the most challenging of circumstances and 
also the warmth of the welcome I received from our staff, patients, stakeholders and 
the wider community. 
Those significant operational pressures have continued into the new financial year 
where we continue to see the significant and sustained impact of delays for people 
ready to leave hospital but who are waiting in hospital beds for domiciliary care in 
their own homes or a place in a care or residential home.  This means each day 
there can be more than 100 beds in RCHT hospitals, and more than 200 across 
RCHT and other community hospitals in our region, which are not available for new 
emergency admissions or planned care as they are occupied by patients who have 
completed their medical care but are waiting for social or residential care. 
At the end of 2021-22 the Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Urgent and Emergency Care 
System was inspected by the Care Quality Commission (CQC). The subsequent CQC 
report identified that adult social care in Cornwall had one of the highest staff vacancy 
rates in England. The CQC noted that this social care vacancy rate was resulting in 
significant delays for ambulance response times and in our Emergency Department 
as the level of adult social care vacancies had a direct knock-on effect in hospital which 
resulted in long delays for people waiting to leave hospital. 
The sustained and significant level of delayed discharges in our system presents the 
greatest risk to the delivery of timely emergency hospital care in Cornwall. All parts of 
our Health and Care System see this as a significant priority and our system has 
agreed a range of actions and investments to help address this significant challenge. 
This has included agreement to implement the national Department of Health and 
Care Discharge Home for assessment approach, expanding dementia care in the 
community, and a range of other health and care actions. However, at the time of this 
report being published, these actions have yet to impact on the significant numbers of 
patients waiting in hospital beds who have completed their hospital treatment and are 
waiting for discharge with social care or residential support.  
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As identified by CQC, these delays in discharge whilst patients wait for social care has 
very significant impacts on the response times for ambulances in Cornwall, and 
equally on long waiting times in our Emergency Department, and increasingly now on 
our ability to provide timely planned care services.  
To support our ambulance and emergency department staff and services it is 
imperative that all parts of our health and care system do everything possible to 
support the discharge of patients that no longer need to be in hospital so that we can 
provide the timely access to our essential emergency hospital services. 
Our biggest challenge as an integrated care system is addressing this immediate 
issue and keeping pace with the growing demand and need for capacity in the care 
sector and therein, recruiting enough people to create a sustainable workforce, with 
a particular focus on roles in domiciliary and adult social care to support those who 
want, and need to be, in their own homes.  There is no quick-fix answer and the 
added context of a highly competitive recruitment market nationally, and locally from 
hospitality and retail sectors; a lack of affordable housing; and a growing, ageing 
population in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly make our situation incredibly complex. 
Despite this, our teams have done everything possible to maintain urgent and cancer 
surgery, with few last-minute cancellations but we have seen an impact for others, 
for example our stroke patients whose arrival at hospital has been delayed or who 
have continued to receive the care they need by not necessarily on a specialist unit.  
Waiting times for planned surgery have grown and while these are shorter than 
some other Trusts, they are much longer than we would want them to be. We will be 
working hard to bring down our waiting times over the coming months and this is a 
key target for our Trust and the NHS nationally. 
In this context it can be easy to overlook the great achievements of the last year, 
including the continued roll-out of the COVID-19 vaccination; our work with partners 
to introduce new models of care such as Community Assessment and Treatment 
Units and a specialist reablement ward aiming to maximise people’s independence, 
as well as providing a training environment for those starting healthcare careers. 
We’ve also made great progress toward implementing the recommendations from 
the Ockenden report, accepting there is still more to over the coming months. 
The pandemic has accelerated technological advance with virtual wards and clinics 
now becoming a normal part of our service delivery, along with the greater flexibility 
remote working has offered to many of our people.  We have been pushing forward, 
too, with building developments, including the new MRI and oncology Cancer Centre 
building, due to open in 2023, and in taking forward plans for a flagship Women’s 
and Children’s hospital, both on the Royal Cornwall hospital site. A new outpatient 
department unit is planned for West Cornwall Hospital, as well as developments on 
the St Michael’s Hospital site. We are also rapidly progressing our intentions to 
transform how staff access medical record information and we expect to finalise our 
business case this year for a new Electronic Patient Health Record to radically 
transform how our clinical staff can access clinical information to support the delivery 
of great care. There is much to look forward to and these new facilities will play an 
important part in our post-pandemic recovery. 
Having ended 2021-22 on a positive financial footing, we know we are headed into 
an exceptionally challenging time for our hospitals, and across the NHS.  Within that 
context we are refreshing our strategy and plans for the next decade making sure we 
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are well placed to take advantage of greater partnership working as an integrated 
care system and within provider collaboratives. 
The pressure on our people over the last two years has been, and remains, very 
significant, yet they have shown incredible resilience, brilliant teamwork and most 
importantly compassion and good humour in the way they have looked after those 
needing their care, and indeed each other. I am so proud of everything our staff do to 
provide the best possible care and I look forward with optimism to further developing 
our essential hospital services to support communities and patients across Cornwall 
and the Isles of Scilly.  I am part of a great team who are all determined to do their 
very best for our population and those who need our care. 
  
Steve Williamson 
Chief Executive 
 

2. Caring through a pandemic 
 
2.1 Responding to a pandemic takes a flexible approach 
 
Peaks and troughs in Covid-19 infection rates, alongside changes in approaches to 
care as we have learned more about the virus and medication combinations that can 
supress its effects on many of more vulnerable, have drawn heavily on the flexibility 
and adaptability of our services and our people. 
 
Many of our wards and services have had to change the way they work and care for 
patients with different needs to those they might ordinarily support. Colleagues have 
updated or acquired new skills to support critical and high dependency care or 
worked to assist virtual wards where patients with Covid-19 and other illnesses are 
monitored from their own homes. 
 
Throughout this year our wards have continued to respond to the changes in 
demand brought about by peaks in the numbers of Covid-19 positive inpatients; a 
system of red, amber, and green designations allowing patients to be cared for in the 
right setting. This flexibility has impacted on our ability to admit people for planned 
surgery and procedures, with waiting times growing as a result. 
 
Our microbiology laboratory and contact tracing service for our employees have 
continued to play a crucial role in the management of outbreaks, reducing risk for 
patients and colleagues and providing them with expert advice.  They also 
successfully rolled out additional asymptomatic testing for colleagues at RCHT and 
Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation Trust using Loop-mediated Isothermal 
Amplification (LAMP) testing kits as an easier and more accurate alternative to 
lateral flow. 
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2.2 At the sharp end: leading a vaccination programme 
 
The Covid-19 mass vaccination programme for Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly has 
been delivered by an outstanding team, led by RCHT’s Chief Pharmacist. Since the 
first vaccinations in December 2020 and continuing throughout the past year, more 
than 858,000 vaccinations have been given to over 370,000 people in a variety of 
settings from their own home, to care homes to mass vaccination centres. 
 
The national target was met to offer all eligible adults a booster vaccination by the 
end of December 2021 and by early March 2022 the vaccination centres in 
Wadebridge and Stithians alone had administered nearly 270,000 vaccinations 
between them. 
 
In tackling health inequalities, the team set up county mobile and roving vaccination 
units to reach the traveller community, fishermen, and homeless people, as well as a 
hospital ‘in-reach’ service to vaccinate those admitted to hospital who were 
unvaccinated. 
 
The success of the programme was wholly due to the teamwork behind its delivery, 
including the many NHS staff who were redeployed, those who came out of 
retirement, the hundreds of volunteers who provided support at the centres, and the 
organisations who worked with us, including, St John’s Ambulance, Volunteer 
Cornwall, Kapar, Cornwall Ambulance Service and Aussie Marquees. 
 
The entire vaccination team was awarded Team of the Year in the 2021 RCHT 
Brilliant You Awards. 
 
The team is now planning the autumn 2022 booster vaccination programme which is 
likely to be delivered through a larger number of smaller locations, potentially aligned 
to primary care networks and community pharmacy services. 
 
2.3 Infection Prevention and Control 
 
The work of our Infection Prevention and Control team has been outstanding and 
over the past year it has kept our hospitals on top of continued updates of national 
policy and guidance. The team has played a key role in making sure we can safely 
utilise as many beds as possible whilst caring for people with Covid-19 and providing 
expert advice to protect and support colleagues. 
 
Restricting visiting was one of the most difficult decisions we had to make at the start 
of the pandemic and have continued to relax and tighten as the different waves of 
the pandemic have impacted on our hospitals. A compassionate approach has been 
taken to individual circumstances, but our priority has always been on reducing risk 
for vulnerable patients and staff. 
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2.4 Community Assessment and Treatment Units avoid admissions for frail 
and elderly people 

 
One of our take-away successes from our pandemic response, the Community 
Assessment and Treatment Units (CATUs) have identified huge potential for keeping 
more patients away from the main Emergency Department. This collaborative model 
of care is a great example of clinicians working innovatively at speed and across 
traditional organisational boundaries. CATUs are now providing care differently for 
some of our most vulnerable patients, for whom admission to an acute hospital can 
be detrimental in the longer team. 
  
With CATUs now in place at Bodmin and Camborne-Redruth Hospitals, a business 
case for a sustainable service aims to help this model of care evolve further, 
overcoming the current constraints with increased access to supportive diagnostics 
and ultimately offering more care close to home. 
 
2.5 Supporting our partners 
 
This year our in-house bank has continued to support our health and care partners 
who are experiencing staffing shortages and recruitment challenges, that have been 
exacerbated by competition from the hospitality and retail sectors as they recover 
from the pandemic. As well as providing staff for care home and other settings, we 
have also offered infection prevention and control advice, and aid with protective 
personal equipment and lateral flow device supplies. 
 
2.6 Responding to a critical incident across our health and care system 
 
In October 2021 the combined impact of sustained operational pressures and Covid-
19 which had not let up after the busy summer holiday season in Cornwall, led to our 
NHS organisations jointly declaring a critical incident which continued into the new 
financial year. Cornwall Adult Social Care services joined the NHS by declaring a 
critical incident in January 2022 with a commitment to free up 100 NHS hospital 
beds. 
 
Delays for people who are medically fit to be discharged but needing ongoing care in 
their own homes and in residential or nursing care homes have reached their highest 
ever levels, with our hospitals constantly caring for around 100 people, the 
equivalent of more than three wards. We have also seen as many as 700 people in 
our communities with unmet care need and who, without the support they require, 
are subsequently at higher risk of emergency admission. 
 
As a result, ambulances queueing outside RCHT’s emergency department became 
the visual representation of the pressures being faced across the system, with 
unacceptable handover delays and significant risk for people waiting for responses 
to their 999 calls. 
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We have taken actions to make as many additional hospital beds available as 
possible, temporarily changing the use of other clinical areas for inpatient care, 
working in partnership with South Western Ambulance Services Foundation NHS 
Trust to establish a temporary ambulance handover unit, to enable crews to get back 
on the road. Social care partners operated a care hotel during the peak winter 
months. 
 
Despite the efforts of health and care system partners, the care and voluntary sector, 
demand for community-based care has continued to outstrip additional capacity 
created. This has been compounded by temporary closures of care homes due to 
Covid-19 outbreak isolation, which became particularly acute during the latter part of 
the year. 
 
This sustained pressure has had a major impact on our staff who have worked many 
additional hours in very challenging circumstances, often frustrated and concerned 
they have not been able to provide care to the high standards they set themselves. 
Over such a sustained period this takes its toll, and we are seeing increased signs of 
fatigue and stress among our colleagues.  
 
All partners continue to work together on measures to improve the situation and to 
ensure people are being cared for in the right place at the right time. As we move 
into the new financial year, there is renewed focus on ‘discharge to assess’, where 
people are assessed for their ongoing care and support needs in the familiarity of 
their own home. We are working with the NHS National Discharge Taskforce on 
improvement programme which includes the intention to develop a single integrated 
discharge service for our system, increasing homecare capacity to enable patients 
medically optimised for discharge but waiting homecare support to be discharged 
earlier, increasing reablement capacity, improvements to rehabilitation care, and 
improving access to and capacity of dementia services. 
 
3. Living with COVID and our recovery 
 
3.1 Timely care for people with cancer and urgent conditions 
 
With the combination of Covid-19 and unprecedented operational pressure 
throughout the year, the priority has remained firmly on the care of people with 
cancer and other life-threatening conditions. We have done our utmost to avoid last 
minute cancellation of surgery and whilst we have been the best performing 
hospitals in the southwest, the number of people receiving a cancer diagnosis within 
the 28-day standard was lower than we have achieved in previous years, at 82 
percent. 
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3.2 Improving access to diagnostic and imaging services 
 
Diagnostic imaging services such as x-ray, computerised tomography (CT), and 
magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) are a vital part of almost every patient’s care. 
Timely access to them is equally important, particularly for those with a possible 
cancer diagnosis. 
 
Over the coming year we will have two new MRI scanners and a new ultrasound 
department at the Royal Cornwall Hospital which will offer the opportunity to provide 
advanced cancer treatments. A mobile PETCT scanner has continued to provide 
local access to this specialist imaging technology. 
 
Our vascular access service is now available 7-days a week at the Royal Cornwall 
Hospital and supports patients having chemotherapy. 
 
We have also been improving and making plans to expand our diagnostic services in 
the east and west of Cornwall, with a new community diagnostic centre planned with 
Cornwall Partnership Foundation NHS Trust at Bodmin Hospital and extended 
opening hours for CT scanning at West Cornwall Hospital. 
 
The Breast Unit at RCHT was the first in the southwest region, and one of the first in 
England, to clear the breast screening backlog that built up during the Covid 
pandemic. At the end of February, The Mermaid Centre took delivery of the first of 
two, replacement mobile breast screening units. 
 
3.3 Getting planned surgery and appointments back on track 
 
Operational pressures meant we were unable to reduce the number of patients 
waiting more than 104 weeks for treatment to zero by 31 March 2022, with 32 people 
still waiting longer. Whilst we would not want any patient to be waiting this length of 
time, the position in Cornwall is much better than many other parts of the country. 
Our clinicians and specialty leads individually review all long-wait patients on an 
individual basis to assess and schedule them for their procedure, based on their 
urgency and risk of harm. 
 
Endoscopy services had seen a rapid rise in waiting times over the past 18 months 
because of reduced clinic capacity caused by social distancing needs and staff 
absence. We have engaged an independent team of NHS staff from across the 
country and have also made use of a mobile diagnostic unit and remote radiology 
results. As a result, we have successfully reduced our waiting time for endoscopy 
examinations to within six weeks of referral.  
 
Our theatre teams have been working to improve theatre utilisation, although this 
has been hampered at points throughout the year where operational pressures have 
meant temporary closures of theatres at West Cornwall and St Michael's hospitals. 
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With adaptations to the way theatre lists are co-ordinated, alongside an anticipated 
decline in Covid infection rates, theatre activity is expected to increase in the early 
part of 2022/23. 
 
4. Keeping our patients safe 
 
4.1 Putting safety first 
 
We are one of four trusts in the southwest NHS to be an early adopter of the Patient 
Safety Incident Response Framework (PSIRF). PSIRF uses system-based methods 
of reviewing incidents to provide learning and improvement. As part of the new 
approach, we have developed new processes and provided training to 23 Patient 
Safety Incident Investigators.  
 
We are continuing to work with our system partners to develop our approach to 
learning from incidents and also proactive improvement to prevent adverse events. A 
Patient Safety Specialist now has a key role in supporting the development of a 
patient safety culture, safety systems and improvement activity. 
 
Alongside this we have updated and expanded our patient safety training to include 
online and e-learning opportunities that can be accessed at convenient times, with 
group and/or individual learning options. These include a bespoke e-learning module 
which has already been completed by almost 80% of employees and other topics 
including Human Factors and World Health Organisation (WHO) safety checklists.  
 
During the year there was one Never Event relating to the incorrect administration of 
insulin to a patient with type 1 diabetes. Although this error was spotted and 
corrected immediately, our investigation has led to changes including improved 
monitoring and documentation and ensuring the correct insulin syringes are stored in 
the theatre environment.  
 
We have continued work to ensure actions taken following Never Events are 
embedded into our ways of working. We have established a Safer Surgery and 
Invasive Procedures Group to provide oversight of practice across the organisation. 
 
More detail on how we are continuing to improve patient safety can be found in our 
Quality Accounts 2021/22. 
 
4.2 Meeting national standards 
 
The following tables show our performance against key national standards over the 
last two financial years. (Red crosses denote standard not achieved, green tick 
denotes standard achieved). The Covid-19 pandemic has had an extraordinary 
impact on NHS hospital services across the country.  
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This, coupled with national challenges associated with patients who are medically fit 
waiting for social care support prior to discharge has impacted on our ability to 
deliver the national standards in a number of our service areas. 

 
Access Standards - 2021/22 Standard Performance Achieved 
ED (Emergency Department) Attenders 4 hours to 
discharge, admission or transfer (average over 12 
months) 

95.0% 58.4% x  

ED (Emergency Department) 95th percentile time to 
initial assessment (average over 12 months) 

15 
minutes 34 x  

ED median time from arrival to treatment (average over 
12 months) 

60 
minutes 80 x  

ED attenders who left without being seen (average over 
12 months) 5.0% 1.81%  

Cancer referral 2ww (average over 12 months) 93.0% 88.64% x  
Cancer diagnosis to treatment - 31 days (average over 
12 months) 96.0% 97.11%  

Cancer referral to start treatment - 62 days (average 
over 12 months) 85.0% 86.79%  

Cancer 62-day screening (average over 12 months) 90.0% 81.40% x  
Cancer 2ww treated within 104 days of referral (average 
over 12 months) 100.0% 98.59% x  

Cancer referral to diagnosis within 28 days - 2ww 
(average over 12 months) 75.0% 82.34%  

Cancer referral to diagnosis within 28 days - screening 
(average over 12 months) 75.0% 76.25%  

Cancer referral to diagnosis within 28 days - breast 
symptomatic (average over 12 months) 75.0% 54.47% x  

Fractured NOF operated in 36 hours (average over 12 
months) 80.0% 46.04% x  

RTT (Referral to Treatment) incomplete pathways within 
18 weeks (average over 12 months) 92.0% 71.4% x  

RTT (Referral to Treatment) 52-week waiters (March'21 
end) 0 930 x  

Diagnostics within 6 weeks (average over 12 months) 99.0% 76.50% x  
Average LOS (length of stay) in days (average over 12 
months) 3.33 3.71 x  

Same day cancellations (average over 12 months) 0.80% 1.09% x  
Stroke patients 90% time on unit (average over 12 
months) 90.0% 76.66% x  

Admission to stroke unit in 4 hours (average over 12 
months) 90.0% 38.24% x  

CT within 12 hours for stroke patients (average over 12 
months) 85.0% 94.53%  

CT within 1 hour for stroke patients (average over 12 75.0%  65.87% x  
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Access Standards - 2021/22 Standard Performance Achieved 
months) 
Non-face-to-face appointments attended (average over 
12 months) 50.00% 34.76% x  

 
Access Standards - 2020/21 Standard Performance Achieved 
ED Attenders 4 hours to discharge, admission or 
transfer (average over 12 months) 95.0% 88.57% x  

ED 95th percentile time to initial assessment (average 
over 12 months) 

15 
minutes 18 x 

ED median time from arrival to treatment (average over 
12 months) 

60 
minutes 54  

ED attenders who left without being seen (average over 
12 months) 5.0% 0.76%  

Cancer referral 2ww (average over 12 months) 93.0% 94.76%  
Cancer diagnosis to treatment - 31 days (average over 
12 months) 96.0% 98.47%  

Cancer referral to start treatment - 62 days (average 
over 12 months) 85.0% 89.48%  

Cancer 62-day screening (average over 12 months) 90.0% 69.11% x  
Cancer 2ww treated within 104 days of referral (average 
over 12 months) 100.0% 98.58% x  

Cancer referral to diagnosis within 28 days - 2ww 
(average over 12 months) 75.0% 82.67%  

Cancer referral to diagnosis within 28 days - screening 
(average over 12 months) 75.0% 57.21% x  

Cancer referral to diagnosis within 28 days - breast 
symptomatic (average over 12 months) 75.0% 97.86%  

Fractured NOF operated in 36 hours (average over 12 
months) 80.0% 65.52% x  

RTT incomplete pathways within 18 weeks (average 
over 12 months) 92.0% 69.0% x  

RTT 52-week waiters (March'21 end) 0 1105 x  

Diagnostics within 6 weeks (average over 12 months) 99.0% 70.62% x  

Average LOS (length of stay) in days (average over 12 
months) 

3.30 
(local) 3.32 x  

Same day cancellations (average over 12 months) 0.8% 
(local) 0.60%  

Stroke patients 90% time on unit (average over 12 
months) 90.0% 81.02% x  

Admission to stroke unit in 4 hours (average over 12 
months) 70.0% 64.30% x  

CT within 12 hours for stroke patients (average over 12 
months) 95.0% 95.60%  
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Access Standards - 2020/21 Standard Performance Achieved 
CT within 1 hour for stroke patients (average over 12 
months) 50.00% 65.19%  

Non-face-to-face appointments attended (average over 
12 months) 50.00% 47.08% x  

 
4.3 Improving care for emergency surgery and critical care 
 
Our critical care team has worked hard to create a new enhanced perioperative care 
unit for patients being admitted for planned surgery and where there is an expected 
need for specialist care after their operation. The unit has been helping to prevent 
last minute cancellations and has cared for more than 200 patients since it was 
opened, although towards the end of the year it was forced to be temporarily 
redesignated to support operational pressures. There are plans, subject to 
recruitment of people with the specialist skills needed, to expand from four to seven 
beds in the coming months. 
 
Plans to create a new pathway for patients needing same day emergency surgery 
and to create a same day medical assessment unit are being taken forward as part 
of the wider patient flow programme during 2022/23. 
 
4.4 Responding to national maternity service reviews 
 
Our maternity services team has made considerable progress over the last year to 
meet with the requirements of the Reviews carried out at Shrewsbury and Telford 
and Morecambe Bay (Ockenden Reports), working closely with the Kernow 
Maternity Voices Partnership. 27 of the recommendations from the Morecombe Bay 
(Kirkup) investigation map directly to the Ockenden recommendations leaving 31 
recommendations, of which we have achieved compliance against 30. 
 
At the time of writing this report our response to the preliminary Ockenden report 
held two ‘Red’ outstanding actions. These relate to the maternal medicine pathway 
and require regional resolution. A further 8 ‘Amber’ actions are underway and 120 
out of 121 ‘Green’ actions in progress and on track for completion by their respective 
deadlines. 
 
Following the publication of the final Ockenden report at the end of March 2022, like 
all trusts we are reviewing our maternity service staffing, using both the ‘birthrate 
plus’ tool and the Continuity of Care toolkit versus traditional models, to ensure a 
Maternity Continuity of Care plan that causes minimal disruption to staff and families. 
A final maternity Continuity of Care Report is due for submission in June 2022, in line 
with the Maternity Transformation Programme. The 15 new immediate and essential 
actions from the final Ockenden report have also been built into our action plans. 
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Outstanding areas of compliance will be progressed and monitored through the 
Maternity Services Governance Group, Care Group Board, the LMNS (Local 
Maternity and Neonatal System) and through the monthly Maternity Services Safety 
Report to the Quality Assurance Committee and Trust Board. 

 
4.5 What our patient’s say 
 
Our patients are our most important critics from whom we can learn where we are 
doing well and where we need to do better.  
 
During 2021/22 we received 2424 compliments and expressions and thanks. There 
were 355 formal complaints, three quarters of which were responded to within the 
agreed timescale, and 1423 informal complaints. One investigation was completed 
by the Public Health Services Ombudsman. 
 

Complaint Theme 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Communication with patient 129 93 124 

Communication with relatives/carers 124 132 167 

Attitude of Medical Staff 52 31 44 

Attitude of Registered Nursing 
Staff/Midwives 

65 44 50 

Care needs not adequately met 87 53 64 

Discharge Arrangements 60 48 55 

Lack of Clinical Assessment / / 37 

Inappropriate treatment / / 34 

Conflicting Information 37 28 48 

Discharged too early 75 45 64 
 
The Friends and Family test resumed fully during the year, with an average of 3,100 
people giving their feedback each month. 
 
Despite the challenging circumstances presented by the pandemic and sustained 
operational pressures, 98% of inpatients who completed a Friends and Family Test 
survey rated their care as very good or good, with just 1% saying they had a poor 
experience. 84% of those completing the Friends and Family Test after attending our 
Emergency Department rated their experience as very good or good but 10% said it 
was poor, which is likely to reflect the longer waiting times and busy environment. 
 
In our outpatient services, 96% of those responding rated their experience as very 
good or good.  
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Users of our maternity services are asked to rate their care during each part of their 
pregnancy and of those who responded 97% rated their antenatal care as very good 
or good, 95% said the same for their birth experience, but post-natal ward and post-
natal community care dropped to 88% and 84% respectively. This will be partly due 
to Covid-19 related restrictions, and we continue to work closely with the Kernow 
Maternity Voices Partnership to improve services and ensure we are responding to 
the needs of all women, pregnant people and their families. 
 
5 Working to ensure we play the right role in our health and care 

system 
 
The combined impact of Covid-19 and operational pressures across health and care 
services in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly, which have remained in critical incident 
status since October 2021, has had an enormous impact on our primary purpose to 
provide specialist acute hospital care. 
  
We continue to see an increasing number of people delayed in our hospitals, even 
though they are medically fit to leave, consequently compromising our ability to admit 
emergency patients in a timely way. Up to four wards at any one time are effectively 
providing adult social care as patients who have completed their medical care wait in 
hospital beds for social care support before discharge. 
 
This situation is unsustainable and detrimental to a person’s long-term recovery and 
rehabilitation, particularly for frail and elderly people, and poses significant risks for 
others waiting for emergency admission or the arrival of a 999 ambulance. 
 
There is no doubt that as a health and care system we urgently have to resolve the 
lack of capacity and recruitment issues within our community-based adult care 
services.  
 
5.1 Ambulance handover delays 
 
Ambulance queues and lengthy handover delays for crews are the most visible 
illustration of pressure right across the system. Our acute hospitals are the single 
point where access must remain in place no matter how full our wards are. 
 
Throughout the winter we have opened a temporary additional ward and our staff 
have worked many extra shifts to keep open all possible extra beds using spaces 
that would otherwise accommodate day patients. Working in partnership with 
colleagues for South Western Ambulance Service Foundation NHS Trust (SWAST) 
we also supported the opening of a temporary ambulance handover unit, which was 
run by paramedics caring for a small number of patients and enabling their own 
colleagues to get out to their next calls. 
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5.2 Improving internal patient flow 
 
It is equally essential that we make sure we are doing everything we can to avoid 
delays for patients in our care, be that during their admission, diagnosis and 
treatment, or on the early planning of their discharge from hospital. 
 
We are renewing our focus on identifying an estimated date of discharge from the 
time a patient arrives in hospital, using criteria-led discharge to reduce delays when 
someone is medically fit and fully embedding discharge to assess, where patients 
are assessed for any ongoing care needs in their familiar home environment. This is 
being aided by the introduction of e-discharge on our Nervecentre patient monitoring 
system, which prompts reviews and actions to ensure there are no wasted days in a 
patient’s time in hospital and maintains the focus on their discharge. 
 
5.3 Working with partners to support people at home 
 
Throughout this year we have continued to work with our health and care partners on 
the new models of care programme, of which respiratory, intermediate care, frailty 
and cardiology are now established. These are multi-year projects and further 
speciality areas are being developed including those for chronic fatigue and pain.  
 
Intermediate and frailty care provides a stepping-stone to maintaining independence 
and has been established through the opening of Wheal Vor ward. Providing 
transitional care as patients recover from acute or specialist care in hospital before 
they are discharged, Wheal Vor is dedicated to caring for people living with frailty 
and who require ongoing assessment and reablement prior to discharge, either 
home or to another community setting.  
 
This model of care also supports the training of new, dedicated, Health Care Support 
Workers via an Apprenticeship route, or via the wider recruitment of people looking 
for a new career within the healthcare sector. Trainee Health Care Support Workers 
are supervised on Wheal Vor by the core care team whilst they undertake a six-week 
‘Introduction to Care’ course. Once the course is completed, the new Health Care 
Support Workers receive a National Care Certificate which provides them with 
opportunities to work elsewhere within the Trust, or across the NHS and care sector 
in Cornwall. 
 

Brilliant People 
 
6 Supporting the health and wellbeing of our staff 
 
More than 6,700 people are employed by RCHT in a diverse range of roles, working 
a wide range of shift patterns and hours. Our people also come from many different 
ethnic and culture backgrounds from more than 60 countries around the world. 
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6.1 Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
 
We are making an ever-bigger commitment to equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI), 
investing in new roles to ensure we pay more than lip service to this important 
agenda. A new EDI strategy with associated action plans was adopted in 2021/22. 
Plans are now monitored quarterly at People and Organisational Development 
Committee on behalf of the Trust Board. 
 
Over the last year three new dedicated staff networks have been established with an 
executive sponsor for each of these as well as the existing networks. We are rolling 
out the Just Culture programme and have introduced new training courses in areas 
such as transgender awareness, neurodivergence acceptance and cultural 
awareness. We are also working to break taboos around issues such as 
menopause, raising awareness and offering more support to those who need it.  
 
Accessibility, both in terms of our buildings and estate, as well as our online 
presence is also receiving much greater attention. Our strategic estates programme 
is engaging with service users with a wide range of different needs and our public 
facing website has been updated to ensure it meets the latest Accessible Information 
Standards. It is currently rated as the best acute hospital website in the UK on the 
Silktide index which independently assesses public sector websites for their 
compliance with the legislative standards. 
 
Looking ahead we will continue to build on our equality, diversity and inclusion 
agenda, looking to review a range of employment policies, introduce new training 
programmes and raising awareness of issues such as Hate Crime. More detail can 
be found in our Quality Account 2021/22 and Annual Governance Statement. 
 
6.2 Promoting wellbeing 
 
Increasing our emphasis on staff health and wellbeing has been brought to the fore 
since the start of the pandemic and is, of course, closely linked to stress and 
absence from work. It has led to a number of new initiatives becoming a permanent 
feature at RCHT.  
 
We now have a 7-day Helpdesk for our employees which was initially established 
with the support of colleagues who were unable to carry out their usual duties due to 
shielding and has now gone on to become a permanent support feature for RCHT 
and our colleagues at Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. 
 
Alongside this we have a free Employee Assistance Programme which offers a 
range of services to colleagues and their families including mental health support, 
financial and legal advice. 
 
 

https://index.silktide.com/
https://index.silktide.com/
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With time for rest and relaxation being essential to health and wellbeing, we have 
also been working on plans to improve and enhance indoor and outdoor rest areas, 
with funds now secured to take forward plans for green space and green gym 
facilities and more of our popular cold water swimming courses. Wellbeing 
Conversations are also being embedded as a regular part of team leadership and 
management. 
 
6.3 Flu and Covid vaccination 
 
The uptake of Covid-19 vaccinations and boosters by our people has been high and 
our vaccination team went above and beyond to make vaccines as easily accessible 
as possible to everyone who wanted one. By the end of December 2021 91% of 
colleagues had been fully vaccinated.  
 
There was however a detrimental impact on influenza vaccination for winter 2021-22, 
with 49 percent of patient facing colleagues opting to have a vaccination; this figure 
is not comparable to previous years as it now includes those on our in-house bank.  
 
6.4 Responding to what our colleagues say about working for RCHT 
 
In 2021/22 we have been working to make the changes our colleagues told us were 
priorities for them in 2020. Amid an unprecedented time in NHS history, we have set 
out to support our people to provide the quality of care they would like to give. We 
have opened new training opportunities, launched two recruitment programmes and 
introduced Just Culture into our policies and practice. The success of this is reflected 
in the further increase in the number of colleagues saying they feel secure in raising 
concerns about unsafe clinical practice. 
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Another focus has been our health and wellbeing support. There are now proactive 
health checks available to all staff through occupational health; we also expanded 
our Mental Health First Aider Network, introduced mental wellbeing ‘blue therapy’ 
through our Occupational Health team and appointed a clinical psychologist to take 
forward new ways to protect mental health and wellbeing. 
 
As an organisation we have improved the way engage, enable and speak with our 
colleagues. An interventional engagement offer has supported the reintroduction of 
Schwartz rounds and, working with our Quality Improvement team, enabled 
colleagues to bring about change in their areas. Schwartz Rounds provide a 
structured forum where all staff, clinical and non-clinical, come together regularly to 
discuss the emotional and social aspects of working in healthcare. 

 
We have developed our newsletters and made use of new technology to support 
interactive conversation in covid restricted times. 
 
Our people have had a very tough year dealing with the pandemic, together with 
ongoing and extraordinary operational pressures. This too, is reflected in our national 
staff survey results and Staff Friends and Family Test, with less people saying they 
would recommend RCHT as a place to work after several years of continual 
improvement. 
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Across the people promise element, our colleagues report an experience that is 
broadly in line with other hospitals. This is in the context of both an organisational 
and national decline in staff experience as demonstrated in figure 1. We will now be 
taking forward our conversations with colleagues across RCHT to decide where, 
together, we want to excel first. 
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7 Developing our people to meet the future needs of our population 
 
Supporting training needs related to Covid-19 has continued to be a priority, 
including the training of those needed to support the mass vaccination programme. 
The online leaning cc-ordinated by our learning and development team provided 153 
people with the skills needed to vaccinate our population, including our own 
workforce, ultimately saving lives. 
 
Clinical placements have continued to flourish, with more than 200 pre-registration 
students working in our hospitals at any one time. To support its growth a £50,000 
award from NHS England and Improvement has supported the implementation and 
continued expansion of a Collaborative Learning in Practice (CLIP) programme 
which takes advantage of team-based approaches to learning ‘on the job’. Voluntary 
paid placements for pre-registration students, implemented under emergency 
Nursing and Midwifery Council standards, led to 65% taking up posts at RCHT after 
qualifying. 
 
Preceptorships and a range of apprenticeships including radiography, healthcare 
support worker, pharmacy technician, nursing and advanced clinical practitioner, 
together with a wide range of non-clinical roles, form a key part of our commitment to 
nurturing our own talent and offering rewarding career opportunities to our local 
population. In recognition of our work, RCHT won the Apprentice Employer of the Year 
Award for large employers at the 2021 Cornwall Apprentice Awards. 
 
7.1 Working flexibly to support our hospitals and our partners 
 
Our Kernowflex in-house bank team has reached out to support our health and care 
partners during the pandemic, providing vital staff in our hospitals and in the 
community through a One Workforce collaborative bank. This has kept services and 
care homes running and prevented an estimated 7,000 admissions to our acute 
hospitals. The Team was awarded the Chief Executive and Chairwoman Brilliant You 
Award in recognition of its achievements.  
 
Among the achievements of the Kernowflex and Temporary Staffing team are: 

• Recruiting and rostering volunteer ‘Care Buddies’ from other parts of the 
RCHT workforce to support front line services in responding peaks in covid 
patient admissions, alongside staffing shortages 

• A Mutual Aid Agreement template, which allows seamless use of people 
resource across partners, this has not been achieved before.  

• Enrolling a temporary workforce across the vaccination sites  
• Supplying workforce to support the G7 Summit from additional minor injury 

units and enhanced additional escalation areas 

• Staffing of escalation areas to support operational pressures  
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• Supporting partners in the opening of a 28-bed Care Hotel over the peak 
winter months  

 
7.2 International recruits join our team 
 
Over the last year 125 internationally trained nurses have been welcomed to our 
team at RCHT. 
 
To support those who are new to the UK, a Pastoral Support Coordinator is now 
available to support these nurses from before they set out on their journey to the UK 
until they are fully settled and accustomed to life in Cornwall and at RCHT. 
 
Part of this settling in is supporting nurses through the completion of their objective 
structured clinical examination (OSCE) assessment of competence which was 
passed by three quarters of nurses on their first attempt and the remainder all 
passing second time. This is an excellent achievement. 
 
We are planning another successful international nurse recruitment programme in 
2022 where we are aiming for a further 165 international nurses to join our team. 
 

8 Working with others 
 
8.1 RCHT Charity 
 
Throughout the last year the Royal Cornwall Hospitals Charity has continued to 
support our patients and colleagues through funding and grant-making. This has 
included, welfare and amenities, training courses, medical research, equipment and 
small building projects. Allocation of funding is governed through our Charitable 
Funds Committee and more on the Charity’s work can be found in its annual report 
and accounts. 
 
8.2 Volunteers and Friends 
 
Our volunteers, many of whom are also members of the Leagues of Friends allied to 
our hospitals, have continued to play a vital role over the last year. For many the 
pandemic has meant a change to the way they support our patients, relatives, and 
staff. 
 
From supporting our Covid-19 mass vaccination centre at the Royal Cornwall 
Hospital, to preparing Going Home essentials bags and check-in phone calls at 
home after people have left hospital, to ensuring gifts and belongings dropped off by 
those who have been unable to visit reach the right destination, their contribution is 
as ever, immeasurable. 
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As we have moved toward ‘living with Covid’ conventional roles such as patient 
refreshment services, ward accreditation visits and coffee shops have resumed. Our 
volunteers have provided agile and responsive support and we are proud to be an 
award winning and nationally recognised service. 
 
8.3 Working together to help our staff find places to live 
 
One of our biggest barriers to recruiting people from outside of Cornwall, or for short-
term agency and locum placements, in the acute lack of affordable housing to rent 
and buy. 
 
We are actively supporting planning applications where affordable housing is being 
identified for key workers and have also set up a closed social media group for our 
colleagues, and those with an offer of employment, to have early site of rental and 
for sale properties before they go on the open market. 
 
This issue is impacting on recruitment across the health and care sector and we will 
continue to work closely with our partners, local Council and Members of Parliament 
to find ways to increase access to housing. 
 

Brilliant Improvement 
 
9 Making our services for effective and efficient 
 
9.1 Outpatient transformation 
 
Around one third of our outpatient appointments are now provided as remote 
consultations, either by video or telephone link. Patient feedback on video 
consultation remains positive and a survey of those who have had both telephone 
and video consultation shows a preference for video. 
 
This positive experience has coincided with the appointment of our first virtual 
nurses. Part of our hepatology team they support patients remotely from their homes 
in other parts of the UK. The virtual clinics are increasing engagement with patient 
groups who might otherwise not attend hospital clinics. 
 
Over 5,500 people with appropriate conditions are now taking advantage of patient-
initiated follow-ups, rather than routinely scheduled appointments they may not need, 
and where non-attendance rates have been high. We have also increased our 
advice and guidance services for General Practitioners for almost 30 different 
specialties, which is believed to have prevented around 9,000 consultant 
appointments and quick outcome for patients. 
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New technology is allowing patients to have much greater control over their 
outpatient appointments. Patient Hub was launched in September and now covers 
more than 13 specialties, where patients can receive appointments and manage 
their appointments. Around three quarters of people offered access to Patient Hub 
are using it and the percentage of patients not turning up for appointments is 2.8%, 
compared to an average of 6.23% for those receiving letters by post. 
 
9.2 Key financial performance 
 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 

The Trust reported a surplus of £0.9m. For 2021/22, most of its income from 
NHS commissioners was in the form of block contract arrangements because 
of the financial framework in place during the Covid pandemic. The related 
performance obligation was the delivery of healthcare and related services 
during the period, with the Trust’s entitlement to consideration not varying 
based on the levels of activity.  

 
The Statement of Financial Position  
 

The Statement of Financial Position (Balance Sheet) as at 31 March 2022 
shows net assets of £210.3m.  

 
The Trust ended the year with a cash balance of £32.6m.  

 
The Trust has delivered considerable improvements in its infrastructure 
through its Capital Programme in 2021/22, spending £44.0m. At 31 March 
2022, the Trust had capital investment loans from the Department of Health 
and Social Care of £3.5m. 

 
During 2021-22, the Trust did not draw capital or revenue loans and made 
repayments of £1.4m against its capital investment loans.  

 
Cumulative breakeven duty 
 

The Trust now holds a cumulative deficit of £24.0m at 31 March 2022. The 
Trust expects to fail to achieve breakeven on a cumulative basis at 31 March 
2023, but it aims to recover its financial position as quickly as possible. A plan 
to recover the current cumulative deficit over a 5-year period will be received 
by the Finance and Performance Committee in May 2022. 
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Other financial duties 
 

During 2021/22 the Trust operated within its External Financing and Capital 
Resource Limits, as set by the Department of Health and Social Care.  

 
Performance against the Better Payment Practice Code 
 

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all 
undisputed invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of goods or a 
valid invoice, whichever is later. 
 
The Trust has an on-going target to pay 95% of all invoices within a month of 
being received. Cumulatively to the end of the financial year, 94.8% of non-
NHS trade creditor invoices and 96.5% of NHS invoices by volume were paid 
on time. Note 23 to the Trust’s accounts provide details on payment 
performance.  

 
Going concern basis 
 

The Trust has carried out an assessment to satisfy itself that it continues to 
operate as a going concern. There is no indication that the provision of 
services will materially change in the near future. 

 
9.3. Cost improvement plan 
 
Just under £9.7m of our £10.65m cost improvement plans were delivered, and our 
efficiency target achieved, but only 10% of projects were recurrent. This will place 
additional pressure on our cost improvement plans for 2022/23 which were under 
development at the time of preparing this report. 
 
10 Investing in our buildings, services and infrastructure 
 
‘Building Brilliance’ set to deliver biggest ever investments in health care in Cornwall 
and the Isles of Scilly 
 
Our strategic estates “Building Brilliance” programme has made solid progress 
despite the constraints of the pandemic. Some outstanding examples of teamwork 
have delivered projects to tight deadlines in order to increase our capacity to care for 
more people over the winter months.  
 
The biggest project within our ‘Building Brilliance’ programme is the Women and 
Children’s Hospital. It is in the ‘Active’ part of the Government’s New Hospital 
Programme working toward an outline business case re-submission in June 2022, 
and then onto full business case from September 2022. With planning permission 
already in place, our expectation is for the build to begin in 2024 with a completion 
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date of 2027/28.  
 
Meanwhile construction of a purpose-built MRI and Oncology Unit has been 
progressing very well throughout the last year. Located next to Trelawny Wing main 
entrance, the new Unit is set to open in March 2023 - initially for patients on the 24-
bed haematology and oncology ward, and then in May 2023, following the 
installation of two new high-tech scanners, for patients requiring MRI scans. 
 
10.1 West Cornwall Hospital New Outpatient Department 
 
Planning permission for a new modern outpatient department and refurbished Urgent 
Treatment Centre at West Cornwall Hospital was granted in February 2022. The 
Trust has prepared a Full Business Case and is awaiting direction from NHS 
England and Improvement to submit the case. It is hoped that sign off on the Final 
Business Case is granted this year, which will enable construction to commence. It is 
hoped that the new department will open in 2024 and, with it, the integration of 
service delivery of acute, community and primary healthcare to enhance overall 
patient experience.  
 
10.2 Tremenel Unit (Previously Progressive Recovery Unit) 
 
The Tremenel Unit was first conceived as a ’Nightingale’ unit to provide space for 
patients at the height of the Covid-19 pandemic. It has since evolved into a 
relocation ward block to provide flexible space for the temporary relocation of wards 
and services that will be displaced during the long-term reconfiguration of the Royal 
Cornwall Hospital site. 
 
The first floor of the Tremenel Unit (named Wheal Vor) completed in December 2021 
with the 28-bed ward opening in January 2022 for patients requiring Intermediate 
Care. This was initially for a six month period when final engineering works to both 
the upper and ground floors were started. The ground floor of the Tremenel Unit is 
currently nearing construction completion, and due for handover from our 
construction partners in October 2022. The area will be used as a temporary 
relocation facility for Lowen Ward (oncology) as well as provide a new home for the 
Patient Blood Management Service. The full unit is expected to be fully operational in 
November 2022.  
 
10.3 Garden Projects 
 
The Strategic Estates team has led on two key garden projects this financial year. A 
new Children’s Garden has been sited next to Penlee House, behind Wheal Prosper 
Ward to replace the Play 4 Life Garden which had to make way for the new 
Tremenel Unit. The Trust has been working with local company EarthRight to create 
a quiet safe area and also with students from Cornwall College in partnership with 
Kier Construction and the Trust’s own play specialists to create suitable, playful 
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signage and play items for the children to enjoy. The new Children’s Garden will be 
complete by the end of March 2022.  
 
A new Critical Care Healing Garden is to be created in a courtyard behind the 
Emergency Department, close to the Critical Care Unit. Detailed designs have been 
created following a series of clinical and patient engagement events and work will 
commence in April 2022. The garden is being funded entirely by charitable donation. 
There will be space for up to two hospital beds at any one time, supported by Critical 
Care Unit therapists, nurses, medical staff and families and carers. Medical gasses 
will be provided directly to the garden to enable patients to stay in the garden for 
longer that would be possible with a bottled medical gas supply. There will also be 
restful seating areas, therapy and rehabilitation areas.  
 
 
10.4 Other projects within the Strategic Estates portfolio 
 

Other projects within the strategic estates portfolio included: 
• Women and Children’s Hospital enabling projects, including the relocation of 

Cardiology, Pathology, and the Pharmacy 
• Replacement of Gamma camera, new Hybrid isolator install, and related 

reconfiguration and dispensary upgrade for Nuclear Medicine Department 
• Remodelling of the Mermaid Centre to replace equipment and improve 

internal facilities 
• McMillan Cove Roof extension, to enable the provision of two additional 

clinical rooms 
• Replacement of the CT2 scanner, and related Air Handling Unit and Ducting 

works 
• A major refurbishment and replacement of Cardiac Catheter equipment in Lab 

2 
• Replacement of the Radiotherapy CT Scanner in the Sunrise Centre 

 
10.5 Improving fire safety 
 
Over the last year we have undertaken an extensive review of fire safety across our 
estate and are taking forward a programme of works to bring our older buildings in 
line with current requirements. This includes works to increase fire protection in 
stairwells and compartmentalisation between distinct parts of our buildings, as well 
as an upgrade of our fire alarm system. These essential works will be ongoing and 
will continue throughout the coming year. 
 
10.6 Developing our digital infrastructure 
 
The pandemic has led to rapid advances in the use of digital technology in every 
aspect of our lives and within RCHT it has seen several projects roll out more quickly 
than they might otherwise have done. 
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For our patients, the most visible of these has been the necessity for telephone and 
video appointments, as well as automated text appointment reminders and virtual 
waiting rooms, and most recently the Patient Hub online platform where people can 
see and manage their own appointments.  
 
Our clinical teams have also seen the continued development of Nervecentre, a 
system to support patient safety by capturing and monitoring patient observations, 
escalating signs of deterioration, and supporting the discharge process.  
 
There has also been continued progress on our major long-term projects as we 
begin procurement for a fully electronic health record, start the implementation of 
shared care records across Devon and Cornwall and begin the move to paperless 
clinics in a number of specialties. 
 
Other exciting advances to support patient care and movement between different 
care settings include the implementation of a bed management dashboard across 
health and care providers to enable full visibility of available capacity in real time. 
 
10.7 Targeted investment fund projects 
 
Successful bids to were made to NHS England and Improvement for targeted 
investment funding. This included upgrades and refurbishment of Wheal Coates 
ward for it to be repurposed as an Enhanced Peri-operative Care Unit to expand 
capacity for minor surgical procedures. 
 
10.8 Increasing public and colleague engagement through digital technology 
 
Digital technology has been transforming the way we engage with our colleagues 
and our communities. We have seen continued growth of our social media platforms, 
including a closed staff Facebook group with over 6,000 members, where colleagues 
find it easy to share information and have virtual conversations about topics of 
interest. 
 
The use of Microsoft Teams has led to increased attendance at our public board 
meetings, much more so than pre-pandemic in person meetings, and similarly for our 
internal updates and forums. 
 
These platforms however have their limitations and will not meet the needs of the 
diverse audiences we want to reach and as we move into a phase of ‘living with 
covid’ we will look to a hybrid model of engagement methods. 
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12. Building our quality improvement, innovation, research and 
development capabilities 

 
A Quality Improvement (QI) culture is a key enabler in the delivery of the Brilliant 
Improvement strategy. Our Quality Improvement Hub team has been working to 
embed a QI framework, building knowledge, capacity, and capability across the 
organisation for staff to deliver continuous Quality improvement. A QI educational 
infrastructure has been established to ensure training covers the breadth of the 
organisation.  
 
The QI Hub team has been manging a portfolio of five major improvement 
programmes: 
 

• Flow Improvement Plan 
• New Models of Care 
• HR System Reset 
• Site Utilisation 
• Estates Improvement Plan 

  
Alongside this the team also supports our Care Groups with a wide range of smaller 
QI projects. 
 
The mainstay of our research over the last year has been Covid-19 and oncology 
related studies.  
 
All of our Covid-19 study publications have been influential in the fight against the 
virus and these have included the Novovax vaccine, which became the fifth to be 
authorised for use in the UK; ComFluCOV which demonstrated there were no safety 
concerns when giving dual vaccinations and the RECOVERY study determining the 
effectiveness of a drug treatment in reducing deaths in hospitalised patients. 
 
Once again, we have led the way as the first to recruit or as the top recruiter in a 
number of national studies in areas including urethral cancer, stroke, hip fracture and 
hand and wrist trauma. 
 
More detail on our activity can be found in our research, development and innovation 
annual report which will be published later this year. 
 

13. Caring today, caring for our tomorrow 
 
As joint signatory to the Cornwall public service Climate Emergency Declaration, we 
have been actively progressing our sustainability agenda.  
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We have been leading the way in the use of reusable PPE (Personal Protective 
Equipment) including face coverings for non-clinical areas and more recently the trial 
of facemasks for clinical areas. Taking this a step further we are now piloting the use 
of fully reusable PPE, including theatre gowns, in our theatres. 
 
The huge increase in use of single use masks led to an innovative solution to recycle 
polypropylene waste which can now be used by manufacturers to be turned into litter 
pickers, buttons, toolboxes, and outdoor furniture. We are also neutralising waste 
Entonox gases and sending good condition uniform to countries in need. 
 
Our work has spread to our community where schools and colleges have benefited 
from free litter pickers, Cornwall Wildlife has received a donation from our reusable 
mask supplier towards its seagrass project, and warmer homes grants are promoted 
to patients over 65 years old. 
 
We have also been looking at how we can introduce changes to treatments, 
medications, and the way we deliver care to reduce their impact on our environment 
such as educating people on the effective use of inhalers and moving to powder-
based options wherever appropriate. Our first virtual nurses, inpatient GP and 
consultant dermatologist are not only reducing travel but also the number of missed 
appointments, and the beginning of our move towards full electronic medical records 
has resulted in a 90% reducing in the use of paper. 
 
Our staff have welcomed and engaged in our green initiatives and advice on how 
they can make a difference, with many taking up the offer of a paid day to work with 
local organisations on sustainable projects. 
 
Our energy, waste and water usage: 
 
Energy use 
  

Resource   2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 

Gas Use (kWh) 31,211,806 37,609,796 42,701,555 26,363,699 

  tCO2e 5,731.11 6,915.31 7,821.22 4,828.77 

Electricity Use (kWh) 12,118,418 9,133,885 9,063,608 12,675,203 

  tCO2e 3,693.94 2,129.47 1,924.48 0 

Green Electricity Use (kWh) 1 25,405 30,416 29893 27384 

Generated tCO2e -7.135 -8.54 -8.40 -7.69 

CHP Produced 
Electricity 

Use (kWh)   

  

  

  

7,941,480 4,204,460 

Total energy CO2e   9,425.05 9,044.78 9,745.70 4,828.77 

Total energy 
spend 

  £2,694,602 £2,903,151 £2,921,476 £2,732,574 
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From 2021-22 we moved to Clean Renewable Electricity from EDF meaning all our electricity from 
supplied from the grid is carbon free. Electricity generated onsite using our Combined Heat & Power 
plant uses gas for generation and any CO2 impact is recorded as part of our overall gas usage.  

 

14. Planning for the future 
 
Our current strategy was set in 2019. In developing our strategy, we held Brilliant 
Roadshows with colleagues across our organisation, where we had conversations 
about what Brilliant Care meant to them and what changes they would like to see.  
 
This started our improvement journey at RCHT and over the next 18 months we 
achieved a huge amount, including: 
 

• Improving our Care Quality Commission rating from Inadequate to Requires 
Improvement 

• Securing a commitment to the largest ever investment in health infrastructure 
for Cornwall, to include the Women’s and Children’s Hospital 

• Splitting hot and cold orthopaedics 
• Launching the Quality Improvement Hub 
• Holding our first Brilliant You festival 
• Improving our staff survey responses  

 
Since then, we have had to adapt to significant change, including the Covid-19 
pandemic, the development of the Integrated Care System, alongside 
unprecedented and sustained operational challenges across the entire health and 
care system.  
 
As part of our response to the impact on our people, and born out of our staff survey 
results, we will be refreshing our Strategy in 2022, reaching out to our teams to ask 
them what we can improve, here and now and longer term, to make things better for 
our patients and for them. We want those conversations to shape what they would 
like the future of our hospitals to look like, as we work together to reboot our 
improvement journey. 
 
Whilst our strategy refresh gets underway, some of the key areas we will be looking 
to focus on are: 
 

• Developing excellent acute services for our population. As the only acute 
provider in Cornwall, we want to ensure we develop and deliver excellent 
acute services, ensuring these can meet the needs of our population.  

• Providing care closer to home. Wherever possible, we want people to be 
able to access their acute care in Cornwall, rather than having to travel to 
Devon or elsewhere. We also want to ensure that where appropriate, people 
can receive care closer to their home, rather than on the acute site.  



 

Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2021/22 

Page 43 of 172 

• Digital Transformation. We are working towards an Electronic Health 
Record, but there are many digital transformation opportunities available to us 
that we want to ensure we embrace.  

• Developing clinical partnerships. We know that to sustain improvements in 
health and care, we need to work collaboratively with our health and care 
partners. We want to strengthen clinical partnerships, both locally with 
Integrated Care Areas, Primary Care Networks and the Cornwall and the Isles 
of Scilly Integrated Care System, as well as regionally with acute providers in 
Devon and Bristol.  

• Establish RCHT as a University Teaching Hospital. We want to be able to 
offer the same research, training and education opportunities as university 
teaching hospitals, so we will be exploring opportunities to become a 
university teaching Trust.  

• Supporting our staff. We want to create a culture that allows our staff to 
flourish, where staff feel supported and proud to work at RCHT. 

 
Our new RCHT Strategy will be considered by the Board in September 2022.  
 
 
15. An evolving Integrated Care System 
 
In July 2022, the NHS Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Integrated Care Board ICB) will be 
formally established.  
 
The ICB will be responsible for setting the strategic direction for health and care 
services within Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly and commissioning the services that 
will meet the needs of our population.  It will focus on the priorities set out in the NHS 
Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Health and Wellbeing Strategy, aiming to support people 
to stay as healthy as possible for as long as possible and help individuals to help 
themselves and each other so they stay independent and well in their community. 
This means providing joined-up, high quality services, making the best use of the 
funds available.  
  
The ICB has four aims, which are:  

• To improve outcomes in people’s health, and healthcare 
• To tackle inequalities in outcomes, experiences, and access to care 
• To enhance productivity and value for money 
• To help the NHS support broader social and economic development. 

  
Our hospitals will be a key partner in the development of the integrated care system 
and its long-term plan, ensuring our own strategic ambitions are aligned to, and 
support, delivery of the ICB plans.  
 
To support development of improved system working, we have also recently 
approved a Memorandum of Understanding for a Provider Collaborative that sets out 

https://www.cornwall.gov.uk/media/45121669/hwbs_onpagev_final.pdf
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our intention to work collaboratively with Cornwall Partnership Foundation NHS Trust 
to respond to key priority areas where there are benefits of working collaboratively 
together.  
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Directors’ Report 2021/22 
 
 
1. The Trust Board 
 
The purpose of the Trust Board of Directors is to govern effectively to ensure the 
Trust provides safe, high quality, patient-centred acute care. The Board is 
accountable to NHS Improvement as the provider regulator, to the Care Quality 
Commission for the quality of care, and to the people of Cornwall as a public body. 
 
Per the Trust’s Standing Orders, the Board is comprised of the voting Directors and 
is therefore the most senior decision-making body of the Trust. 

 
In particular, the Trust Board is responsible for: 

• Setting the vision, strategy and values of the organisation 
• Providing proactive leadership of the Trust towards achievement of 

corporate objectives, and constructively challenging performance in that 
regard 

• Ensuring a framework of sound internal controls, risk management and 
good governance that supports the Trust’s strategic objectives and 
operational requirements 

• Promoting human rights and the principles of equality and diversity in the 
Trust’s culture and decision-making 

• Ensuring appropriate use of public funds  
• Ensuring effective dialogue between the organisation and the local 

community on its plans and performance and that these are responsive to 
the community’s needs 

• Undertaking all its activities in line with the Nolan Principles of Public Life 
 
To achieve these objectives the Trust Board receives regular detailed reports 
enabling appropriate decisions to be taken directly by the Board, in line with the 
Trust’s Standing Orders, or through delegation of authority to its Committees.  

 
The Trust Board acts as a unitary board and as such Directors have collective 
responsibility for all decisions taken, regardless of their individual skills or status. 
This does not affect the particular responsibilities of the Chief Executive as the 
Trust’s Accountable Officer. 

 
The voting members of the Trust Board comprise the Chairwoman, six Non-
Executive Directors and five Executive Directors, who, as at 31 March 2022, are the 
Chief Executive, Director of Nursing, Midwifery and Allied Health Professionals 
(AHPs)/Deputy Chief Executive, Director of Finance, Medical Director, and Chief 
Operating Officer.  
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As provided for in Standing Orders, the Board may also appoint up to three 
Associate Non-Executive Directors, to be non-voting members of the Trust Board. 
One of those Associate Non-Executive Directors will be a representative from a 
Higher Education Institution. The Associate Non-Executive Directors supplement 
skills and experience to the Board to support succession planning.  
 
The Non-Executive Directors (including Associate Non-Executive Directors) bring 
diverse skills and expertise including clinical, financial and/or commercial, risk, 
human resources and broader public sector experience. 

 
The work of the Board is guided by the Trust’s Standing Orders, which includes the 
Standing Financial Instructions and Scheme of Delegation. The Board approved a 
number of changes to Standing Orders in July 2021 following a rigorous benchmark 
review.  The Scheme of Delegation details the matters reserved to the Board and 
those matters that are delegated to committees or role holder. 

 
During 2021/22, the Board met eight times in public (including the Annual Public 
Meeting), having made a change in May 2021 to move to having a Board in Public 
meeting every two months. The Trust publishes the Integrated Performance Report 
in the intervening months for transparency of performance and timeliness of data for 
the public. The Trust Board also met monthly in private, except for September 2021. 
All meetings of the Board were quorate.  

 
Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the Trust met mostly or wholly in a virtual capacity to 
reduce footfall and minimise risk of infection to individuals. The Board also made use 
of the provision in Standing Orders for e-governance decisions, where they were 
appropriate, and made two such decisions during the year. E-governance decisions 
are reported to formal board meetings for information. 

 
We have continued to improve transparency and engagement in Board meetings by 
maximising the use of virtual meetings and communicating better with staff and the 
public about forthcoming meetings.  

• We livestream our Board in Public meetings which offers functionality for 
members of the public to ask questions and includes live subtitles to support 
accessibility 

• 17 questions were posed/ received from members of the public to the Board 
during 2021/22; questions included those relating to the Trust’s response to 
the pandemic, operational pressures and aspects of Trust policy. 

• Recordings of our Board in Public meetings are available on our YouTube 
channel for a period two months (and replaced each time with the next 
recording). In total, there have been 1,306 views of the meetings from 
2021/22 

• We promote our Board in Public meetings via Twitter and Facebook and 
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posted appointments to staff diaries to enable colleagues to attend if able 
 
Since the start of livestreaming, Board meetings have averaged 67 viewers at any 
one time, with a total of 612 discreet views over the period; 584 of those from within 
the NHS and 28 external. Combined with the views of the meeting recordings this 
has significantly improved the reach of the Board and brought improved 
transparency and accountability to its business. 

 
 
2 Trust Board composition as at 31 March 2022 
 
The composition of the Trust Board of Directors as at 31 March 2022 was as follows: 

 
Non-Executive Directors: 

 
Dr Mairi McLean – Chairwoman (voting) 
Dr Mairi Mclean holds professional social work and leadership qualifications 
and has led health and social care services for over 30 years. Mairi has wide 
social care, public health, housing, and private sector board level experience 
and has worked as CEO in two local authorities in England. 
 
Richard Stephenson – Vice-Chair of the Board and Chair of Finance and 
Performance Committee (voting) 
Having started his career as a physiotherapist, Richard spent over 30 years in 
higher education holding executive leadership positions as Dean of Faculty 
(Health) in two institutions, pro vice-chancellor, and then as deputy vice-
chancellor at both the universities of Plymouth and Salford. He has held a 
number of director and trustee roles, and served several national and regional 
bodies. He joined the Trust as Non-Executive Director in February 2020 and 
is Emeritus Professor at the University of Salford. 
 
Ruth Allarton – Senior Non-Executive Director and Chair of Quality 
Assurance Committee and Remuneration and Appointments Committee 
(voting) 
Ruth joined the RCHT Board in October 2018 as an Associate Non-Executive 
Director and in April 2021 was appointed as Non-Executive Director. Ruth is 
the Chair of the Quality Assurance Committee and also the Senior 
Independent Director. Ruth has held roles as Head of Department of Allied 
Health Professions at Sheffield Hallam University since 2009 and Partner 
Governor at Doncaster and Bassetlaw Teaching Hospital Foundation Trust 
since 2012. Ruth has used her allied health professions knowledge to bring 
an additional perspective to decision making and strategic planning. 
 
Sarah Newton – Chair of Audit and Risk Assurance Committee and 
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Charitable Funds Committee (voting) 
Sarah joined the Trust in March 2020 and has extensive experience in the 
public, business and voluntary sectors. She has held several leadership and 
change management roles, most recently as an elected Member of 
Parliament and Minister at the Department for Work and Pensions and the 
Home Office.  Sarah has 30 years’ experience of strategic planning, 
reputation management, innovation with a focus on sustainability and 
inclusion. 
 
Adam Broome – Chair of People and OD Committee (voting) 
Adam Broome re-joined the Board in November 2020, having previously been 
a Non-Executive Director from 2014 to 2016. Adam has extensive experience 
at a strategic level across the public sector having been a Director for 
Plymouth City Council and for the Nursing and Midwifery Council, and an 
Associate Director for the Audit Commission. He is at present self-employed, 
currently providing coaching and training and is a member of the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), currently sitting on the 
CIPFA South West Council. 
 
Nina Khaira – Non-Executive Director (voting) 
Nina joined the Trust Board as an Associate Non-Executive Director in June 
2021 and became a substantive Non Executive Director in January 2022. 
Nina is a registered dentist who has been providing care within Cornwall since 
2003. Her experience is mainly patient-centred but also includes academia, 
business strategy and team-building. Nina is interested in systems leadership 
and holistic systems thinking for the local population, especially health 
inequalities. 
 
Isobel Down – Non-Executive Director (voting) 
Isobel has many years’ experience working as a leadership consultant and 
executive coach to health and care organisations and systems within the UK. 
Following an early career as a systems analyst in the City of London, Isobel 
joined the NHS in the South West of England, working within a variety of 
primary and secondary care settings, before moving into the field of HR and 
OD as a Director.  Since 2003 Isobel has worked independently as a 
consultant and coach, with an extensive client base from within the health and 
care sector. She has a strong track record of the design and delivery of 
medical, nursing and managerial leadership development programmes within 
the UK 
 
Richard Smith – Associate Non-Executive Director (non-voting) 
Rich joined the Board as an Associate Non-Executive Director in March 2019. 
He is inaugural Deputy Pro-Vice Chancellor for the University of Exeter 
Medical School, and Professor of Health Economics.  He was previously at 
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the London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, where he served as 
Head of the Department of Global Health & Development from 2008-2011, 
and as Dean of the Faculty of Public Health & Policy from 2011-2018. 
 
Jane Wills – Associate Non-Executive Director (non-voting) 
Jane joined the Trust Board as an Associate Non -Executive Director in June 
2021. She is a Professor of Health Promotion at London South Bank. 
University where she has also held leadership roles as Director of Research 
and Enterprise and of the Centre for Improvement and Innovation in Health 
and Social Care. She is currently co-investigator of a centre evaluating public 
health innovations across local government (PHIRST). Recent work has been 
with several NHS Trusts investigating workplace health.  
 

Executive Directors: 
 
Steve Williamson – Chief Executive (voting) 
Steve has significant executive experience leading hospital and health 
services and has held senior roles in hospitals in Portsmouth, Southampton, 
South Tyneside and Australia. His most recent appointment was Chief 
Executive of Central Queensland Hospital and Health Service in Australia, a 
role he held for 5 years. In this role he was responsible for 12 hospitals and 
community health services across a region of 110,000 km2. 
 
Kim O’Keeffe – Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Nursing, 
Midwifery & Allied Health Professions (voting) 
Kim was appointed as Chief Nurse in May 2017 having previously been 
Deputy Director of Nursing. With over 30 years clinical and managerial 
experience working in the NHS, as well as in private and state hospitals in 
South Africa, where Kim began her career as a Registered Nurse. Kim held 
senior positions in the Dudley Group of Hospitals before joining RCHT in 2008 
as Divisional Nurse Manager within Surgery, Anaesthetics and Trauma and 
Orthopaedics. 
 
Dr Allister Grant - Medical Director (voting) 
Allister joined the Trust in November 2019 and brings his experience in 
medical management, governance and quality, as well as extensive working 
with health and care partners and patient groups. Allister joined the Trust 
following an appointment at University Hospitals of Leicester where he spent 
5 years as Head of the Liver and Gastro-intestinal Unit and was also the 
Clinical Director/Medical Director for the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland 
NHS Alliance – a partnership of providers and commissioners in 
Leicestershire with a remit to transform services and deliver care closer to 
home for Leicestershire patients. 
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Karl Simkins – Director of Finance (voting) 
Karl Simkins, is an experienced Executive joining the Trust in July 2010, 
having previously undertaken senior finance and Director of Finance roles in 
Commissioning and Provider organisations across the West and East 
Midlands. Before joining the Trust, Karl was Director of Finance at NHS 
Leicester County and Rutland – one of the largest Primary Care Trusts in the 
country at that time. Karl was seconded to the Cornwall & Isles of Scilly 
Health & Care Partnership System as Director of Finance before returning 
directly to the Trust in April 2020 as Strategic Financial Advisor, before 
resuming his substantive role as of December 2020. 
 
Susan Bracefield – Chief Operating Officer (voting) 
Susan took on the role of interim Director of Operations in February 2019 and 
was appointed substantively in April 2019.  She was formerly the Deputy 
Director of Operations, having joined RCHT in March 2018.  A nurse by 
background, Susan has broad experience of leadership roles in primary and 
secondary care providers as well as with NHS England.  

 
In July 2021, the Board approved changes to Standing Orders which sought to clarify 
the way the Board, as a decision-making body, was described in line with statutory 
requirements and the Trust’s Establishment Order.  As a result, some Executive 
Directors that had been listed as non-voting members of the Board were reclassified 
as ‘in attendance’ at meetings.  These Directors fully participated in meetings and 
advised the Board on relevant matters. This change ensured that, regardless of 
voting status, the Non-Executive Directors were in the majority on the Board.  
 
For completeness, Executive Directors that were regularly in attendance at Board 
meetings during 2021/22 therefore were: 

• Kelvyn Hipperson, Chief Information Officer 
• Bernadette George, Director of Integrated Governance 
• Karen Kay, System Director of Urgent and Emergency Care (left the Trust 

in November 2021) 
• Susan Young, Interim Director of People and OD (1 September 2021 to 19 

January 2022) 
• Alison Thorne-Henderson, Interim Director of People and OD (14 February 

2022 to date) 
• Susan Bracefield, Chief Operating Officer (to 3 March 2022) 
• Thom Lafferty, Director of Strategy and Performance (from 4 March 2022) 
 

The term ‘in attendance’ in this context means that individuals were not members of 
the Board, as defined in Standing Orders, and had no voting rights. They participated 
as required when called upon by the Board.  
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Two other senior members of staff were regularly in attendance at Board meetings 
during 2021/22: 

• Acting Director of Operations, Robin Jones, who deputised for the Chief 
Operating Officer as required  

• Deputy Director of People and OD, Paul Hargreaves, who was in 
attendance for the Director of People and OD during gaps in role-holders 

 
 

3 Trust Board Directors’ Terms of Office and Changes during 2020/21 
 
Members of the Trust Board during 2021/22 and their terms of office are provided in 
the table below: 
 

Board Member 

Voting 
or non-
voting Position Period 

Change to 
Board 
member-
ship 

Non-Executive Directors  

Mairi Mclean Voting Chairwoman January 2019 – to 
date _ 

Richard Stephenson Voting Non-Executive 
Director 

17 February 2020 - 
to date _ 

Sarah Newton Voting Non-Executive 
Director 

16 March 2020 - to 
date _ 

Adam Broome Voting Non-Executive 
Director 

16 November 2020 
- to date _ 

Ruth Allarton Voting Non-Executive 
Director 

1 April 2021 – to 
date 

Joiner 
(from 

Associate 
Non 

Executive 
Director) 

Nina Khaira Voting Non-Executive 
Director 

15 January 2022 – 
to date 

Joiner 
(from 

Associate 
Non 

Executive 
Director) 

Isobel Down Voting Non-Executive 
Director 

10 February 2022 – 
to date Joiner 

Paul Hobson Voting Non-Executive 
Director 

15 January 2016 – 
14 January 2022 Leaver 
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Board Member 

Voting 
or non-
voting Position Period 

Change to 
Board 
member-
ship 

Sarah Pryce Voting Non-Executive 
Director 

6 May 2016 – 31 
December 2021 Leaver 

Associate Non-Executive Director  

Richard Smith Non-
voting 

Associate Non-
Executive 
Director 

1 March 2019 – to 
date _ 

Jane Wills Non-
voting 

Associate Non-
Executive 
Director 

1 June 2021 – to 
date Joiner 

Nina Khaira Non-
voting 

Associate Non-
Executive 
Director 

1 June 2021 – 14 
January 2022 

Leaver - 
became 

substantive 
Non 

Executive 
Director 

Executive Directors   

Kate Shields Voting Chief Executive 1 February 2019 –
15 August 2021 Leaver 

Tony Chambers Voting Interim Chief 
Executive 

16 August 2021 – 9 
January 2022 Leaver 

Steve Williamson Voting Chief Executive 10 January 2022 – 
to date Joiner 

Kim O’Keefe Voting 

Director of 
Nursing, 
Midwifery & 
Allied Health 
Professionals  / 
Deputy Chief 
Executive 

1 May 2017 – to 
date _ 

Karl Simkins Voting Director of 
Finance  

11 December 2020 
-  to date _ 

Allister Grant Voting Medical Director 1 November 2019 - 
to date _ 

Thomas Lafferty Voting 
Director of 
Strategy and 
Performance 

10 September 2018 
– 3 March 2022 

Moved to 
In 

Attendance 

Susan Bracefield Voting Chief Operating 
Officer 

4 March 2022 – to 
date 

Moved 
from In 
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Board Member 

Voting 
or non-
voting Position Period 

Change to 
Board 
member-
ship 
Attendance 

following 
Board 

decision on 
change to 
fifth voting 
Executive 
Director 

 

Bernadette George Non-
Voting 

Director of 
Integrated 
Governance 

March 2019 - 1 July 
2021 

  In 
Attendance 

Susan Bracefield  
Non-

Voting 
Chief Operating 
Officer 

March 2019 – 1 
July 2021 

  In 
Attendance 

Kelvyn Hipperson Non-
Voting 

Chief 
Information 
Officer 

2 January 2019 – 1 
July 2021 

In 
Attendance 

Karen Kay Non-
Voting 

System Director 
of Urgent and 
Emergency 
Care 

10 December 2018 
– 1 July 2021 

 In 
Attendance 

Kerry Eldridge Non-
Voting 

Director of 
People & OD 

30 August 2018 - 
20 April 2021 Leaver 

 
On 3 March 2022, the Board agreed a change to the fifth voting Executive Director 
from the Director of Strategy and Performance to the Chief Operating Officer; this 
followed a benchmark review of other acute NHS Trusts and the changed 
operational context as a result of the pandemic. 
 
Board members’ and other directors’ attendance at Board in Public and committee 
meetings is summarised below:   
 

Executive 
Directors 

Board in 
Public 

meeting
s 

Remuner
ation & 
Appoint
ments 

Committe
e 

Audit & 
Risk 

Assuranc
e 

Committe
e 

Quality 
Assuranc

e 
Committe

e 

People & 
Organisa

tional 
Develop

ment 
Committe

e 

Charitabl
e Funds 

Committe
e 

Finance 
& 

Performa
nce 

Committe
e 

 TOTAL 8 12 7 12 8 7 14 
Kate 3/3 4/7           
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Executive 
Directors 

Board in 
Public 

meeting
s 

Remuner
ation & 
Appoint
ments 

Committe
e 

Audit & 
Risk 

Assuranc
e 

Committe
e 

Quality 
Assuranc

e 
Committe

e 

People & 
Organisa

tional 
Develop

ment 
Committe

e 

Charitabl
e Funds 

Committe
e 

Finance 
& 

Performa
nce 

Committe
e 

Shields 
Tony 
Chambers 3/3             
Steve 
Williamson 1/1 2/2         3/4 
Kim 
O'Keeffe 8/8   3/7 11/12 7/8     
Thomas 
Lafferty 6/8         2/2 10/14 
Karl 
Simkins 8/8   5/7       13/14 
Susan 
Young 3/3 1/1   2/4 2/2 3/3 4/4 
Allister 
Grant 7/8   5/7 12/12 5/8 3/7   
Susan 
Bracefield 6/8     10/12 2/5   11/14 
Bernadette 
George 7/8   7/7 10/12 5/8     
Kelvyn 
Hipperson 7/8           10/14 
Karen Kay 2/5             
Alison 
Thorne-
Henderson 1/2 2/2   2/2 3/3     
Non-
Executive 
Directors 

  
   

Mairi 
Mclean 8/8 10/12           
Paul 
Hobson 5/6 9/10 4/5     5/5 9/9 
Sarah 
Pryce 4/5 9/10 2/5 3/4 5/5 3/5   
Ruth 
Allarton 7/8 9/12 6/7 12/12 8/8     
Adam 
Broome 5/8 7/12 7/7 8/9 3/3   12/14 
Richard 
Stephenso
n 8/8 12/12 6/7 12/12     14/14 
Sarah 
Newton 8/8 1/1 6/7   5/8 6/7   
Isobel 
Down 1/2 1/1   1/1 3/3    
Nina 1/2 2/2   1/3   2/2 4/5 
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Executive 
Directors 

Board in 
Public 

meeting
s 

Remuner
ation & 
Appoint
ments 

Committe
e 

Audit & 
Risk 

Assuranc
e 

Committe
e 

Quality 
Assuranc

e 
Committe

e 

People & 
Organisa

tional 
Develop

ment 
Committe

e 

Charitabl
e Funds 

Committe
e 

Finance 
& 

Performa
nce 

Committe
e 

Khaira 
Associate 
Non-
Executive 
Directors 

  
  

   
Jane Wills 6/6       5/5     
Nina 
Khaira 4/4           4/4 
Rich Smith 5/8       3/8     

 
It should be noted that not all Directors were eligible for attendance at all meetings 
due to their effective date of employment or change in membership. Attendance of 
executive directors’ at committees was sometimes affected by operational pressures 
due to the pandemic. 

 
4 Board Committees 
 
The Trust Board has the following Committees: 

• Quality Assurance Committee (which includes a ‘joint’ committee with 
Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation Trust; where both organisations’ 
Quality Assurance Committee meets at the same time with the same agenda 
and is subject to their own quorum and decision-making arrangements) 

• Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
• Remuneration and Appointments Committee 
• Finance and Performance Committee 
• People and OD Committee 

 
The Board acts as the Corporate Trustee for the Royal Cornwall Hospitals Charity, 
which has one committee: 

• Charitable Funds Committee 
 

The Board reviews the Terms of Reference and membership of its committees at 
least annually and each committee undertakes an annual self-assessment of its 
effectiveness. At the time of writing, 2021/22 annual reports from each committee, 
including annual self-assessment analysis, will be presented to the July 2022 Board 
in Public meeting. 

 
The Board had a joint Integration Committee in common with Cornwall Partnership 
NHS Foundation Trust which was stood down in January 2022; this was due to the 
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pausing of the planned integration of the two organisations earlier in the year. 
 

5 Directors’ Interests 
 

The Register of Directors Interests is available to the public at: https://doclibrary-
rcht.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/RoyalCornwallHospitalsTrust/ChiefExecutive/
DeclarationsOfInterest/TrustBoardMembersDeclarationOfInterest/BoardMembersDO
I20200601.pdf    
 
6 Membership of the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
 
The membership of the Trust’s Audit and Risk Assurance Committee includes the 
Chairs of all the Board’s committees and requires that at least one Non-Executive 
Director, if not one of the Committee Chairs is a qualified accountant; this is as set 
out in the HMFA Audit Committee Handbook.  

 
Only Non-Executive Directors are members of the committee. Per best practice, the 
Chairwoman of the Board is not a member of the Committee. Membership of the 
Committee as at 31 March 2022 was:  

• Sarah Newton (Chair) 
• Richard Stephenson 
• Adam Broome 
• Ruth Allarton 

 
Other members of the Committee during the year (up to the point of the membership 
change and/or Director retirement) included: 

• Paul Hobson, Non-Executive Director (Chair of Charitable Funds Committee 
until January 2022)  

• Sarah Pryce, Non-Executive Director (Chair of People and OD Committee 
and Remuneration and Appointments Committee until December 2022) 

 
A number of other colleagues were regularly in attendance at the Committee 
meetings including the Director of Finance, Deputy Director of Finance, Financial 
Controller, Director of Nursing, Midwifery and Allied Health Professionals, Director of 
Integrated Governance, external audit, internal audit and the Counter Fraud lead. 

 
During 2021/22, the Committee reviewed the Board Assurance Framework (strategic 
risks) and Corporate Risk Register at each meeting and received reports from the 
counter fraud lead and internal audit.  Where there were limited assurance internal 
audit reports, these were referred to the relevant Board Committee for oversight, with 
an assurance report on actions reported back to the Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee. 

 

https://doclibrary-rcht.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/RoyalCornwallHospitalsTrust/ChiefExecutive/DeclarationsOfInterest/TrustBoardMembersDeclarationOfInterest/BoardMembersDOI20200601.pdf
https://doclibrary-rcht.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/RoyalCornwallHospitalsTrust/ChiefExecutive/DeclarationsOfInterest/TrustBoardMembersDeclarationOfInterest/BoardMembersDOI20200601.pdf
https://doclibrary-rcht.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/RoyalCornwallHospitalsTrust/ChiefExecutive/DeclarationsOfInterest/TrustBoardMembersDeclarationOfInterest/BoardMembersDOI20200601.pdf
https://doclibrary-rcht.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/RoyalCornwallHospitalsTrust/ChiefExecutive/DeclarationsOfInterest/TrustBoardMembersDeclarationOfInterest/BoardMembersDOI20200601.pdf
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The Trust’s external auditors provide progress reports to each Audit and Risk 
Assurance Committee meeting highlighting key issues such as value for money, 
going concern and availability of capital. 

 
In line with the recommendations within NHS Improvement’s published Audit Code, 
the Trust has drafted an annual report on the activities undertaken by the Committee 
during the year. The report draws attention to the nature of the reports received from 
both Internal and External Auditors and was presented to the July 2022 Board in 
Public. 
 
7 Personal data incidents 
 
Information on any personal data related incidents, where these have been formally 
reported to the Information Commissioner’s Office is included in the Annual 
Governance Statement. 
 
8 Modern Slavery 
 
The Trust’s commercial income does not reach the £36million threshold at which we 
are required to prepare an annual slavery and human trafficking statement. 
 
9 Directors’ Statement 
 
Each Director of the Trust confirms that they know of no information that would be 
relevant to the auditors for the purposes of their audit report, and of which the 
auditors are not aware, and has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have 
taken to make themselves aware of any such information and to establish that the 
auditors are aware of it. 
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Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust Annual 
Governance Statement 2021/22  

  
 

1. Scope of responsibility   
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the NHS trust’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which 
I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to 
me. I am also responsible for ensuring that the NHS trust is administered prudently 
and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also 
acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in the NHS Trust Accountable Officer 
Memorandum.   
  
2 The purpose of the system of internal control   
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level 
rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it 
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process 
designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims 
and objectives of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage 
them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal control has 
been in place in Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust for the year ended 31 March 
2022 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.   
  
3 Capacity to handle risk  
 

3.1. Risk leadership  
The Trust is committed to a risk management approach that underpins and supports 
our strategic and business objectives and demonstrates an ongoing commitment to 
improving the safety culture of the organisation.   

  
Our Risk Management Strategy states that the Trust Board of Directors has 
responsibility to ensure that systems and processes for the identification of risks are 
robust and that risks are appropriately managed and monitored through regular 
assurance.   

  
The Board provides leadership on risk management and in particular:  

• determine the risk appetite for the Trust; (last reviewed in February 2022)  
• ensure the approach to risk management is consistently applied;  
• seek assurances that risks have been identified, assessed and all reasonable 

steps taken to manage them effectively and at sufficient pace;  
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• endorse the Annual Governance Statement which assures the organisation 
has the necessary controls in place to manage its exposure to risk;  

• approve the Risk Management Strategy (last approved November 2020);  
• oversight on Principal Risks specific to their portfolio;  
• leading specific Committees responsible for the assurance of risk.  

  
To ensure that risk management remains responsive to changes in the internal and 
external operating environment, at every meeting, the Trust Board also identifies any 
changes to risk highlighted from matters considered at the meetings. 
  
The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee scrutinises the Trust’s systems for risk 
management and internal control and on that basis reviews the Board Assurance 
Framework (which details the Trust’s strategic risks) and Corporate Risk Register 
quarterly, with referral on to the Board for approval (in public).   
 
On behalf of the Trust Board, the Chief Executive is the accountable officer with 
overall responsibility for implementing the risk management strategy and policy and 
the Director of Integrated Governance has delegated responsibility for the Corporate 
Risk Register and the Board Assurance Framework process.   
 
Day to day responsibility for operational risk management is delegated to senior 
managers throughout the Trust and their responsibilities are set out in the Risk 
Management Strategy and Policy. The Executive Risk Group reviews all new risks 
proposed for the Board Assurance framework and Corporate Risk Register, on 
behalf of the Executive Leadership Team.   

  
3.2. Risk training  
We employ appropriately-qualified staff who specialise in risk management to advise 
and support the Trust in implementation of the risk management strategy and policy 
and the processes that support it. General ‘risk management’ awareness training is 
provided by the risk manager through the Care Group structure. Risk management 
and assessment refresher training is available in the Trust’s training programme. 
Colleagues can also undertaken more detailed training in health and safety and fire 
awareness using the Trust’s package of e-learning. Board level training is delivered 
via the annual review of the Trust’s risk appetite (last undertaken in February 2022).   

  
4 The risk and control framework   
 

4.1 Risk Strategy and Policy  
We have a Risk Assessment and Management Strategy and Policy which was last 
approved by the Board in November 2020 (valid until April 2023). The Board reviews 
its risk appetite at least annually; it was last reviewed in February 2022. The level of 
risk the Trust is prepared to accept or be exposed to will vary according to the nature 
of the risk, the context within which the Trust is operating and regulatory or 
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legislative constraints for example the Trust will have a low tolerance for patient 
safety risks.  
 
As a provider of healthcare services, we have minimal appetite for risks to patient 
safety, quality of care and the safety and wellbeing of its staff and visitors to any of 
our sites.   
 
In practice this means that the Trust will always insist on the safest available option, 
with an aim of reducing any risks of physical or psychological harm to as low a level 
as is reasonable practicable. For example, it is for that reason that the Trust 
employed strict visiting restrictions throughout the pandemic to minimise risk of 
nosocomial infection.  
 
The appetite of the Trust concerning risks to its finances, its reputation or the 
continuity of its services is described as cautious, which means that safe options are 
preferred but there is a recognition that prevailing risks of harm as part of the same 
proposal.  

  
4.2 Identifying risks  
The identification of risks broadly falls into two categories: proactive and reactive 
identification. Risks may be identified proactively through local risk assessment, 
compliance with national standards or regulatory frameworks (e.g. Care Quality 
Commission Key Lines of Enquiry) whereas the reactive process identifies risks 
from events that have already occurred such as incidents, complaints and claims.   
  
4.3 Risk evaluation  
Once a potential risk has been identified, the risk is entered on the Trust’s risk 
management system, Datix, where a risk assessment is carried out to assess the 
level of risk. Such assessment considers the activity within the context of the 
physical and emotional environment, the culture of the organisation and the staff who 
perform the activity. It also considers things that have gone wrong in the past and 
near-miss incidents.   
 
The Trust uses 5 x 5 National Patient Safety Risk matrix – a 5 x5 calculation 
involving an assessment of risk consequence and likelihood is used to score risks 
and aids staff in applying a consistent, objective approach to risk evaluation.  
Descriptors to guide staff on how to assess risk consequence (covering financial, 
quality, workforce, and operational risk descriptors) are also available as part of the 
Trust’s Risk Management Strategy.  
 
The Trust’s Risk Register is populated from risk assessments undertaken which are 
recorded on Datix (assuming that the risk identified cannot be immediately resolved). 
Risks are reviewed on a frequency basis proportionate to the current risk rating:  
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Risk Rating  Review Frequency  
    ‘Red’ risks (risks that score 15 or above)  Monthly  
    ‘Amber’ risks (risks that score between 8 and 12)  Quarterly  
    ‘Yellow’ risks (risks that score between 4 and 6)  Six monthly  
    ‘Green’ risks (risks that score between 1 and 3)   Annually  

 
Risks are accepted onto the Trust’s Corporate Risk Register when all reasonable 
mitigating actions have been carried out and the risk cannot be practically reduced 
any further; these are reviewed by Executive Risk Group before onward 
consideration by Audit and Risk Assurance Committee and Trust Board.  
 
4.4 Risk management  
Usually, the Trust will attempt to treat the risk and reduce it to an accepted level.  
  
If it is decided that the controls are not adequate and further management actions 
are required to reduce the risk (i.e. treat the risk), the risk owner would develop an 
action plan using Datix. These planned actions would address any gaps in control 
measures. Generally, as actions are completed these become controls measures. 
As control measures are put in place, the risk would reduce.  

  
Actions are recorded in Datix individually and linked to the risk so that progress can 
be monitored by the risk owner. All actions to mitigate the risk should be SMART 
(Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic, Time Specified), and include:  

• Target implementation date  
• Person responsible for implementing action  
• How the action will be evidenced  
• Progress on completion of action  

  
The residual risk score is calculated by assuming all of the control measures and 
subsequent actions have been taken. It should be noted that specific risk 
assessment forms are used in some instances such as health and safety 
assessments and clinical assessments. Where this occurs, the process is outlined in 
the related policy; however risks arising as a result of these assessments are added 
to the Risk Register as appropriate  

  
The annual internal audit review of the Trust’s risk management arrangements 
returned a significant assurance opinion.  

  
4.5 Risks to data security  
The Trust’s Senior Information Risk Owner is the Director of Integrated Governance 
who chairs the Information Governance Group. The Trust’s Caldicott Guardian role is 
held by the Associate Medical Director for Planned Care and is also a member of the 
Information Governance Group. Their role is to ensure the protection of patient 
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information, and that this is accessed only to the extent that is necessary. Risks to 
data security are also reported to and managed through the Cyber Security Group 
and are overseen by the Information Governance Group, depending on the nature of 
the risk.   
 
Risks to data security are managed through the Trust’s risk management process. 
Risks to data security are logged on the Trust’s incident and risk management tool 
Datix, this includes the current level of risk and residual risk once mitigating actions 
are taken.  

  
The Trust’s approach to managing risks to data security form part of the Data 
Security & Protection Toolkit submission. The main elements cover:  

• Managing default password settings  
• Penetration testing for vulnerabilities  
• Creation of a data security action plan  
• Creating as strategy for security updates.  

  
The Trust will submit in June 2022 the Data Security & Protection Toolkit for 
2021/22 and is currently predicting full compliance with all assertions at this stage.  

  
The Trust receives weekly and urgent threat warnings from CareCERT, these are 
monitored by the Trust’s IT Security Manager who provides a report to the Head of 
Information Governance who is the Cyber Security link to the Trust.  

  
Visual checks of the how physical records are managed along with compliance 
with IT equipment is conducted monthly as part of a planned walkthrough for the 
three main hospital sites, this is reported to the Information Governance Group.   

  
4.6 Impact of Covid-19 on the risk environment  
Covid -19 continues to have a significant impact on existing risks to the Trust 
including:  

• the impact of managing the pandemic alongside elective recovery due to the 
associated impacts on bed-base and staffing   

• the impacts on flow through the hospital as a result of the impacts on social 
care, compounding other factors affecting that sector, which result in delayed 
discharges of medically fit patients due to a lack of domiciliary and residential 
care capacity  
  

The most significant risk to the Trust during 2021/22 was elective recovery 
because of the huge increase in waiting lists due to the impact of the pandemic, 
and the continued impacts of Covid-19 on capacity. Three Covid-19 related risks 
were added to the Corporate Risk Register since the onset of the pandemic. These 
continued to be managed throughout 2021/22 to reflect the changing nature of the 
pandemic and the national response/lifting of restrictions, and the impact of the 
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virus within Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly. A further risk in relation to exit block 
from the emergency department was added given escalation to a critical incident 
from October 2021 as a result of the impact on ambulance holds (and therefore 
ambulance response times), which remained in place for the rest of the financial 
year and into 2022/23  

  
Throughout 2021/22, the Trust continued to coordinate its response to the 
pandemic via its Incident Command Centre, led by the Chief Operating Officer. The 
Trusts four-phase response plans continued to flex up and down in line with the 
need for intensive care beds and were adapted as the pandemic progressed and 
new variants and vaccination reduced the need for critical care capacity for Covid-
19 patients.  
 
The Trust Board continued to receive regular briefings on the impact of the 
pandemic, including on elective recovery and urgent care pathway. The Quality 
Assurance Committee sought monthly assurance in regards the Trust’s harm 
review process in relation to elective care, to mitigate impacts on for the most 
vulnerable patients this now also includes harm from the urgent care pathway. 
Board colleagues continued to receive monthly informal briefings through ‘Board 
huddles’ on the operational position to ensure they were kept apprised of the key 
risks and how they were being managed.    

  
The Trust Board continued to meet formally throughout 2021/22, making full use of 
digital technology to hold virtual meetings. The Board employed its flexible 
approach to governance during part of the year, as operational pressures 
increased (from December 2021) to ensure business continued to be transaction 
and statutory/regulatory requirements met, while streamlining agenda’s where 
possible and releasing senior staff.    

  
Full clinical governance arrangements were maintained during the year.  
  
4.7 Learning from risks and incidents  
We are committed to delivering care in a safe environment to protect patients, 
visitors, staff and the organisation from harm. Understanding when things can go 
wrong is the first step to preventing them from recurring. Incident reporting presents 
an important opportunity to learn from past events and ensure steps are taken to 
minimise the likelihood of them happening again.   

  
We promote an open learning culture where incidents, complaints and other learning 
events are investigated thoroughly to determine root causes and action where 
appropriate to improve services as a result. Staff are encouraged to report incidents 
and will not be blamed when things go wrong, as long as they are not wilfully aiming 
to cause harm and are not deliberately ignoring their professional standards, 
information, instruction and training.   
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Incident reporting and learning is overseen by the Director of Integrated Governance 
in their role as Director of Patient Safety.  During this year the Trust has been an 
early adopter of the new national Patient Safety Incident Response Framework and 
went live with the Trusts Patient Safety Incident Response Plan in December 2020.  
This patient safety incident response plan (PSIRP) sets out how the Trust will seek 
to learn from patient safety incidents reported by staff and patients, their families, 
and carers as part of our work to continually improve the quality and safety of the 
care we provide.  
 
The plan will help us measurably improve the efficacy of our local patient safety 
incident investigations (PSIIs) by:  

• refocusing PSII towards a systems approach1 and the rigorous identification of 
interconnected causal factors and systems issues  

• focusing on addressing these causal factors and the use of improvement 
science to prevent or continuously and measurably reduce repeat patient 
safety risks and incidents transferring the emphasis from the quantity to the 
quality of PSIIs such that it increases our stakeholders’ (notably patients, 
families, carers and staff) confidence in the improvement of patient safety 
through learning from incidents  

   
5 Compliance with the NHS provider license, condition 4  
 

5.1. Undertakings  
In March 2021, the Trust entered a voluntary variation to its original Undertakings, 
which were agreed in April 2019. The variation issued in March 2021 was in 
response to a cluster of never events during 2020, concerns about our estates 
compliance and weaknesses in some areas of corporate governance. We took 
seriously these amendments to undertakings and, working with external advisors, 
put in place a mechanism of assurance to the Board and NHSEI to deliver the 
actions required to strengthen governance.   
 
We made good progress against five of the seven undertakings from 2019 and 
NHSEI Region issued a Certificate of Compliance in relation to those in November 
2021. The five areas signed off were:  

• 4-hour performance  
• 18 weeks referral to treatment performance improvement  
• Diagnostics  
• Cancer performance improvement  
• Quality of care  

The Trust has engaged proactively and positively with NHSEI region colleagues 
throughout the year on progress against the undertakings and such progress has 
been reported regularly to the Board. The Trust anticipates that the financial 
undertaking from 2019 will continue to be a challenge, particularly going into 2022/23 
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but expects the workforce undertaking to be satisfied early in the next financial 
year.   
  
The Trust has progressed all key aspects of the 2021 undertakings and a key part of 
the evidence in regards the progress made on improvements to corporate 
governance will come from the Trust’s external well-led governance review report; 
this evidence will be considered by NHSEI Region in late May 2022 to determine 
whether the evidence is sufficient to issue a compliance certificate against those 
undertakings.   
 
The Board has regard to key corporate governance publications and the NHS Code 
of Governance and seeks to inform its governance improvements by learning from 
best practice.   
 
5.2. Board and committee structures  
The Trust is compliant with its Establishment Order in terms of the maximum number 
of voting Directors on the Board (executive and non-executive). 
   
The Board undertook a skills assessment in July 2021 which identified gaps in 
estates management, digitisation and information technology and medical 
qualification. The gap in relation to clinical expertise was met in January 2022 
through the appointment of Nina Khaira, a qualified and experienced dentist. Two 
long-standing Non-Executive Directors left the Board in December 2021 and January 
2022 following conclusion of their terms of office; there were skills losses in that 
regard in relation to human resources and commercial expertise. The human 
resources gap was met through the appointment of Isobel Down as a Non-Executive 
Director in February 2022.  
 
From May 2021, the Board met on a bi-monthly basis to discharge its statutory 
responsibilities and has established the necessary statutory (Audit, Remuneration) 
and non-statutory (Quality Assurance, Finance and Performance, People and 
Organisational Development) Board Committees under Terms of Reference and 
delegated authorities referenced within the Standing Orders. All committee terms of 
reference were reviewed and updated during 2021 as part of the Trust’s governance 
improvements.  
 
The Trust is also the sole corporate Trustee of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust 
Charitable Fund and, through its Charitable Funds Committee, ensures that effective 
structures and systems are in place to manage those charitable funds in accordance 
with statutory and other legal requirements and best practice as required by the 
Charity Commission.   
 
The core purpose of each Committee is set out below: 
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• Audit & Risk Assurance Committee has oversight responsibilities and, 
where appropriate, facilitates and supports the attainment of effective 
processes. It oversees the risk management system of the Trust. The 
Committee’s Terms of Reference map to the HMFA Audit Committee 
Handbook.   

 
• The Quality Assurance Committee is responsible for assuring the Board 

about quality, safety, patient experience and the Trust’s registration with the 
Care Quality Commission.   

 
• The Remuneration and Appointments Committee seeks to identify and 

appoint candidates to fill all very senior manager (VSM) positions and to 
determine the remuneration and other conditions of service for VSMs. The 
Committee will on occasion review the circumstances of other staff outside of 
VSM’s in line with its Terms of Reference.  

 
The Committee is also responsible for ensuring there is a robust fit and proper 
persons policy for the Board of Directors and for reviewing the overall 
composition and skills mix of the Board.  

 
• The People and Organisational Development Committee provides 

assurance to the Board on all aspects of workforce and organizational 
development supporting the provision of safe, high quality, patient-centred 
care.  
 

• The Finance and Performance Committee provides assurance to the Board 
of the Trust’s financial management and organisational performance, 
business planning, estate and facilities management and digital 
infrastructure.   
 

The Chairs of each committee summarise the business discussed and any issues for 
escalation to the Board. The Company Secretary ensures that the work programmes 
for the Board and its committees are aligned with clear decision/reporting routes for 
regulatory and statutory reports. 
  
The Executive Leadership Team (ELT) is the most senior executive body of the 
organisation, comprising the Executive Directors and Clinical Directors of the Trust. 
ELT has delegated authority from the Trust Board on particular matters as set out in 
the scheme of delegation and is responsible for implementing the Trust strategy and 
policies as set by the Board.  

  
 

6. Well-led framework 
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The Trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC).   

  
The Trust's last CQC full inspection report published in February 2020 noted that the 
Trust’s overall rating was ‘requires improvement’, with safe and responsive rated as 
requires improvement (comprehensive action plan in place and monitored via Quality 
Assurance Committee). Well-led, effective and caring were rated good.   

  
In August 2021, the Trust satisfied the requirements of the CQC 29a warning notice 
following the outcomes from an unannounced inspection of surgical activity across 
all three sites in June 2021. The section 29a warning notice had been issued in 
December 2020.  The CQC commended the Trust for its significant progress in the 
improvements made.  

  
The Board implemented its 2021/22 Governance Improvement Plan during the year 
and delivered on 22 of the 23 actions set out; the remaining action in relation to 
clarifying and streamlining the executive governance structure was partially complete 
by the end of March and has been carried over into the 2022/23 Governance 
Improvement Plan.   

  
Key governance improvements made during 2021/22 included a benchmark review 
of Standing Orders, Standing Financial Instructions and the Scheme of delegation 
and resulting amendments to Committee Terms of Reference; strengthening of the 
board induction and development programmes; a refresh of the performance 
accountability framework and articulation of a non-executive director succession 
plan.    

  
In December 2021, the Trust commissioned an external provider to undertake an 
external well-led governance review. This was one of the actions within the 2021/22 
Governance Improvement Plan and reflects best practice to undertake such a review 
at least every three years (the Trust had last undertaken such a review in 2019). The 
review completed in March 2022 and identified no significant gaps in governance.   

  
The review identified several areas of good practice by the Trust including the 
strength of the induction programme for new directors; public engagement for Board 
in Public meetings through good use of virtual meetings; the Trust being an early 
adopter of the Patient Safety Incident Review Framework and Non-Executive 
Director succession planning.  

  
The Board considered the outcomes of the external governance review at their 
Board development session on 7 April. While falling just outside of the 2021/22 
financial year, the Trust Board will take forward the recommendations from the 
review through its 2022/23 Governance Improvement Plan.    
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The Trust undertakes an annual review of committee effectiveness and for 2021/22 
this was undertaken as a self-assessment alongside the external well-led review, 
which also examined the effectiveness of each committee. The Trust follow a 2+1 
model for committee self-assessment where every third year it will commission an 
external review of effectiveness of both the Board and its committees.   
The Board and its committees assess the effectiveness of each meeting at the end 
of the agendas so that live feedback is captured and can be acted upon. Common 
themes for development from the 2021/22 self-assessment of effectiveness included: 
quality of papers (noting improvement in quality); length of papers (which remained a 
challenge) and the need to focus on more strategic and less operational matters. All 
Board members participate in an annual appraisal review.  
 
During the year the Board welcomed three new Non-Executive Directors:  

• Ruth Allarton  
• Nina Khaira  
• Isobel Down  

 
The Trust engages a number of Associate Non-Executive Director to both boost 
skills on the Board and to provide a pipeline for new Non-Executive Directors; both 
Ruth and Nina were appointed as substantive NEDs from this route.   
 
The induction process for new NEDs continued to be impacted by Covid-19 in 
regards no opportunities for face-to-face meetings. However, the Trust implemented 
a new induction programme for new directors during 2021/22 (approved in July 
2021) which has been well-received and positively commented upon by our external 
well-led governance review. All new NEDs have completed or are scheduled to 
attend the NHSEI new Non-Executive Director Induction.    
 
At each monthly meeting the Board review the Integrated Performance Report (IPR) 
which presents data on the previous month. This data is also scrutinised at 
committee-level prior to the Board meeting. The Trust Board is seeking to further 
enhance use of the IPR to ensure its focus on the key aspects of performance, 
ensuring sight on the key indicators required for national monitoring, and improving 
triangulation of data to better derive understanding of the organisation’s internal 
performance and comparative positioning.   
 
Each Committee presents an annual report to the Board, so that it may review 
committee effectiveness and impact. The July 2022 Board in Public meeting is 
scheduled to receive the annual reports for 2021/22.   
 
Directors are required to adhere to the highest standards of conduct in the 
performance of their duties, including with regard to the Nolan Committee on 
Standards in Public Life. An annual report on application for the Fit and Proper 
Persons Policy in that regard was considered by the Remuneration and 
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Appointments Committee in February 2022. The Policy reflects the 
recommendations from the Kark Review.  
  
7. Developing Workforce Safeguards  
  
There are a number of key polices and processes in place at the Trust which 
provide the safeguards as outlined in the Developing Workforce Safeguards 
guidance. There are four elements to this:  

• Robust policies and guidelines for recruitment and development of staff to 
ensure our services to patients are delivered by highly qualified individuals 
with the correct skills  

• Mandatory and statutory training for new and existing staff, this is closely 
monitored to ensure compliance and completion  

• All performance management and appraisal rates are monitored closely by 
the Board and via the People and OD Committee to ensure all required 
interventions are managed or risks are highlighted and mitigated  

• Results of the annual staff survey, which the Trust undertakes active action 
planning against to identify and deliver improvements; the Trust had its 
highest response rate to the staff survey during 2021   

   
At an operational, short-term, level there is a daily review of staffing in light of 
demands due to seasonal changes, acuity, and activity; this has been particularly 
challenging during 2021/22 due to the continued impact of Covid-19 on staffing 
levels. This is a dynamic process and is overseen by senior nursing staff.   
   
Annual workforce planning is an integral part of the Trust’s annual business 
planning process with which Care Groups (clinical and corporate) are intricately 
involved. The Trust has identified a need to strengthen its approach to medium to 
long-term workforce planning and acknowledges the importance of wider system 
engagement on those matters.  The Trust works collaboratively with system 
partners on a range of joint workforce issues, including via a collaborative bank, 
and on plans for the implementation locally of the long-term NHS plan.  
   
The Trust’s workforce performance relates to standards set both nationally and 
locally, which are reviewed through a combination of:   
   

• Regular monthly performance management meetings between members of 
the executive team and each care group  

• Exception reporting via the Trust’s executive board, which meets fortnightly  
• Bi-monthly via the Board’s People and Organisational Development 

Committee, as well as through the committee’s bi-monthly report to the Trust 
Board   

• Monthly by the Trust Board via the integrated performance review (IPR) which 
is presented at all monthly Board committees and covers all of the Trust’s 
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current workforce key performance indicators  
• Safe staffing processes:   

 evidence-based tools (where they exist)   
 clinical professional judgement   
 patient acuity   
 outcomes  

• Performance management processes, which complement quality outcomes, 
operational and finance performance measures  

• Benchmarking supporting information and data – model hospital and ‘get it 
right first time’ (GIRFT)  

   
The Trust’s Board Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register capture the 
key workforce risks to the organisation. Regular reports from the Trust’s Freedom 
to Speak Up Guardian and Guardian of Safe Working Hours also provide insights 
into issues that may be causing concern among staff.  
   
A key focus for us during 2021/22 was to support the wellbeing of our staff during 
the pandemic. Multiple initiatives have been put in place, from counselling support 
to specific activities to support wellbeing, which are being pulled together for 
2022/23 into a comprehensive Wellbeing Plan.  Leadership and management 
training continues to be delivered to managers across the Trust to ensure that they 
have the necessary leadership skills to support the workforce. We will continue to 
collaborate with partners across the system to develop in these areas over the next 
few years.   
   
We continue to work with all staff representative colleagues, leaders, and 
colleagues to co-design, develop and implement policies, procedures, and 
practices for an inclusive just and learning culture. This links with patient safety, 
staff engagement, diversity and inclusive, and health and wellbeing. Benefits of this 
approach include reducing the need for inappropriate disciplinary investigations, 
improve our learning about how day-to-day care is delivered, how it feels to work 
for frontline staff, and ways in which they need to adapt and adjust what they do to 
keep patients safe.  

  
8. Declarations of Interest  
 

The Trust’s Declarations of Interests policy is aligned to the NHS guidance on 
‘Managing Conflicts of Interests’. The Trust records interests via the Electronic 
Staff Record, implemented from January 2021. The move to the electronic system 
of reporting from a paper-based process has significantly increased the number of 
declarations made, resulting in greater coverage and improved assurance as to the 
implementation of the Trusts gifts, hospitality, sponsorship and declarations of 
interests policy.  
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Communication and guidance were issued to colleagues throughout the year on 
how to declare interests, including a specific reminder in December with regards 
declaring any gifts or hospitality during the festive period. The Company Secretary 
provides ad hoc advice to colleagues as required to assist them in declaring and 
managing interests. The Company Secretary also liaises closely with the Counter 
Fraud Specialist to support on investigations where interests may be of concern.   
 
The Trust has published on its website an up-to-date register of interests, including 
gifts and hospitality, for decision-making staff (as defined by the trust with 
reference to the guidance) within the past twelve months, as required by the 
‘Managing Conflicts of Interest in the NHS’ guidance. The Trust defines decision-
making staff as:  

• Executive and Non-Executive Directors who have decision making roles 
which involve the spending of taxpayers’ money   

• Those at Agenda for Change band 8d and above   
• Staff in the Procurement Team that have a level of influence with suppliers 

and make procurement related decisions  
• All staff listed as having delegated financial authorities per the Scheme of 

Reservation and Delegation   
  

The registers for the Trust Board of Directors, including those in attendance, and 
other decision-making staff are available from the following links:   

• Register of Interests for Directors of the Trust 
• Register of Interests for other Decision-making staff   

 
9. Pensions  
 

As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, 
control measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within 
the Scheme regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions 
from salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in 
accordance with the Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are 
accurately updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the Regulations.  
 
The Trust has implemented a Pension Restructuring Payment Scheme. The 
scheme was paused during 2021/22 while an options appraisal and refresh of the 
policy was undertaken. The scheme was reopened from 1 April 2022/23.  

  
10. Equality, Diversity and Human Rights   
 

Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations 
under equality, diversity and human rights legislation are complied with.  

https://doclibrary-rcht.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/RoyalCornwallHospitalsTrust/ChiefExecutive/DeclarationsOfInterest/TrustBoardMembersDeclarationOfInterest/BoardMembersDOI20200601.pdf?_gl=1*17ngazm*_ga*NTA0NjMwNzUzLjE2NDQ5MzQ0NjA.*_ga_R61FFQC9MR*MTY1MTA3MjExNS41Mi4xLjE2NTEwNzIyODUuMA..
https://doclibrary-rcht.cornwall.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/RoyalCornwallHospitalsTrust/ChiefExecutive/DeclarationsOfInterest/StaffMembersDeclarationOfInterest/DecisionMakingStaffDeclarationsOfInterestIncludingGiftsHospitalityAndSponsorship.pdf?_gl=1*bhv5n9*_ga*NTA0NjMwNzUzLjE2NDQ5MzQ0NjA.*_ga_R61FFQC9MR*MTY1MTA3MjExNS41Mi4xLjE2NTEwNzIyNDQuMA..
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Furthermore, the Trust takes Equality Diversity and Inclusion very seriously and is 
planning to elevate the importance of this across the Trust in the future. Education 
is continually underway and developing the culture for the future support of all our 
staff is a People and OD priority. To ensure that the voices of those at most risk of 
being treated with inequality are heard at the highest level, we have instigated a 
Reciprocal Mentoring Programme whereby members of the Trust Board are paired 
with staff from minority ethnic backgrounds to understand and more fully 
experience what inequality and non-inclusion can be like from their perspective 
and in what ways it can manifest itself. This way, real action that counts can be 
taken when and where it is needed.   
  
Our Executive lead for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion is the Director of People 
and OD. We aim for our hospitals to be a place where our patients have a good 
experience and where our staff can deliver for our patients, also where they are 
able to access opportunities to learn, develop and grow and work in a positive 
environment, free from discrimination.    
  
The Board reviewed its latest Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion Annual Report in 
September 2021, which provides insight in the experiences of both our colleagues 
and our patients with protected characteristics. The report is available from this 
link: Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Annual Report  
   
The Board undertakes annual training in equality, diversity, and inclusion to ensure 
all directors understand their roles, responsibilities, and legal duties in this regard. 
Equality impact assessments are carried out when reviewing all Trust policies and 
procedures. The Company Secretary supports colleagues to understand the 
requirement for clear consideration of quality and diversity in reports written for the 
Board/its committees.  
  
Staff networks have a senior staff sponsor and, from 2022/23, the People and 
Organisational Development Committee will receive regular presentations and from 
the staff networks to enable better sight and understanding of the experiences of 
minority groups within the Trust.   
  
The Board also has a Board Diversity Plan, which complements the broader Trust 
Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion Plan, with a specific focus on actions to improve 
diversity, in its multiple forms, at Board level. This is because the Board recognises 
diversity to be a governance matter and aspires to demonstrate its commitment to 
embracing diversity and its positive impact on decision-making.   
   
The Trust has sought to improve its public engagement on its capital builds and 
has taken steps during 2021/22 to engage representatives from local disability 
action groups to test and inform accessibility requirements for new buildings and/or 

https://doclibrary-rcht.cornwall.nhs.uk/documentslibrary/royalcornwallhospitalstrust/chiefexecutive/trustboard/Minutes/2122/202109/FINALAnnualReportandAccounts.pdf
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changes to car parking arrangements.  
   
11. Sustainability  
 

The Trust has undertaken risk assessments and has plans in place which take 
account of the ‘Delivering a Net Zero Health Service’ report under the Greener NHS 
programme. The Trust ensures that its obligations under the Climate Change Act 
and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are complied with.  
 
Over the last 12 months, we have continued to work towards the targets set in our 
ambitious Green Plan as well as broaden awareness across the Trust staff and 
patients about the impact of healthcare on climate change.  The Trust has been at 
the forefront of a number of innovative trials, including the use of reusable 
facemasks in clinical areas, and recently launched a wider trial of reusable PPE 
(personal protective equipment) in one of our theatres.  
 
Significant progress has also been made with regards to the impact of Entonox, 
following the introduction of a mobile destruction unit in Endoscopy; exhaled Entonox 
is captured and split into its constituent gases instead of being released into the 
atmosphere.  This is the UKs first use of such a unit in an endoscopy department 
and has proved very effective.  
 
From April 2021 the Trust moved to purchasing electricity covered by the Renewable 
Energy Guarantees of Origin (REGO) certification, ensuring that a known percentage 
of the Trust’s electricity supply is generated from renewable energy.  
 
The Trust has also taken a leading role in a new, multi-organisational, approach to 
respiratory care in Cornwall which aims to improve inhaler technique for asthma and 
COPD (Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) patients.  This should reduce 
admissions as medications will be taken more effectively, as well as enabling some 
patients to move to dry powder inhalers which do not contain greenhouse gas 
propellants.  
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12. Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of 
resources   

 

The Trust utilises various processes and controls (such as its Standing Financial 
Instructions) to ensure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources.   
 
Throughout the year, the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee oversees a 
comprehensive risk-based internal audit programme that reviews governance 
arrangements, efficiency and effectiveness across a range of services. Each 
financial year end, external auditors provide the Trust with a “Value for Money” 
(VFM) conclusion regarding its arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources.   
 
The Trust also seeks to ensure value for money by benchmarking performance 
and costs of services and setting challenging savings targets to test how services 
can be provided more efficiently and cost effectively. This includes using Model 
Hospital data and Patient Level Costing Information (PLICS).  
 
The Finance Department works closely with budget holders when planning 
savings, budget setting, developing business cases and monitoring delivery 
against plan throughout the financial year. Performance against the Trust’s 
financial plan and delivery of its savings target are reported to the Finance and 
Performance Committee and Trust Board each month. The last financial year, as 
for 2020/21, has however seen significantly different national financial 
arrangements than in previous years due to the Covid-19 pandemic, which has 
meant a significantly lower level of recurrent savings in 21-22 compared to 
previous years.  
 
Quality and efficiency go hand in hand and the Trust actively engages and 
encourages staff in identifying ways to become more efficient and deliver brilliant 
care and improvement.  A Quality Improvement Hub helps progress staff 
suggestions that improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the Trust’s services. 
The Trust’s Care Group structure ensures a flatter hierarchy that reduces the 
distance from ward to Board.  
 
The Trust continues to explore all opportunities to maximise efficiency and 
effectiveness, including working with neighbouring health and social care partners 
across a range of clinical and non-clinical functions.   
 
The internal audit on Local Financial Systems for 2021/22 concluded that the 
design and operation of financial controls provided significant assurance. This 
provides assurance on the effectiveness to those charged with governance on the 
effectiveness and quality of the internal controls.  
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13. Information governance   
 

The Trust reported to the Information Commissioners Office the following serious 
incidents relating to information governance, which includes any incidents relating to 
data loss and/or confidentiality breach:  
 

Date  Details  Reported to  Outcome/Update  
08/12/2021   A member of staff had 

been inappropriately 
looking at records she 
should not, including a 
family member over a 
prolonged period.  

ICO  No further action 
required as ICO 
considered the actions 
taken by the Trust to be 
proportionate.   

05/10/2021   A member of staff 
accessed records of a 
small number of staff and 
patients without a 
legitimate purpose.   

ICO  No further action 
required as ICO 
considered the actions 
taken by the Trust to be 
proportionate.   

08/04/2021   A staff member accessed 
the health records held 
within the Trust's clinical 
system of a significant 
number of patients and 
staff records without there 
being a legitimate 
professional reason to do 
so.  

DHSC/NHS 
England, ICO, 
CQC and Police  

No further action 
required as ICO 
considered the actions 
taken by the Trust to be 
proportionate. Police 
investigation ongoing.  

  
Given the similar nature of these breaches the Trust issued a specific all staff 
communication to remind colleagues of their duties with regards information 
governance, including the requirement to undertake the annual mandatory training, 
and particularly emphasised the importance of only accessing staff and/or patient 
records for a legitimate purpose.  
  
14. Data quality and governance  
 

The Records, Information and Data Quality Strategy sets out the Trust’s approach to 
managing information and data quality, however or wherever that data is collected 
(electronically or manually, by clinical or business support services). The Trust aims 
to maximise the accuracy, timeliness and quality of data collected. High standards in 
data quality aid the Trust in meeting its patient safety and governance obligations as 
well as maximising its planning and finance capabilities. Detailed guidance is in 
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place for the construction and measurement of all key indicators generated from core 
Trust systems.  
 
Each indicator in the Trust’s Integrated Performance Report is rated depending on its 
level of priority. These are used to support performance management processes, 
and the indicators are reviewed annually to ensure they are still relevant.  
 
Several processes are in place to ensure the quality of waiting time data. These 
include weekly validation of any unknown clock starts, weekly review of incomplete 
pathways, and mandated validation of the pathway when patients with a decision to 
admit are added to the elective waiting list. An audit programme delivered by the 
Access Team enables detailed, objective scrutiny of waiting list management to 
provide assurance regarding the application of the Access Policy. The Access Policy 
was externally reviewed in 2019/20 with no identified actions required and is in 
date.   
 
There are two inherent risks to the quality and accuracy of elective waiting times, 
which are common across many Trusts. The first is the holding of waiting time 
information across a variety of clinical administrative systems, which could result in 
inaccurate waiting time data if not linked together robustly. The second is the risk of 
human error in administrating such systems. The outcome of each could be both 
under-recording and over-recording of pathway lengths. A number of provisions are 
in place to mitigate these risks, such as electronic processing of waiting time data, 
data quality reporting and the validation and audit processes described earlier. Any 
waiting list / time management errors are reported in accordance with the Trust’s 
incident management procedure.   
 
The Trust has moved referral to treatment (RTT) processing to a more robust 
process of daily reporting underpinned within the Trust’s data warehouse rather than 
a weekly report. This led to an improvement in the timely availability of data. Further 
process improvements are anticipated when the Trust’s Patient Administration 
System is replaced.   
 
The Records, Information and Data Quality Strategy sets out the Trust’s approach to 
managing information and data quality, however or wherever that data is collected 
(electronically or manually, by clinical or business support services). The Trust’s aim 
is to maximise the accuracy, timeliness and quality of data collected. High standards 
in data quality aid the Trust in meeting its patient safety and governance obligations 
as well as maximising its planning and finance capabilities. The Data Quality Policy 
has been incorporated into the Management of Information, Records and Data 
Quality Policy and underpins the Records, Information and Data Quality Strategy.     
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15. Review of effectiveness of internal control  
 

As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal 
control is informed by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and the 
executive managers and clinical leads within the NHS trust who have responsibility 
for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework.   
 
I have drawn on the information provided in this annual report and other 
performance information available to me. My review is also informed by comments 
made by the external auditors in their management letter and other reports. I have 
been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the effectiveness of 
the system of internal control by the Board, the Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee, Quality Assurance Committee and Finance and Performance 
Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place.   
 
The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee has provided the Board of Directors with 
an independent and objective review of the financial controls in place at the Trust, 
via internal audit. No significant gaps were identified during 2021/22 and 
assurance has regularly been provided to Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
during 2021/22 that Trust financial internal controls continued to operate effectively 
during the pandemic.   
 
As part of the Trust’s approach to preventing and deterring fraud, it uses the 
services of a Local Counter Fraud Specialist (LCFS). The LCFS produces a work 
plan each year which is agreed by the Trust’s Audit & Risk Assurance Committee 
and allows for work on fraud detection, prevention and deterrence to be 
undertaken. An annual report on counter fraud activity is provided to the Trust 
through the Audit & Risk Assurance Committee. Counter Fraud training is 
mandatory for all Trust staff.   
 
Trust has lead liaison officers with key regulatory bodies and its integrated 
governance structure is mapped to ensuring key statutory and regulatory duties 
are adhered (e.g. through ensuring compliance with information governance law 
and regulation through regular reports through to Board).  
 
The annual Clinical Audit Plan is agreed by the Quality Assurance Committee and 
reflects the priorities of the Trust and national best practice. Our Clinical Audit 
programme is made up of four ‘tiers’ with a hierarchy of importance, with priority 1 
being the most important. This is modified from a model of prioritisation 
recommended in the Healthcare Quality Improvement Partnership (HQIP) 
publication, “Clinical Audit Programme Guidance Tools” and available on the HQIP 
website.  
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• Priority 1 — External ‘must do’ audits  
• Priority 2 — Internal ‘must do’ audits   
• Priority 3 — Care Group priorities  
• Priority 4 — Clinician interest and prioritising local audits  

  
As at March 2022, the Trust continues to fully participate in all qualifying national 
audits.    

  
A quarterly review of progress against the plan is considered by Quality Assurance 
Committee and noted by the Board of Directors via the Committee Assurance 
Report to Board. Any significant issues that emerge are reported to the Board of 
Directors and a service improvement plan put in place.   
 
During 2021/22, internal audit reviewed implementation of the Clinical Audit Plan 
and reported limited assurance; this was a follow-up audit and the limited 
assurance identified that the Trust does not have an effective system in place to 
ensure that clinical audits are resulting in quality improvement to patient care and 
outcomes through systematic review of care and implementation of change. An 
improvement plan was considered by Quality Assurance Committee in March 2022 
in this regard. The Clinical Audit Plan for 2022/23 will reflect a review of outcomes 
from priority 2 clinical audits by Quality Assurance Committee to provide 
continuous learning and improvement.   
 
Internal audit has reviewed and reported upon control, governance and risk 
management processes, based on a plan approved by Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee. The annual internal audit plan is informed by and mapped to the 
Trust’s Board Assurance Framework and key corporate risks and is developed with 
engagement of executive directors. The internal audit plan included required audits 
in accordance with NHS Internal Audit Standards, including identifying and 
evaluating controls and testing their effectiveness. Where scope for improvement 
has been found for internal audits, recommendations were made and action plans 
put in place by management; progress against recommendations is reported to 
each meeting of Audit and Risk Assurance Committee via recommendations 
tracker. The tracker is also reviewed on a monthly basis by executive directors.  
 
The Trust has made improvements to its internal controls during 2021/22 which is 
reflected in the improvement in the Head of Internal Audit Opinion to satisfactory; it 
had been one of limited assurance since 2017/18. The Trust will continue to work to 
‘close the loop’ on internal audit recommendations and fully embed and sustain 
learning from reviews.    
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16. Conclusion  
 

Based on the above report, no specific internal control issues have been 
identified.   
  
Steve Williamson  
Chief Executive                                   
 
21 June 2022  
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Statement of the chief executive’s responsibilities as the 
accountable officer of the trust  
 

The Chief Executive of NHS Improvement, in exercise of powers conferred on the 
NHS Trust Development Authority, has designated that the Chief Executive should 
be the Accountable Officer of the trust.  The relevant responsibilities of 
Accountable Officers are set out in the NHS Trust Accountable Officer 
Memorandum. These include ensuring that: 
   

• there are effective management systems in place to safeguard public funds 
and assets and assist in the implementation of corporate governance   

• value for money is achieved from the resources available to the trust  
• the expenditure and income of the trust has been applied to the purposes 

intended by Parliament and conform to the authorities which govern them  
• effective and sound financial management systems are in place and   
• annual statutory accounts are prepared in a format directed by the Secretary 

of State to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at the end of the 
financial year and the income and expenditure, other items of comprehensive 
income and cash flows for the year.  
 

As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the trust’s 
auditors are unaware, and I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to 
make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
entity’s auditors are aware of that information.  
 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out in my letter of appointment as an Accountable Officer.  
  
  
  
Steve Williamson,  
Chief Executive   
  
21 June 2022  
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Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the 
accounts  
 

The directors are required under the National Health Service Act 2006 to prepare 
accounts for each financial year. The Secretary of State, with the approval of HM 
Treasury, directs that these accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs 
of the trust and of the income and expenditure, other items of comprehensive 
income and cash flows for the year.  In preparing those accounts, the directors are 
required to:  

• apply on a consistent basis accounting policies laid down by the Secretary of 
State with the approval of the Treasury  

• make judgements and estimates which are reasonable and prudent  
• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to 

any material departures disclosed and explained in the accounts and  
• prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis and disclose any 

material uncertainties over going concern.  
 
The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the trust and 
to enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with requirements outlined in 
the above mentioned direction of the Secretary of State. They are also responsible 
for safeguarding the assets of the trust and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.  
 
The directors confirm to the best of their knowledge and belief they have complied 
with the above requirements in preparing the accounts.  
 
The directors confirm that the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, 
balanced and understandable and provides the information necessary for patients, 
regulators and stakeholders to assess the NHS trust’s performance, business 
model and strategy  
  
By order of the Board  
 
  
Steve Williamson     Karl Simkins 
Chief Executive    Director of Finance   
21 June 2022    21 June 2022 
 
 



 

   

 

Remuneration and Staff Report 
 
1. Introduction 
 
Section 234B and Schedule 7A of the Companies Act, as interpreted for the public sector, requires NHS bodies to prepare a 
Remuneration Report containing information about directors’ remuneration. In the NHS the report will be in respect of the Senior 
Managers of the NHS body. ‘Senior Managers’ are defined as: ‘those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility 
for directing or controlling the major activities of the NHS body. This means those who influence the decisions of the entity as a 
whole, rather than the decisions of individual directorates or departments.’ For the purposes of this report, this covers the Trust’s 
Non-Executive and Executive Directors and regular attendees of Trust Board meetings. 
 
The Secretary of State for Health and Social Care determines the Remuneration of the Chairwoman and Non-Executive Directors 
nationally. 
 
Remuneration for Very Senior Managers, which includes Executive Directors and voting executives of the Board, is determined by 
the Remuneration and Appointments Committee. 
 
Certain detail included within the Remuneration and Staff Report is auditable and has been referred to in the Independent Auditors 
Opinion on the Financial Statements. Where information included within the Report is subject to audit, this has been highlighted. 
 
2. The Remuneration and Appointments Committee 
 
The terms of reference for the Remuneration and Appointments Committee were updated and approved by the Board in November 
2021 as part of overall governance improvements. The terms of reference were further updated and approved by the Board in 
March 2022 to reflect a responsibility delegated from the Board to determine any changes to the status of the fifth voting executive 
director member. The membership of the Committee was updated in December 2020 to include all Non-Executive Directors, apart 



 

Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2021/22 

Page 83 of 172 

from the Chairwoman and Chair of Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. The Senior Independent Director is the Chair of the 
Committee and in their absence a nominated Non-Executive Director will act as Chair. 
4. Remuneration Policy – Executive Directors 
 
Any amendments to salary are determined annually by the Remuneration and Appointments Committee. Salary is inclusive – other 
payments such as overtime, long hours, on-call, standby etc. do not feature in Executive Director remuneration. The Committee 
approved a refreshed Remuneration Policy for very senior managers (which includes Executive Directors) in July 2021. Executive 
Director performance is monitored through the formal appraisal process, based on organisational and individual objectives, by the 
Committee. 
 
The Medical Director’s salary is in accordance with the Terms and Conditions – Consultants (England) 2003. In addition, a 
responsibility allowance is payable for the duration of executive office. 
 
Details of remuneration and pensions for Non-Executive and Executive Directors are detailed in the tables within this report. 
 
The Trust’s Performance-Related-Pay Framework for Executive Directors ended in November 2020. 
 
5. Fair pay disclosures (subject to audit) 
 
The table below shows the year-on-year percentage change in salary and performance and bonus payments of the highest-paid 
director and employees of the Trust respectively. The changes reflect the introduction and withdrawal of performance payments for 
directors in 2020-21, as well as the national pay award for most Trust staff. 
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Description 

2021-22 
 
 
 

Percentage 
change in salary 
to previous year 

2021-22 
Percentage 
change in 

performance-
related pay and 

bonuses to 
previous year 

2020-21 
 
 
 

Percentage 
change in salary 
to previous year 

2020-21 
Percentage 
change in 

performance-
related pay and 

bonuses to 
previous year 

Highest Paid Director -4.49% -100% 4.71% 100% 

Employees of the Trust as a whole 1.05% -100% 0.60% 100% 

 
The Trust did not operate a performance related bonus scheme in 2021-22. 
 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director in their 
organisation against the 25th percentile, median and 75th percentile of remuneration of the organisation’s workforce. Total 
remuneration is further broken down to show the relationship between the highest paid director's salary component of their total 
remuneration against the 25th percentile, median and 75th percentile of salary components of the organisation’s workforce. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest-paid director in the Trust in the financial year 2021-22 was £210,000-215,000 (2020-21: 
£230,000-235-000). The relationship to the remuneration of the organisation's workforce is disclosed in the table below. 
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Year 

25th Percentile  
 

Total 
Remuneration 

Ratio 

25th Percentile 
  
 

Salary  
Ratio 

Median 
  

Total 
Remuneration 

Ratio 

Median 
 
  

Salary  
Ratio 

75th 
Percentile  

 
Total 

Remuneration 
Ratio 

75th Percentile 
  
 

Salary  
Ratio 

2021-22 9.58:1 9.58:1 6.89:1 6.89:1 5.02:1 5.02:1 

2020-21 10.62:1 10.16:1 7.59:1 7.26:1 5.57:1 5.33:1 

  

The mid-point of the total banded remuneration of the highest-paid director was 6.89 times (2020-21: 7.59 times) the median 
remuneration of the workforce, which was £30,842 (2020-21: £30,641). The 25th percentile was £22,171 (2020-21: £21,892) and 
the 75th percentile was £42,359 (2020-21: £41,823). 
 
The reduction in the pay multiple ratios shown above is a consequence of the reduction in salary payable to the highest paid 
director in 2021-22 compared to 2020-21, together with the 3% national pay award for the organisation’s workforce in 2021-22. 
There were also no performance-related payments to directors in 2021-22. 
 
Based on the March 2022 payroll, the calculated annualised pay for 2021-22 of seven employees, who are medical staff, would 
have exceeded that of the highest-paid director (2020-21: one employee). Remuneration of these employees ranged from 
£215,000 to £255,000 (2020-21: £240,000 to 245,000). The annualised remuneration of all staff, ranged from £1,000 to £255,000 
(2020-21: £1,000 to £245,000). 
 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It 
does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
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6. Duration of contracts, notice periods and termination payments 
 
Other than the Medical Director, whose executive role endures for the duration of office, Executive Directors are employed on 
contracts of service and are substantive employees of the Trust. Executive Directors’ contracts can be terminated by either party 
with up to 6 months’ notice. Following the departure of an Executive Director and in advance of a new appointee commencing, the 
Trust may engage a suitably qualified and experienced external interim director to ensure continuity of leadership (with approval 
from NHS Improvement) or appoint a suitably qualified internal member of staff to act up for a period. 
 
There are no special contractual compensation provisions for the early termination of Executive Directors’ contracts. Early 
termination by reason of redundancy or ‘in the interests of the efficiency of the service’ is subject to the provisions of the Agenda for 
Change NHS Terms and Conditions Handbook (Section 16). 
 
Employees above the minimum retirement age who themselves request termination by reason of early retirement, are subject to 
the normal provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Termination packages for all staff, agreed by the Trust in the year, are detailed 
in tables within this report. 
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7. Non-Executive Directors Terms of Office 
 
The dates of tenure and unexpired terms of office for the Non-Executive Directors are as follows: 

Name Appointment 
start date 

Appointment 
end date 

Re-
appointment 

start date 

Re-
appointment 

end date 

Re-
appointment 

start date 

Re-
appointment 

end date 

Re-
appointment 

start date 

Re-
appointment 

end date 
Dr Mairi 
McLean  
(Chairwoman) 

January 
 2019 

January 
2022 

January 
2022 

January 
2024     

Ruth Allarton 
(1) 

April 
2021 

March 
2023       

Adam Broome November 
2020 

November 
2022       

Isobel Down February 
2022 

February 
2024       

Nina Khaira (2) January  
2022 

January  
2024       

Sarah Newton March  
2020 

March  
2022 

March  
2022 

March  
2024     

Richard 
Stephenson 

February  
2020 

February  
2022 

February  
2022 

February  
2024     

Jane Wills  
(Associate) 

June  
2021 

May  
2022       

Richard Smith  
(Associate) 

March  
2019 

February  
2020 

February  
2020 

February  
2021 

February  
2021 

March  
2022 

March  
2022 

May  
2022 
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Notes 

(1) Associate NED January 2020 to March 2021 
(2) Associate NED June 2021 to January 2022 

 
There is no period of notice required for Non-Executive Directors. 
 
 
8. Salary and pension entitlements of Very Senior Managers 
 
The following tables detail the salaries and allowances and pension benefits for those individuals deemed to be the ‘Very Senior 
Managers’ of the Trust. For these purposes, Very Senior Managers are regular attendees of the Trust Board, who are directing and 
controlling the organisation. 
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Salaries and allowances of Non-Executive Directors 
 

Non-Executive Directors 
2021-22 

 
Salary  

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

2021-22 
 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
total to 
nearest 

£100 
 

£00 

2021-22 
 

TOTAL  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

 2020-21 
 

Salary  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000  

 2020-21 
 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
total to 
nearest 

£100 
 

£00  

2020-21 
 

TOTAL  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000  

Dr Mairi McLean 
Chairwoman 45 - 50 0 45 - 50 45 - 50 0  45 - 50 

Ruth Allarton 
Non-Executive Director (from April 2021) 
Associate Non-Executive Director (to March 2021) 

10 - 15 0 10 - 15 10 - 15 0  10 - 15 

Adam Broome 
Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 0 10 - 15 0 - 5 0  0 - 5 

Isobel Down  
Non-Executive Director (from February 2022) 0 - 5 0 0 - 5 0  0  0  

Sarah Newton  
Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 0 10 - 15 10 - 15 0  10 - 15 

Richard Stephenson  
Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 0 10 - 15 10 - 15 0  10 - 15 

Richard Smith 
Associate Non-Executive Director 10 - 15 0 10 - 15 10 - 15 0  10 - 15 
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Non-Executive Directors 
2021-22 

 
Salary  

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

2021-22 
 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
total to 
nearest 

£100 
 

£00 

2021-22 
 

TOTAL  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

 2020-21 
 

Salary  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000  

 2020-21 
 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
total to 
nearest 

£100 
 

£00  

2020-21 
 

TOTAL  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000  

Nina Khaira 
Non-Executive Director (from January 2022) 
Associate Non-Executive Director  
(from June 2021 to January 2022) 

10 - 15 0 10 - 15 0  0  0  

Jane Wills 
Associate Non-Executive Director (from June 2021) 10 - 15 0 10 - 15 0  0  0  

Paul Hobson 
Non-Executive Director (to January 2022) 10 - 15 0 10 - 15 10 - 15 0  10 - 15 

Sarah Pryce 
Non-Executive Director (to December 2021) 0 - 10 0 0 - 10 10 - 15 0  10 - 15 

Rob Leighfield  
Associate Non-Executive Director (to October 2020) 0 0 0 5 - 10 0  5 - 10 

Margaret Schwarz 
Non-Executive Director (to January 2021) 0 0 0 5 - 10 0  5 - 10 

Dr Gillian Vivian  
Non-Executive Director (to October 2020) 0 0 0 5 - 10 0  5 - 10 

 
The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor's opinion on the financial statements. 
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Salary and pension entitlements of Very Senior Managers (continued) 
 

Executive Directors - 2021-22 Note 

Salary 
whilst in 
post as 
Senior 

Manager 
(bands of  
£5,000) 

 
£000 

2020-21 
Performance 

pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000)* 

 
£000 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
total to 

nearest £100 
 
 

£ 

All pension-
related 
benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

 
£000 

TOTAL  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

Steve Williamson 
Chief Executive (from January 2022)   50 - 55 0 0 10.0 - 12.5 60 - 65 

Susan Bracefield  
Chief Operating Officer   145 - 150 5 - 10 0 0 150 - 155 

Bernadette George  
Director of Integrated Governance   105 - 110 0 0 40.0 - 42.5 145 - 150 

Dr Allister Grant  
Medical Director   180 - 185 0 0 47.5 - 50.0 230 - 235 

Kelvyn Hipperson 
Chief Information Officer 2 90 - 95 0 0 20.0 - 22.5 110 - 115 

Thomas Lafferty  
Director of Strategy & Performance   130 - 135 0 0 37.5 - 40.0 170 - 175 

Kim O'Keeffe  
Director of Nursing, Midwifery  
& Allied Health Professions 

1 75 - 80 5 - 10 0 15.0 - 17.5 100 - 105 

Karl Simkins  
Director of Finance   145 - 150 0 0 37.5 - 40.0 185 - 190 
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Executive Directors - 2021-22 Note 

Salary 
whilst in 
post as 
Senior 

Manager 
(bands of  
£5,000) 

 
£000 

2020-21 
Performance 

pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 
£5,000)* 

 
£000 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 
total to 

nearest £100 
 
 

£ 

All pension-
related 
benefits 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

 
£000 

TOTAL  
(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

Alison Thorne-Henderson  
Interim Director of People and 
Organisational Development  
(from February 2022) 

  15 - 20 0 0 15.0 -17.5 30 - 35 

Paul Hargreaves (3) 
Interim Director of People and 
Organisational Development  
(from April 2021 to August 2022) 

3 40 - 45 0 0 47.5 - 50.0 85 - 90 

Tony Chambers  
Interim Chief Executive  
(from August 2021 to January 2022) 

  90 - 95 0 9,400 0 100 - 105 

Kate Shields 
Chief Executive (to August 2021)   75 - 80 0 0 0 75 - 80 

Karen Kay  
Director for Urgent & Emergency 
Care (to November 2021) 

  100 - 105 0 0 0 100 - 105 

Susan Young 
Interim Director of People and 
Organisational Development  
(from September 2021 to January 
2022) 

  55 - 60 0 0 0 55 - 60 
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The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor's opinion on the financial statements. 
Notes 

1. The Director of Nursing, Midwifery & Allied Health Professions post is shared with Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation 
Trust. Salary costs disclosed here are those costs incurred by this Trust for the period April 2021 to March 2022. The full 
salary costs for the individual would be in the band £155,000-£160,000. 

 
2. The Chief Information Officer post is shared with Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. Salary costs disclosed here 

are those costs incurred by this Trust for the period April 2021-March 2022. The full salary costs for the individual would be 
in the band £120,000-£125,000. 

 
3. Paul Hargreaves held the substantive role of Deputy Director of People & Organisational Development throughout 2021-22. 

Remuneration shown here is only for the period acting as Interim Director of People & Organisational Development. 
 
*Payments relate to 2020-21 but were accounted for in 2021-22. 
 
Susan Bracefield, Tony Chambers, Kate Shields and Susan Young opted out of the NHS Pension Scheme and therefore no 
pension figures are reported above. Karen Kay has now retired and therefore no pension figures are available. 
 

 

  



 

Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2021/22 

Page 94 of 172 

Salary and pension entitlements of Very Senior Managers (continued) 

Executive Directors - 2020-21 (Restated) Note 

Salary 
whilst in 
post as 
Senior 

Manager 
(bands of  

£5,000) 
 

£000 

Other salary 
(bands of  

£5,000) 
 

£000 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 

£5,000) 
 

£000 

All pension-
related 

benefits 
(bands of 

£2,500) 
 

£000 

TOTAL  
(bands of 

£5,000) 
 

£000 
Kate Shields 
Chief Executive   220 - 225 0 5 - 10 0 230 - 235 

Susan Bracefield 
Chief Operating Officer   145 - 150 0 5 - 10 0 150 - 155 

Kerry Eldridge 
Director of Human Resources &  
Organisational Development  
(to April 2021) 

  150 - 155 70-75 * 5 - 10 0 225 - 230 

Bernadette George  
Director of Integrated Governance   105 - 110 0 0 - 5 50.0 - 52.5 160 - 165 

Dr Allister Grant  
Medical Director   180 - 185 0 0 242.5 - 245.0 425 - 430 

Kelvyn Hipperson  
Chief Information Officer 3 90 - 95 0 0 - 5 20.0 - 22.5** 110 - 115 

Karen Kay  
Director for Urgent & Emergency Care   115 - 120 0 0 - 5 37.5 - 40.0 160 - 165 

Thomas Lafferty 
Director of Strategy & Performance   130 - 135 0 5 - 10 30.0 - 32.5 170 - 175 
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Executive Directors - 2020-21 (Restated) Note 

Salary 
whilst in 
post as 
Senior 

Manager 
(bands of  

£5,000) 
 

£000 

Other salary 
(bands of  

£5,000) 
 

£000 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 
(bands of 

£5,000) 
 

£000 

All pension-
related 

benefits 
(bands of 

£2,500) 
 

£000 

TOTAL  
(bands of 

£5,000) 
 

£000 
Karl Simkins Director of Finance  
(from December 2020) 
Strategic Financial Advisor  
(from April 2020 to December 2020) 

  150 - 155 0 0 - 5 0 150 - 155 

Sally May  
Director of Finance (to December 2020) 1 65 - 70 0 0 67.5 - 70.0** 135 - 140 

Kim O'Keeffe 
Director of Nursing, Midwifery  
& Allied Health Professions 

2 80 - 85 0 5 - 10 2.5 - 5.0** 105 - 110 

Ricky Daniel  
Interim Director of Estates (from July 2020)   95 - 100 0 0 20.0 - 22.5 115 - 120 

Robin Jones 
Acting Director of Operations  
(from October 2020 to March 2021) 

  50 - 55 0 0 35.0 - 37.5 85 - 90 

Adam Wheeldon  
Deputy Director of Finance   90 - 95 0 0 0 90 - 95 

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor's opinion on the financial statements. 
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Notes 

4. The Director of Finance post was shared with Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation Trust for the period to December 2020. 
Salary costs disclosed here are those costs incurred by this Trust for the period April 2020 to December 2020 (including 
arrears of £8,000 relating to 2019-20). The full salary costs for the individual for that period would be in the band £130,000-
£135,000. 

 
5. The Director of Nursing, Midwifery & Allied Health Professions post is shared with Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation 

Trust. Salary costs disclosed here are those costs incurred by this Trust for the period April 2020 to March 2021. The full 
salary costs for the individual would be in the band £165,000-£175,000. 

 
6. The Chief Information Officer post is shared with Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation Trust. Salary costs disclosed here 

are those costs incurred by this Trust for the period April 2020-March 2021. The full salary costs for the individual would be 
in the band £120,000-£125,000. 

 
*Payment in lieu of notice, included within exit packages disclosed in the Staff Report below. 
 
** Pension benefits have been restated to show only the Trust's proportion of the total pension benefits for the year. Amounts 
previously reported were: Kelvyn Hipperson £27,500-30,000, Sally May £137,500-£140,000 and Kim O'Keeffe £5,000-£7,500. 
 
There were no taxable expense payments in respect of Senior Managers in 2020-21. 
 

Clinical Excellence Awards are included within 'salary'. All ‘pension-related benefits’ disclosed in the tables above represent the 
increase in pension benefits in the financial year. Pension benefits are calculated as 20 times the annual pension entitlement at 
pension age plus the value of any lump sum pension entitlement. These figures are adjusted for inflation.  
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Pension benefits 

Senior Manager 

Real 
increase 

in pension 
at pension 

age  
(bands of 

£2,500) 
 

£000 

Real 
increase 

in pension 
lump sum 
at pension 

age  
(bands of 
£2,500) 

 
£000 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension 
age at 31 

March 
2022 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 
pension at 
31 March 

2022 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2022 
as provided 
by NHSPA 

 
£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 
2021 as 

provided 
by NHSPA 

 
£000 

Real 
increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value 
 

£000 
Steve Williamson 
Chief Executive Officer 0 - 2.5 0 50 - 55 0 717 688 0 

Bernadette George 
Director of Integrated 
Governance 

2.5 - 5.0 0 - 2.5 45 - 50 105 - 110 893 832 43 

Dr Allister Grant 
Medical Director 2.5 - 5.0 0 - 2.5 70 - 75 160 - 165 1,444 1,354 57 

Kelvyn Hipperson 
Chief Information Officer 0 - 2.5 0 5 - 10 0 103 66 18 

Thomas Lafferty 
Director of Strategy & 
Performance 

2.5 - 5.0 0 25 - 30 0 248 215 13 

Kim O'Keeffe 
Director of Nursing, 
Midwifery & Allied Health 
Professions 

0 - 2.5 5.0 - 7.5 40 - 45 125 - 130 0 * 976 0 
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Senior Manager 

Real 
increase 

in pension 
at pension 

age  
(bands of 

£2,500) 
 

£000 

Real 
increase 

in pension 
lump sum 
at pension 

age  
(bands of 
£2,500) 

 
£000 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension 
age at 31 

March 
2022 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 
pension at 
31 March 

2022 
(bands of 
£5,000) 

 
£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 31 
March 2022 
as provided 
by NHSPA 

 
£000 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 
2021 as 

provided 
by NHSPA 

 
£000 

Real 
increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value 
 

£000 
Karl Simkins 
Director of Finance 2.5 - 5.0 0 - 2.5 70 - 75 185 - 190 1,632 1,542 61 

Alison Thorne-Henderson 
Director of Human 
Resources & Organisational 
Development 

0 - 2.5 0 10 - 15 0 199 176 3 

Paul Hargreaves 
Interim Director of Human 
Resources & Organisational 
Development 

2.5 - 5.0 2.5 - 5.0 35 - 40 75 - 80 760 693 49 

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor's opinion on the financial statements. 
 
*CETV at 31 March 2022 has not been provided by NHSBA and therefore the real increase in CETV cannot be calculated.  
 
Note: The pension benefits and related CETVs above do not include any potential future adjustments for eligible employees arising 
from the McCloud judgement. The McCloud judgement is a legal case concerning age discrimination over the manner in which UK 
public service pension schemes introduced an average earnings-based benefit scheme from 2015 for all but the oldest members, 
who retained a final salary benefit design. 
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The Trust made no employer contributions to stakeholder pensions. A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially 
assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are 
the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme.  
 
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme, or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or 
arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension 
figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension 
scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which the disclosure applies.  
The CETV figures and other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the 
individual has transferred to the NHS Pension Scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as 
a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.  
 
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  
 

Real increase in CETV  
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in accrued pension due to 
inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or 
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period. The prescribed rate of inflation used 
for 2021-22 was 0.5%. 
As Non-Executive Directors do not receive pensionable remuneration there are no entries in respect of pensions for Non-Executive 
members. 
 
9. Reporting of other compensation schemes for Senior Managers: exit packages  
 
There were no exit packages agreed in respect of Senior Managers in 2021-22. 
A single exit package was agreed by the Trust in 2020-21 in respect of a Senior Manager, as disclosed in the table of salaries and 
allowances above. The payment is also included within the exit packages disclosed within the Staff Report.  
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10. Staff Report  
 

Staff costs  
Staff costs for the year are shown below: 

Staff Cost 
2021-22 

Permanent 
£000 

2021-22 
Other 
£000 

2021-22 
Total 
£000 

 2020-21 
Total 
£000  

Salaries and wages 244,280 15,742 260,022 241,085  

Social security costs  23,734 1,562 25,296 22,612  

Apprenticeship levy 1,203 71 1,274 1,149  

Employer's contributions to NHS pension scheme 41,287 1,392 42,679 39,610  

Pension cost - other 75 24 99 322  

Termination benefits 86 0 86 160  

Temporary staff 0 16,378 16,378 8,963  

Total staff costs 310,665 35,169 345,834 313,901  

Of which: 
Costs capitalised as part of assets 1,505 0 1,505 2,108  

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor's opinion on the financial statements. 
 
Average whole time equivalent staff numbers 

Reporting organisations are required to disclose details of their average whole time equivalent (WTE) staff numbers during the 
year. For the Trust in 2021-22 these were as follows:  
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Staff type 

2021-22 
Permanently 

Employed 
Staff  

(Number) 

2021-22 
Bank and 

Agency Staff 
(Number) 

2021-22  
Total Staff 
(Number) 

 2020-21 
Total Staff 
(Number)  

Medical and dental staff 840 85 925 921  
Administration and estates staff 1,718 96 1,814 1,529  
Healthcare assistants and other support staff 780 116 896 809  
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff 1,508 195 1,703 1,604  
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners staff 53 0 53 50  
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff 968 37 1,005 921  
Healthcare science staff 175 2 177 175  
Other 10 0 10 8  
Total 6,052 531 6,583 6,017  
Number of employees (WTE) engaged on capital 
projects 49 0 49 67 

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor's opinion on the financial statements. 
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Senior staff numbers (average WTE) 
Included within the permanent staff above, were the following number of senior staff. For the purposes of this disclosure, ‘senior 
staff’ are those staff employed at the Agenda for Change (AfC) Band 8 – Range A and above. 
 

Staff composition – permanent staff 
The following table details the average whole time equivalent staff numbers of permanent staff by gender: 
 

Staff Type Male Female Total 

Board members 5 5 10 

Senior Staff (Agenda for Change pay scales Band 8 and above) 103 205 308 

Other staff 1,243 4,491 5,734 

Total 1,351 4,701 6,052 
 
 
Information relating to staff turnover rates at the Trust can be found through this link to NHS Digital’s NHS Workforce statistics 
publications: 
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-workforce-statistics  
 
 
11. Staff policies – equality and inclusion 
 
The Trust supports a staff network for staff with disabilities or long-term health conditions. This network promotes staff wellbeing by 
providing an opportunity for peer support, acting in an advisory capacity for the Trust on issues which may affect disability and as a 

https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/nhs-workforce-statistics
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collective voice to be heard and responded to. 
 
Other staff networks the Trust supports are a Minority Ethnic Group which started as a focus group to examine the evidence for the 
Workforce Race Equality Standard and decided to continue on a regular basis. This group offered support with career progression 
through access to mentors, coaches and career buddies.  
 
With only a small number of staff coming forward to create an LGBT staff network, the Trust joined the local Public Sector LGBT 
network. A carer’s network was launched to offer support, advice and guidance for staff who are also unpaid carers. A local carer’s 
charity offered to attend to provide their expertise on assessment and benefits available. The charity also provides a drop-in advice 
session for patient carers once a month which is hosted in the hospital. 
 
In 2016 the Trust introduced a Zero Tolerance to Discrimination Protocol to protect staff from being verbally abused by patients or 
treated in a derogatory way on the grounds of race, sexual orientation, transgender etc. This is designed to protect staff and ensure 
they feel valued and respected. 
 
Further information on equality and inclusion can be found on the Trusts’ website at www.rcht.nhs.uk.  
The Trust’s Equality, Inclusion and Human Rights policy can be found at:  
 
http://www.rcht.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/RoyalCornwallHospitalsTrust/HumanResources/EqualityDiversityAndHumanRightsPolicy.
pdf 
 
The Occupational Health team provides a range of services for staff, supporting recruitment and on-going employment, from health 
screening to physiotherapy to confidential counselling services.  
  

http://www.rcht.nhs.uk/
http://www.rcht.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/RoyalCornwallHospitalsTrust/HumanResources/EqualityDiversityAndHumanRightsPolicy.pdf
http://www.rcht.nhs.uk/DocumentsLibrary/RoyalCornwallHospitalsTrust/HumanResources/EqualityDiversityAndHumanRightsPolicy.pdf
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12. Sickness absence data 
 
The table below details the Trust’s sickness absence data. The data is based on the 2021 calendar year, which the Department of 
Health & Social Care regards as a reasonable proxy for the 2021-22 financial year. 
 
 

Staff sickness absence 2021-22 

Total days lost 62,935 

Total staff years 5,978 

Average working days lost (per WTE) 11 

 
Ill-health retirement data is shown below: 
 

Ill-health retirements 2021-22  2020-21  

Number of persons retired early on ill-health grounds 8 4 

Total additional pensions liabilities accrued in the year £644,000 £276,000 
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13. Consultancy expenditure 
 
The Trust incurred the following consultancy expenditure in 2021-22: 

Area Expenditure 
£000 

IT consultancy 40 

Clinical risk management 34 

Well-led governance review 38 

Health innovation support 10 

Engineering consultancy 22 

Estates governance review 48 

Strategic estates review 10 

COVID LAMP testing consultancy  7 

Total 209 
 
 
14. Off-payroll engagements  
 
As part of the Review of Tax Arrangements of Public Sector Appointees, published by the Chief Secretary to the Treasury on 23 
May 2012, NHS bodies are required to publish information in their Annual Report regarding off-payroll engagements, whereby 
individuals are paid through their own companies. 
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Length of off-payroll engagements 
 

Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2022 for more than £245 per 
day: Number 

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2022 2 

The number that have existed for less than 1 year at the time of reporting 0 

The number that have existed for between 1 and 2 years at the time of 
reporting 2 

 

Off-payroll engagements engaged at any point during the financial year 
 

Off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022, for 
more than £245 per day  Number 

Number of temporary off-payroll workers engaged between 1 April 2021 and 
31 March 2022 2 

Of which: 
Number not subject to off-payroll legislation  0 

Number subject to off-payroll legislation and determined as in-scope of IR35  0 

Number subject to off-payroll legislation and determined as out of scope of 
IR35 2 

Number of engagements reassessed for compliance or assurance purposes 
during the year 0 

 

A worker that provides their services through their own limited company or another type of intermediary to the client will be subject 
to off-payroll legislation and the department must undertake an assessment to determine whether that worker is in-scope of 
Intermediaries legislation (IR35) or out-of-scope for tax purposes. 
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Off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or senior officials with significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 
2021 and 31 March 2022: 
 

Description Number 
Number of off-payroll engagements of Board members, and/or senior officers 
with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year 0 

Number of individuals that have been deemed “Board members and/or senior 
officers with significant financial responsibility” during the financial year. This 
figure includes both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements 

25 

 
15. Exit packages 

 
The tables below detail the exit packages agreed in 2021-22 and 2020-21 by the Trust:  
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Exit packages agreed in 2021-22 
 

Band 

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies 
 

Number 

Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies 
 

£000 

Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed 

 
Number 

Cost of other 
departures 

agreed 
 

£000 

Total number 
of exit 

packages 
 

Number 

Total cost of 
exit packages 

 
£000 

Less than £10,000 0 0 4 22 4 22 
£10,000-£25,000 0 0 2 24 2 24 
£25,001-£50,000 0 0 1 40 1 40 
Total 0 0 7 86 7 86 

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor's opinion on the financial statements. 
No exit packages were agreed in 2021-22 in respect of Senior Managers 
 

Exit packages agreed in 2020-21 
 

Band  

 Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies 
 

Number  

 Cost of 
compulsory 

redundancies 
 

£000  

 Number of 
other 

departures 
agreed 

 
Number  

 Cost of other 
departures 

agreed 
 

£000  

 Total number 
of exit 

packages 
 

Number  

 Total cost of 
exit packages 

 
£000  

Less than £10,000 0  0  1  2  1  2  
£10,000-£25,000 0  0  3  35  3  35  
£25,001-£50,000 0  0  2  52  2  52  
£50,001-£100,000 0 0 1 71 1 71 
Total 0  0  7  160  7  160  
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The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor's opinion on the financial statements. 
 
Included in the table above is a single payment in relation to an exit package for a Senior Manager, as a contractual payment in 
lieu of notice: £71,000. 
 
Exit costs in the tables above are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where the Trust has agreed early retirements, the 
additional costs are met by the Trust and not by the NHS Pension Scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS Pension 
Scheme and are not included in the table.  
 
This disclosure reports the number and value of exit packages agreed in the year. The expense associated with these departures 
may have been recognised in part or in full in a subsequent period.  
 
None of the payments above include a special payment element. 
 

Analysis of other departures 
 
2021-22 
 

Type (Excluding compulsory redundancies) Total number 
of agreements 

Total value of 
agreements 

£000 
Voluntary redundancies including early retirement contractual costs 1 40 
Contractual payments in lieu of notice  5 38 
Exit payments following employment tribunals or court orders 1 8 
Total 7 86 

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor's opinion on the financial statements. 
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2020-21 

 

Type (Excluding compulsory redundancies)   Total number 
of agreements  

 Total value of 
agreements 

£000  
Contractual payments in lieu of notice  6  149  
Exit payments following employment tribunals or court orders 1  11  
Total 7  160  

The above table is subject to audit and has been referred to in the auditor's opinion on the financial statements. 
 
Included in the table above is a single payment in relation to an exit package for a Senior Manager, as a contractual payment in 
lieu of notice: £71,000. 
 
This disclosure reports the number and value of exit packages agreed in the year. The expense associated with these departures 
may have been recognised in part or in full in a subsequent period. 
 
As single exit packages can be made up of several components, each of which will be counted separately in this disclosure, the 
total number above will not necessarily match the total numbers in the Exit Packages table, which details the number of 
individuals. 
 
 
Steve Williamson 
Chief Executive 
 
21 June 2022 
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Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 
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Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 
2022 

Comprehensive income Note 2021 to 2022 
£'000 

  2020 to 2021 
£'000   

Operating income from patient care activities 3 516,056  455,570  
Other operating income 4 64,534  81,607  
Operating expenses 5,7 (577,662) (529,262) 
Operating surplus   2,928  7,915  
Finance costs: Finance income   20  2  
Finance costs: Finance expenditure   (506) (544) 
Finance costs: Public dividend capital dividends 
payable   (5,024) (3,516) 

Net finance costs   (5,510) (4,058) 
Other losses   (63) (54) 
(Deficit)/Surplus for the year   (2,645) 3,803  

 
Other comprehensive income that will not be 
reclassified to income and expenditure: Note 2021 to 2022 

£'000 
  2020 to 2021 

£'000   
Impairments and reversals taken to the 
revaluation reserve 6 (2,517) (1,889) 

Revaluations   3,985  585  
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for 
the year   (1,177) 2,499  

 
The notes on pages 119 to 172 form part of this account. 
 

The following information is not part of the Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
has been included to show the Trust's financial performance as it is assessed for 
NHS purposes. 

NHS Financial performance for the year Note 2021 to 2022 
£'000 

  2020 to 2021 
£'000   

(Deficit)/surplus for the year (as above)   (2,645) 3,803  
Remove impairments (1) 6 2,957  (286) 
Remove impact of capital grants and donations 
(2)   388  (575) 

Remove net impact of inventories received from 
DHSC group bodies for COVID response (3)   125  (186) 

Remove loss recognised on return of donated 
COVID assets to DHSC (4)   63  0  
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Adjusted retained surplus for NHS Purposes   888  2,756  
 

The Trust's reported NHS financial performance position is derived from its retained 
surplus, as adjusted for the following: 

(1) Impairment charges and reversals arising from changes in market prices are not 
considered part of an NHS trust's operating financial position; 

(2) This balance reflects the difference between capital charges incurred on donated 
and government grant funded assets and the donations credited to income during 
the year. The resultant impact on the Trust's operating surplus for the year is 
neutralised by this adjustment; 

(3) This balance reflects the difference between amounts credited to income and the 
amounts used and reflected in operational expenses during the same period; and 

(4) This is the loss on disposal of assets previously provided by DHSC in relation to 
the COVID pandemic, which were returned in 2021-22. The loss is included within 
Other losses above. 
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Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022 
Assets 

Asset Note 
As at 31 

March 2022 
£'000 

 As at 31 
March 2021 

£'000  
Non-current: Intangible assets 9 10,950  10,419  
Non-current: Property, plant and equipment 10 229,798  205,050  
Non-current: Receivables 12 2,199  1,123  
Total non-current assets   242,947  216,592  
Current: Inventories 11 8,869  8,980  
Current: Receivables 12 12,559  11,265  
Current: Cash and cash equivalents 13 32,634  42,085  
Total current assets   54,062  62,330  
Total assets   297,009  278,922  

 

Liabilities 

Liability Note 
As at 31 

March 2022 
£'000 

 As at 31 
March 2021 

£'000  
Current: Trade and other payables 14 (70,437) (72,373) 
Current: Borrowings   (1,669) (1,655) 
Current: Provisions 15 (1,467) (978) 
Current: Other liabilities   (3,659) (3,835) 
Total current liabilities   (77,232) (78,841) 
Total assets less current liabilities   219,777  200,081  
Non-current: Borrowings   (4,215) (5,879) 
Non-current: Provisions 15 (4,477) (3,826) 
Non-current: Other liabilities   (739) 0  
Total non-current liabilities   (9,431) (9,705) 

 

Totals 

Description 
As at 31 

March 2022 
£'000 

 As at 31 
March 2021 

£'000  
Total assets employed 210,346  190,376  
Financed by: Public dividend capital 289,794  268,647  
Financed by: Revaluation reserve 37,899  36,431  
Financed by: Income and expenditure reserve (117,347) (114,702) 
Total taxpayers' equity 210,346  190,376  

 
The notes on pages 119 to 172 form part of this account. 
The financial statements on pages 112 to 118 were approved by the Board on 21 
June 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 
Steve Williamson, Chief Executive
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Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2022 
 

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 
March 2022 

Public 
dividend 
capital  
£'000 

Revaluation 
reserve  
£'000 

Income and 
expenditure 

reserve  
£'000 

Total 
reserves  

£'000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2021 268,647  36,431  (114,702) 190,376  
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 0  0  (2,645) (2,645) 
Revaluations 0  3,985  0  3,985  
Impairments 0  (2,517) 0  (2,517) 
Public dividend capital received 21,147  0  0  21,147  
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2022 289,794  37,899  (117,347) 210,346  

 

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 
March 2021 

Public 
dividend 
capital  
£'000 

Revaluation 
reserve  
£'000 

Income and 
expenditure 

reserve  
£'000 

Total 
reserves  

£'000 

Taxpayers' and others' equity at 1 April 2020 172,997  37,735  (118,505) 92,227  
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 0  0  3,803  3,803  
Revaluations 0  585  0  585  
Impairments 0  (1,889) 0  (1,889) 
Public dividend capital received 95,650  0  0  95,650  
Taxpayers' and others' equity at 31 March 2021 268,647  36,431  (114,702) 190,376  
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Information on reserves 

Public dividend capital 

Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the 
excess of assets over liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS 
organisation. Additional PDC may also be issued to trusts by the Department of 
Health and Social Care. A charge of 3.5%, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the 
Trust, is payable to the Department of Health and Social Care as the public dividend 
capital dividend. 

Revaluation reserve 

Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation 
reserve, except where, and to the extent that, they reverse impairments previously 
recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating 
income. Subsequent downward movements in asset valuations are charged to the 
revaluation reserve to the extent that a previous gain was recognised unless the 
downward movement represents a clear consumption of economic benefit or a 
reduction in service potential. 

Income and expenditure reserve 

The balance of this reserve is the accumulated surpluses and deficits of the Trust.
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2022 

Cash flows Note 2021 to 2022 
£'000 

  2020 to 2021 
£'000   

Operating surplus   2,928  7,915  
Depreciation and amortisation  5 15,182  12,004  
Net impairments 6 4,847  (286) 
Income recognised in respect of capital donations 4 (601) (1,389) 
(Increase)/decrease in receivables and other assets   (2,245) 22,035  
Decrease in inventories   111  26  
Increase in trade and other payables   1,085  10,669  
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities   563  (1,823) 
Increase in provisions   1,171  543  
Net cash generated from operating activities   23,041  49,694  
Investing activity: Interest received   20  2  
Investing activity: Purchase of intangible assets   (788) (2,768) 
Investing activity: Purchase of property, plant and 
equipment   (45,475) (42,745) 

Investing activity: Sales of property, plant and 
equipment   130  33  

Investing activity: Receipt of cash donations to 
purchase capital assets   234  83  

Net cash generated/(used) in investing activities   (45,879) (45,395) 
Net cash outflow before financing   (22,838) 4,299  
Cash flow from financing activity: Public dividend 
capital received   21,147  95,650  

Cash flow from financing activity: Movement on 
loans from the DHSC (1)   (1,351) (60,442) 

Cash flow from financing activity: Capital element of 
finance lease payments   (266) (256) 

Cash flow from financing activity: Capital element of 
LIFT payments (2)   (33) (27) 

Cash flow from financing activity: Interest paid on 
DHSC loans   (62) (218) 

Cash flow from financing activity: Other interest   0  (1) 
Cash flow from financing activity: Interest paid on 
finance lease liabilities   (32) (39) 

Cash flow from financing activity: Interest paid on 
LIFT obligations   (439) (434) 

Cash flow from financing activity: PDC dividend paid   (5,578) (3,000) 
Net cash generated from financing activities   13,386  31,233  
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash 
equivalents   (9,452) 35,532  

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April   42,085  6,553  
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 13 32,633  42,085  
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(1) Movement on loans from the Department of Health 
and Social Care 

2021 to 2022 
£'000 

  2020 to 2021 
£'000   

Revenue support loans repaid 0  (53,315) 
Capital investment loans repaid (1,351) (7,127) 
Total loans repaid (1,351) (60,442)   

  

(2) Local Improvement Finance Trust (LIFT) - see Note 18 for additional information 
regarding the scheme. 
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Notes to the accounts  
1. Accounting policies and other information 
 
1.1 Basis of preparation 
The Department of Health and Social Care has directed that the financial statements 
of the Trust shall meet the accounting requirements of the Department of Health and 
Social Care Group Accounting Manual (GAM), which shall be agreed with HM 
Treasury. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the GAM 2021-22 issued by the Department of Health and Social 
Care. The accounting policies contained in the GAM follow International Financial 
Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the 
NHS, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting 
Advisory Board. Where the GAM permits a choice of accounting policy, the 
accounting policy that is judged to be most appropriate to the particular 
circumstances of the Trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been 
selected. The particular policies adopted are described below. These have been 
applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the 
accounts. 

Accounting convention 
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to 
account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, 
inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities. 

 

1.2 Going concern 
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. The financial 
reporting framework applicable to NHS bodies, derived from the HM Treasury 
Financial Reporting Manual, defines that the anticipated continued provision of the 
Trust’s services in the public sector is normally sufficient evidence of going concern. 
The directors have a reasonable expectation that this will continue to be the case. 

 

1.3 Interests in other entities 
Material entities over which the Trust has the power to exercise control are classified 
as subsidiaries and are consolidated. The Trust has control when it is exposed to, or 
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The income and expenses, 
gains and losses, assets, liabilities and reserves, and cash flows of the subsidiary 
are consolidated in full into the appropriate financial statement lines. Appropriate 
adjustments are made on consolidation where the subsidiary’s accounting policies 
are not aligned with the Trust's or where the subsidiary’s accounting date is not co-
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terminus. 

The Board of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust acts as the Corporate Trustee of 
Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust Charitable Fund (Charity number 1049687). As 
Corporate Trustee, the Board of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust is deemed to 
have the power to govern the financial and operational policies of the Charity so as 
to obtain benefits from its activities. 

The Trust has considered the requirement to consolidate, with these financial 
statements, the financial statements of the Charity. The Trust has determined that as 
the transactions and balances of the Charity are immaterial in the context of the 
group, the financial statements of the Charity have not been consolidated in either 
the current or preceding year. Details of the transactions between the Trust and the 
Charity are disclosed within Note 21 as related party transactions. 

 

1.4 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 
The following are the judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see 
below), that management has made in the process of applying the Trust’s 
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial statements. 

The Trust has determined that an alternative off-site valuation approach, on a 
Modern Equivalent Asset basis, is the most appropriate estimation technique for 
valuing its land and building assets. This approach was first adopted in 2014-15 and 
is in accordance with HM Treasury requirements. The valuation exercise was carried 
out in March 2022 with a valuation date of 31 March 2022. The decision to value the 
Trust's land and building based on the single off-site location represents a material 
judgement by the Trust. 

 

1.5. Sources of estimation uncertainty 
The Trust has not identified any assumptions about the future, or other major 
sources of estimation uncertainty, that would have a significant risk of resulting in a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year. 

 

1.6 Revenue 
Revenue from contracts with customers 
Where income is derived from contracts with customers, it is accounted for under 
International Financial Reporting Standard 15: Revenue from contracts with 
customers (IFRS 15). The GAM expands the definition of a contract to include 
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legislation and regulations which enables an entity to receive cash or another 
financial asset that is not classified as a tax by the Office of National Statistics 
(ONS). 

Revenue in respect of goods/services provided is recognised when (or as) 
performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised goods/services to the 
customer and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to those 
performance obligations. At the year end, the Trust accrues income relating to 
performance obligations satisfied in that year. Where the Trust’s entitlement to 
consideration for those goods or services is unconditional a contract receivable will 
be recognised. Where entitlement to consideration is conditional on a further factor 
other than the passage of time, a contract asset will be recognised. Where 
consideration received or receivable relates to a performance obligation that is to be 
satisfied in a future period, the income is deferred and recognised as a contract 
liability. 

Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles. 

Revenue from NHS contracts 
The main source of income for the Trust is contracts with commissioners for health 
care services. In 2021-22 and 2020-21, the majority of the Trust’s income from NHS 
commissioners was in the form of block contract arrangements. The Trust receives 
block funding from its commissioners, where funding envelopes are set at an 
Integrated Care System level. For the first half of the 2020-21 comparative year 
these blocks were set for individual NHS providers directly, but the revenue 
recognition principles are the same. The related performance obligation is the 
delivery of healthcare and related services during the period, with the Trust’s 
entitlement to consideration not varying based on the levels of activity performed. 

The Trust also receives additional income outside of the block payments to 
reimburse specific costs incurred and, in 2020-21, other income top-ups to support 
the delivery of services. Reimbursement and top-up income is accounted for as 
variable consideration. 

In 2021-22, the Elective Recovery Fund enabled systems to earn income linked to 
the achievement of elective activity targets including funding any increased use of 
independent sector capacity. Income earned by the system is distributed between 
individual entities by local agreement. Income earned from the fund is accounted for 
as variable consideration. 

In the application of IFRS 15, a number of practical expedients offered in the 
Standard have been employed. These are as follows: 

• the Trust does not disclose information regarding performance obligations as 
part of a contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less; 

• the Trust is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised 
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in line with the practical expedient offered in the Standard, where the right to 
consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to 
date; and 

• the FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in the 
Standard that requires the Trust to reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts 
modified before the date of initial application. 

Revenue from research contracts 
Where research contracts fall under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised as and when 
performance obligations are satisfied. For some contracts, it is assessed that the 
revenue project constitutes one performance obligation over the course of the multi-
year contract. In these cases it is assessed that the Trust’s interim performance does 
not create an asset with alternative use for the Trust, and the Trust has an 
enforceable right to payment for the performance completed to date. It is therefore 
considered that the performance obligation is satisfied over time, and the Trust 
recognises revenue each year over the course of the contract. Some research 
income alternatively falls within the provisions of IAS 20: Accounting for Government 
Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance. 

NHS Injury Cost Recovery (ICR) scheme 
The Trust receives income under the NHS ICR scheme, designed to reclaim the cost 
of treating injured individuals to whom personal injury compensation has 
subsequently been paid, for instance by an insurer. The Trust recognises the income 
when performance obligations are satisfied. In practical terms this means that 
treatment has been given, it receives notification from the Department of Work and 
Pension's Compensation Recovery Unit, has completed the NHS2 form and 
confirmed there are no discrepancies with the treatment. The income is measured at 
the agreed tariff for the treatments provided to the injured individual, less an 
allowance for unsuccessful compensation claims and doubtful debts in line with IFRS 
9: Financial Instruments requirements of measuring expected credit losses over the 
lifetime of the asset. 

 

1.7 Other forms of income 
Grants and donations  
Government grants are grants from government bodies other than income from 
commissioners or trusts for the provision of services. Where a grant is used to fund 
revenue expenditure it is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match 
that expenditure. Where the grant is used to fund capital expenditure, it is credited to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income once conditions attached to the grant have 
been met. Donations are treated in the same way as government grants. 
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Apprenticeship service income 
The value of the benefit received when accessing funds from the Government's 
apprenticeship service is recognised as income at the point of receipt of the training 
service. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training provider from 
the Trust’s Digital Apprenticeship Service (DAS) account held by the Department for 
Education, the corresponding notional expense is also recognised at the point of 
recognition for the benefit. 

 

1.8 Expenditure on employee benefits 
Short-term employee benefits 
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from 
the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the service is received 
from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by 
employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the 
extent that employees are permitted to carry-forward leave into the following period. 

Pension costs - NHS Pension Schemes 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension 
Schemes. Both schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS 
employer, general practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of 
Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. The scheme is 
not designed in a way that would enable employers to identify their share of the 
underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as 
though it is a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the Trust is taken as equal to 
the employer’s pension contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting 
period. The contributions are charged to operating expenses as they become due.  

Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the 
scheme except where the retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the 
liability for the additional costs is charged to operating expenses at the time the Trust 
commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 

The Trust also makes contributions to an occupational pension scheme set up in 
accordance with the Automatic Enrolment (Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 
2012. The scheme is a defined contribution scheme, for which the Trust accounts for 
its employer contributions within 'other pension costs' in these financial statements. 

 

1.9  Expenditure on other goods and services 
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that, they 
have been received, and is measured at the fair value of those goods and services. 
Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except where it results in the 
creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.  
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1.10 Property, plant and equipment 
Recognition 
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised where: 

• it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes; 

• it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will 
be supplied to, the Trust; 

• it is expected to be used for more than one financial year; 

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and 

• the item has a cost of at least £5,000; or 

• collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually 
have a cost of more than £250, where the assets are functionally 
interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are 
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single 
managerial control. 

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with 
significantly different asset lives, the components are treated as separate assets and 
depreciated over their own useful lives. 

Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an increase in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable 
that additional future economic benefits or service potential deriving from the cost 
incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost 
of the item can be determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, 
the cost of the replacement is capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. 
The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised. Other expenditure that 
does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as 
repairs and maintenance is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in 
the period in which it is incurred. 

Measurement 
Valuation 
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing 
the costs directly attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to 
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. 

Assets are measured subsequently at valuation. Assets which are held for their 
service potential and are in use (ie operational assets used to deliver either front line 
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services or back office functions) are measured at their current value in existing use.  

Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus with no 
plan to bring them back into use are measured at fair value where there are no 
restrictions on sale at the reporting date and where they do not meet the definitions 
of investment properties or assets held for sale. 

Assets that were most recently held for their service potential but are surplus are 
measured at fair value where there are no restrictions preventing access to the 
market at the reporting date. 

Revaluations of property, plant and equipment are performed with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that carrying values are not materially different from those that 
would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Current values in existing 
use are determined as follows: 

• land and non-specialised buildings - market value for existing use; and 
• specialised buildings - depreciated replacement cost, modern equivalent 

asset basis. 
 

For specialised assets, current value in existing use is interpreted as the present 
value of the asset’s remaining service potential, which is assumed to be at least 
equal to the cost of replacing that service potential. Specialised assets are therefore 
valued at their depreciated replacement cost (DRC) on a modern equivalent asset 
(MEA) basis. An MEA basis assumes that the asset will be replaced with a modern 
asset of equivalent capacity and location requirements of the services being 
provided. Assets held at depreciated replacement cost have been valued on an 
alternative site basis where this would meet the location requirements. 

Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are 
carried at cost, less any impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees and, where 
capitalised in accordance with IAS 23: Borrowing costs (IAS 23), borrowing costs. 
Assets are revalued and depreciation commences when the assets are brought into 
use. 

IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and fittings, and plant and machinery 
that are held for operational use are valued at depreciated historic cost where these 
assets predominantly have short useful lives or low values or both, as this is not 
considered to be materially different from current value in existing use. 

Depreciation 
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their remaining useful 
lives in a manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery 
benefits. Freehold land is considered to have an infinite life and is not depreciated.  

Property, plant and equipment which have been reclassified as ‘held for sale’ cease 
to be depreciated upon the reclassification. Assets in the course of construction are 
not depreciated until the asset is brought into use.  
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Revaluation gains and losses 
Revaluation gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and to 
the extent that, they reverse a revaluation decrease that has previously been 
recognised in operating expenses, in which case they are recognised in operating 
expenditure. 

Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is 
an available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to 
operating expenses.  

Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income as an item of ‘other comprehensive income’. 

Impairments 
In accordance with the GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of 
economic benefits or of service potential in the asset are charged to operating 
expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to the 
income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of: (i) the 
impairment charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation 
reserve attributable to that asset before the impairment. 

An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or of service 
potential is reversed when, and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to 
the loss is reversed. Reversals are recognised in operating expenditure to the extent 
that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the impairment 
had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation 
reserve. Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the 
revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred 
back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal is recognised. 

Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of ‘other 
impairments’ are treated as revaluation gains. 

De-recognition 
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as ‘held for sale’ once all of the criteria 
set out in IFRS 5: Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are 
met. The sale must be highly probable and the asset available for immediate sale in 
its present condition.  

Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing 
carrying amount and their fair value less costs to sell.  Depreciation ceases to be 
charged. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale contract conditions have 
been met. 

Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not 
qualify for recognition as ‘held for sale’ and instead is retained as an operational 
asset and the asset’s useful life is adjusted. The asset is de-recognised when 
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scrapping or demolition occurs. 

Donated and grant funded assets 
Donated and grant funded property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at 
their fair value on receipt. The donation/grant is credited to income at the same time, 
unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future economic benefits 
embodied in the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in 
which case, the donation/grant is deferred within liabilities and is carried forward to 
future financial years to the extent that the condition has not yet been met. 

The donated and grant funded assets are subsequently accounted for in the same 
manner as other items of property, plant and equipment. 

This includes assets donated to the Trust by the Department of Health and Social 
Care as part of the response to the coronavirus pandemic. As defined in the GAM, 
the Trust applies the principle of donated asset accounting to assets that the Trust 
controls and is obtaining economic benefits from at the year end. 

Local Improvement Finance Trust (LIFT) transactions 
LIFT transactions which meet the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee 12: Service Concessions Arrangements (IFRIC 12) definition of a service 
concession, as interpreted in HM Treasury’s Government Financial Reporting 
Manual (FReM), are accounted for as ‘on-Statement of Financial Position’ by the 
Trust. In accordance with HM Treasury’s FReM, the underlying assets are 
recognised as property, plant and equipment, together with an equivalent liability. 
Subsequently, the assets are accounted for as property, plant and equipment and/or 
intangible assets as appropriate. 

The annual contract payments are apportioned between the repayment of the 
liability, a finance cost, the charges for services and lifecycle replacement of 
components of the asset. The element of the annual unitary payment increase due to 
cumulative indexation is treated as contingent rent and is expensed as incurred.  

The service charge is recognised in operating expenses and the finance cost is 
charged to finance costs in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. 
The range of useful lives is shown in the table below: 
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Asset Min. Life 
Years 

Max. Life 
Years 

Buildings, excluding dwellings 1 49  
Dwellings 1 18  
Plant and machinery 1 30  
Transport equipment 1 10  
Information technology 1 7  
Furniture and fittings 1 14  

 

Finance-leased assets (including land) are depreciated over the shorter of the useful 
life or the lease term, unless the Trust expects to acquire the asset at the end of the 
lease term in which case the assets are depreciated in the same manner as owned 
assets above. 
 

1.11 Intangible assets 
Recognition  
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are 
capable of being sold separately from the rest of the Trust’s business or which arise 
from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only where it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the 
Trust and where the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.  

Internally generated intangible assets 
Internally generated goodwill, brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists 
and similar items are not capitalised as intangible assets. 

Expenditure on research is not capitalised.  Expenditure on development is 
capitalised when it meets the requirements set out in IAS 38: Intangible Assets (IAS 
38). 

Software 
Software which is integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. an operating system, is 
capitalised as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software 
which is not integral to the operation of hardware, e.g. application software, is 
capitalised as an intangible asset.  

Measurement 
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable 
costs needed to create, produce and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable 
of operating in the manner intended by management. 

Subsequently intangible assets are measured at depreciated historic cost, due to the 
absence of an active market on which to base a reliable estimation of current value 
in existing use.  
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An intangible asset which is surplus with no plan to bring it back into use is valued at 
fair value where there are no restrictions on sale at the reporting date and where 
they do not meet the definitions of investment properties or assets held for sale. 

Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or 
fair value less costs to sell. 

Amortisation 
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful lives in a manner 
consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. 

Useful lives of intangible assets 
Useful lives reflect the total life of an asset and not the remaining life of an asset. 
The range of useful lives applied by the Trust are from 1 to 10 years. 

 

1.12 Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the 
weighted average cost formula. This is considered to be a reasonable approximation 
to fair value due to the high turnover of inventories.   

In 2020-21 and 2021-22, the Trust received inventories including personal protective 
equipment from the Department of Health and Social Care at nil cost. In line with the 
GAM and applying the principles of the IFRS Conceptual Framework, the Trust has 
accounted for the receipt of these inventories at a deemed cost, reflecting the best 
available approximation of an imputed market value for the transaction based on the 
cost of acquisition by the Department. 

 

1.13 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that 
mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.   

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the Trust’s 
cash management. Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at current 
values. 
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1.14 Financial assets and financial liabilities 
Recognition 
Financial assets and financial liabilities arise where the Trust is party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument, and as a result has a legal right to 
receive or a legal obligation to pay cash or another financial instrument. The GAM 
expands the definition of a contract to include legislation and regulations which give 
rise to arrangements that in all other respects would be a financial instrument and do 
not give rise to transactions classified as a tax by the Office for National Statistics 
(ONS). 

This includes the purchase or sale of non-financial items (such as goods or 
services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust’s normal purchase, 
sale or usage requirements and are recognised when, and to the extent which, 
performance occurs, i.e. when receipt or delivery of the goods or services is made. 

Classification and measurement 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus or 
minus directly attributable transaction costs except where the asset or liability is not 
measured at fair value through income and expenditure. Fair value is taken as the 
transaction price, or otherwise determined by reference to quoted market prices or 
valuation techniques. 

Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of 
through finance leases are recognised and measured in accordance with the 
accounting policy for leases described below. Financial assets and financial liabilities 
are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost are those held with the 
objective of collecting contractual cash flows and where cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest. This includes cash equivalents, contract and 
other receivables, trade and other payables, rights and obligations under lease 
arrangements and loans receivable and payable.  

After initial recognition, these financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment (for financial 
assets). The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial 
liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset or to the amortised cost of a 
financial liability. 

Interest revenue or expense is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the 
gross carrying amount of a financial asset or amortised cost of a financial liability and 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as a financing income or 
expense.  In the case of loans held from the Department of Health and Social Care, 
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the effective interest rate is the nominal rate of interest charged on the loan." 

Impairment of financial assets 
For all financial assets measured at amortised cost including lease receivables, 
contract receivables and contract assets, the Trust recognises an allowance for 
expected credit losses.  

The Trust adopts the simplified approach to impairment for contract and other 
receivables, contract assets and lease receivables, measuring expected losses as at 
an amount equal to lifetime expected losses. For other financial assets, the loss 
allowance is initially measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit 
losses (stage 1) and subsequently at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit 
losses if the credit risk assessed for the financial asset significantly increases (stage 
2). 

Credit losses in respect of NHS bodies are not normally recognised. 

For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 
3), expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the difference 
between the asset’s gross carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  

Expected losses are charged to operating expenditure within the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and reduce the net carrying value of the financial asset in 
the Statement of Financial Position. 

De-recognition 
Financial assets are de-recognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows 
from the assets have expired or the Trust has transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership. 

Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or 
expires. 

 

1.15 Provisions 
The Trust recognises a provision where it has a present legal or constructive 
obligation of uncertain timing or amount; for which it is probable that there will be a 
future outflow of cash or other resources; and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount. The amount recognised in the Statement of Financial Position is the best 
estimate of the resources required to settle the obligation.  

Where the effect of the time value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted 
cash flows are discounted using HM Treasury’s discount rates effective from 31 
March 2022, as follows: 
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Description Period Nominal 
rate 

Prior 
year 
rate 

Short-term Up to 5 years 0.47% -0.02% 
Medium-term After 5 years, up to 10 years 0.70% 0.18% 
Long-term 10 years up to 40 years 0.95% 1.99% 
Very long-term Exceeding 40 years 0.66% 1.99% 

 

HM Treasury provides discount rates for general provisions on a nominal rate basis. 
Expected future cash flows are therefore adjusted for the impact of inflation before 
discounting using nominal rates. The following inflation rates are set by HM 
Treasury, effective from 31 March 2022: 

Year Inflation 
rate 

Prior 
year 
rate 

Year 1 4.00% 1.20% 
Year 2 2.60% 1.60% 
Into perpetuity 2.00% 2.00% 

 

Early retirement provisions and injury benefit provisions both use the HM Treasury’s 
pension discount rate of minus 1.30% in real terms (prior year: minus 0.95%). 

Clinical negligence costs 
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an 
annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence 
claims. Although NHS Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical 
negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total value of clinical 
negligence provisions carried by NHS Resolution on behalf of the Trust is disclosed 
at Note 15 but is not recognised in the Trust’s accounts.  

Non-clinical risk pooling 
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third 
Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an 
annual contribution to NHS Resolution and in return receives assistance with the 
costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses 
payable in respect of particular claims, are charged to operating expenses when the 
liability arises. 
 

1.16 Contingencies 
Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only 
be confirmed by one or more future events not wholly within the entity’s control) are 
not recognised as assets, but are disclosed in Note 16 where an inflow of economic 
benefits is probable.  
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Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in Note 16, unless the 
probability of a transfer of economic benefits is remote.  

Contingent liabilities are defined as: 

• possible obligations arising from past events whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 
wholly within the entity’s control; or 

• present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable 
that a transfer of economic benefits will arise or for which the amount of the 
obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. 

 

1.17 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC dividend 
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the 
excess of assets over liabilities at the time of establishment of the predecessor NHS 
organisation. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a financial instrument 
within the meaning of IAS 32: Financial Instruments: Presentation (IAS 32).  

The Secretary of State can issue new PDC to, and require repayments of PDC from, 
the Trust. PDC is recorded at the value received. 

A charge, reflecting the cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable as public 
dividend capital dividend. The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury 
(currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the Trust during the financial 
year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of 
all liabilities, with certain additions and deductions as defined in the PDC dividend 
policy issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. This policy is available 
at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-financing-available-to-
nhs-trusts-and-foundation-trusts  

In accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health and 
Social Care (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated on the 
actual average relevant net assets as set out in the “pre-audit” version of the annual 
accounts. The dividend calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets 
occur as a result the audit of the annual accounts. 

 

1.18 Value Added Tax (VAT) 
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, 
output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not recoverable. 
Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the 
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT 
is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-financing-available-to-nhs-trusts-and-foundation-trusts
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-financing-available-to-nhs-trusts-and-foundation-trusts
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1.19 Corporation tax 
The Trust has no corporation tax liability as its activities are not subject to 
corporation tax. 

 

1.20 Losses and special payments 
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have 
contemplated when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By 
their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to 
special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are 
divided into different categories, which govern the way that individual cases are 
handled. Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional 
headings in expenditure on an accruals basis.  

The losses and special payments note is compiled directly from the losses and 
compensations register which reports on an accrual basis with the exception of 
provisions for future losses. 

 

1.21 Early adoption of standards, amendments and interpretations 
No new accounting standards or revisions to existing standards have been adopted 
early in 2021-22. 

 

1.22 Prior year adjustment 
Adjustments for misstatements detected subsequent to the year-end are made to the 
prior year financial statements only where the amount of the adjustment would distort 
the current year's values and prevent the financial statements from presenting a true 
and fair view of the Trust's results and financial position. 

 

1.23 International Financial Reporting Standards that have been issued 
but have not yet been adopted 
IFRS 16: Leases 
IFRS 16 will replace IAS 17: Leases, International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee 4: Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease (IFRIC 4) and 
other interpretations and is applicable in the public sector for periods beginning 1 
April 2022.  The Standard provides a single accounting model for lessees, 
recognising a right of use asset and obligation in the Statement of Financial Position 
for most leases; some leases are exempt through application of practical expedients 
explained below. For those recognised in the Statement of Financial Position the 
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Standard also requires the remeasurement of lease liabilities in specific 
circumstances after the commencement of the lease term. For lessors, the 
distinction between operating and finance leases will remain and the accounting will 
be largely unchanged. 

IFRS 16 changes the definition of a lease compared to IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The 
Trust will apply this definition to new leases only and will grandfather its 
assessments made under the old standards of whether existing contracts contain a 
lease. 

On transition to IFRS 16 on 1 April 2022, the Trust will apply the standard 
retrospectively without restatement and with the cumulative effect of initially applying 
the standard recognised in the income and expenditure reserve at that date. 

For existing operating leases with a remaining lease term of more than 12 months 
and an underlying asset value of at least £5,000, a lease liability will be recognised 
equal to the value of remaining lease payments discounted on transition at the 
Trust’s incremental borrowing rate. The Trust's incremental borrowing rate will be 
defined by HM Treasury. For 2022, this rate is 0.95%. The related right of use asset 
will be measured equal to the lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued 
lease payments. For existing peppercorn leases not classified as finance leases, a 
right of use asset will be measured at current value in existing use or fair value. The 
difference between the asset value and the calculated lease liability will be 
recognised in the income and expenditure reserve on transition. No adjustments will 
be made on 1 April 2022 for existing finance leases.  

For leases commencing in 2022-23, the Trust will not recognise a right of use asset 
or lease liability for short term leases (less than or equal to 12 months) or for leases 
of low value assets (less than £5,000).  Right of use assets will be subsequently 
measured on a basis consistent with owned assets and depreciated over the length 
of the lease term. 

The Trust has estimated the impact of applying IFRS 16 in 2022-23 on the opening 
Statement of Financial Position and the in-year impact on the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and capital additions as follows: 

Estimated impact on 1 April 2022 Statement of Financial Position £000 
Additional right of use assets recognised for existing operating leases 6,179  
Additional lease obligations recognised for existing operating leases (6,018) 
Changes to other statement of financial position line items  0  
Net impact on net assets on 1 April 2022 161  
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Estimated in-year impact in 2022-23 £000 
Additional depreciation on right of use assets (1,427) 
Additional finance costs on lease liabilities (49) 
Lease rentals no longer charged to operating expenditure 1,395  
Estimated impact on surplus / deficit in 2022-23 (81) 
Estimated increase in capital additions for new leases commencing 
in 2022-23  1,106  

 

IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts  
The Standard is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2023. IFRS 17 is yet to be adopted by the FReM, therefore early adoption is not 
permitted. The introduction of the Standard is not expected to have a material impact 
on the Trust's financial statements. 

 

2. Operating segments   
The Trust has considered IFRS 8: Operating Segments and has taken the view that 
its activities should be reported as a single entity rather than in a segmental manner. 
Although financial performance is reported to the Executive Board members at a 
care group level, the key financial information for decision making purposes is based 
on the entity as a whole. Furthermore, the Trust's business is the delivery of acute 
healthcare across a single economic environment. No separate reportable segments 
have therefore been identified. 
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3.1 Income from patient care activities (by nature) 
All income from patient care activities relates to contract income recognised in line 
with accounting policy 1.6. 

Description 2021 to 2022 
£'000 

2020 to 2021 
£'000 

Acute services: Block contract/system envelope 
income 433,973  379,876  

Acute services: High cost drugs income from 
commissioners (excluding pass-through costs) 51,900  47,413  

Acute services: Other NHS clinical income 51  0  
Other services: Private patient income 29  35  
Other services: Elective recovery fund 4,378  0  
Other services: Additional pension contribution 
central funding (1) 12,992  12,038  

Other services: Other clinical income 12,733  16,208  
Total income from NHS bodies 516,056  455,570  

 

(1) The employer contribution rate for NHS pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% 
(excluding administration charge) from 1 April 2019. Since 2019-20, NHS providers 
have continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with the additional 
amount being paid over by NHS England on providers' behalf. The full cost and 
related funding have been recognised in these accounts. 
 

3.2 Income from patient care activities (by source) 

Income from patient care activities received 
from: 

2021 to 2022 
£'000 

  2020 to 2021 
£'000   

NHS England 106,337  104,800  
Clinical commissioning groups 408,966  350,111  
Other NHS providers 47  0  
NHS other (Public Health England) 4  114  
Non-NHS: Private patients 29  35  
Non-NHS: Overseas patients (chargeable to 
patient) 196  174  

NHS Injury Cost Recovery (ICR) scheme 477  333  
Non-NHS: Other 0  3  
Total income from patient care activities 516,056  455,570  

 

All amounts above relate to continuing operations. 
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4. Other operating income 
Operating income from contracts with 
customers 

2021 to 2022 
£'000 

  2020 to 2021 
£'000   

Research and development 3,581  3,349  
Education and training 15,552  13,640  
Non-patient care services to other bodies 9,553  8,819  
Reimbursement and top up funding 13,010  31,431  
Income in respect of employee benefits 
accounted for on a gross basis (1) 7,616  5,948  

Other contract income (2) 10,303  8,574  
   

Other non-contract operating income 2021 to 2022 
£'000 

  2020 to 2021 
£'000   

Research and development (non-contract) 247  163  
Education and training - notional income from 
Apprenticeship Fund 966  630  

Receipt of capital grants and donations 601  1,389  
Charitable and other contributions to expenditure 
(3) 1,851  6,460  

Rental revenue from operating leases 1,254  1,204  
   

Description 2021 to 2022 
£'000 

  2020 to 2021 
£'000   

Total other operating income 64,534  81,607  
 

All amounts above relate to continuing operations. 

(1) Included within 'Charitable and other contributions to expenditure' is £138,000 
(2020-21: £214,000) in relation to 'income in respect of employee benefits accounted 
for on a gross basis'. 

(2) ‘Other contract income’ includes outsourced facilities management, IT services 
provided, drug sales, food sales, transport and other miscellaneous income not 
falling into the other categories in the note above. 

(3) ‘Charitable and other contributions to expenditure’ includes centrally purchased 
inventories and centrally purchased equipment below the Trust's capitalisation 
threshold, provided by DHSC in response to the Coronavirus pandemic, totalling 
£1,448,000 (2019-20: £5,823,000). 
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5.1 Operating expenses 

Operating expense 2021 to 2022 
£'000 

  2020 to 2021 
£'000   

Purchase of healthcare from NHS and DHSC bodies 10,978  10,856  
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS and non-DHSC 
bodies 15,549  15,920  

Staff and executive directors' costs 341,375  309,169  
Remuneration of Chair and non-executive directors 163  147  
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs) 46,019  43,193  
Supplies and services - general 24,668  29,535  
Drug costs (drugs inventory consumed and purchase 
of non-inventory drugs) 63,647  57,783  

Inventories written down 370  338  
Consultancy costs 209  235  
Establishment 5,578  5,398  
Premises 15,959  13,781  
Transport (including patient travel) 4,136  3,162  
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 13,112  11,126  
Amortisation on intangible assets 2,070  878  
Net impairments/(reversals) 4,847  (286) 
Movement in credit loss allowance: contract 
receivables/contract assets (569) 2,747  

Movement in credit loss allowance: all other 
receivables and investments 215  174  

Change in provisions discount rate(s) 93  129  
Audit fees payable to the external auditor: audit 
services - statutory audit 118  102  

Internal audit costs 154  155  
Clinical negligence 13,527  11,991  
Legal fees 387  254  
Insurance 92  102  
Research and development (including staff costs) 3,655  3,173  
Education and training 2,053  1,756  
Rentals under operating leases 2,197  1,754  
Charges to operating expenditure for on-SOFP IFRIC 
12 schemes (LIFT) 328  340  

Car parking and security 3,831  2,153  
Losses, ex gratia and special payments 30  22  
Other 2,871  3,175  
Total operating expenses 577,662  529,262  

 

All amounts above relate to continuing operations. 
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5.2 External audit fees: Additional Information 
Audit fees shown above include VAT. The auditor received fees of £98,000 in 2021-
22 of which £83,000 related to 2021-22 and £15,000 related to 2020-21. The auditor 
received fees of £85,000 in 2020-21. 

The Trust incurred no other auditor remuneration charges in either 2021-22 or 2020-
21.  

The limitation on auditor's liability for external audit work is £2m (2020-21: £2m). 

 

6. Impairment of assets 

Impairments 2021 to 2022 
£'000 

  2020 to 2021 
£'000   

Net impairments/(reversals) charged to operating 
surplus/deficit resulting from: Changes in market 
price 

2,957 (286) 

Net impairments/(reversals) charged to operating 
surplus/deficit resulting from: Abandonment of 
assets in course of construction 

1,890 0  

Total net impairments/(reversals) charged to 
operating surplus/deficit 4,847 (286) 

Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve 2,517 1,889  

Total net impairments 7,364 1,603  
 

Market price impairments / reversals and impairments charged to the revaluation 
reserve in 2021-22 and 2020-21 arose following the annual year end revaluations of 
the Trust's property assets on a modern equivalent asset basis. Revaluations were 
undertaken by the Valuation Office Agency. 

Impairments charged in respect of abandonment of assets in the course of 
construction in 2021-22 arose following the withdrawal of DHSC support under the 
Health Infrastructure Plans (HIP2) programme. The impairments charged reflect the 
costs incurred by the Trust up to 31 March 2022 and no further costs are anticipated 
under this scheme. 
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7. Employee benefits 

Employee benefits 2021 to 2022 
£'000 

  2020 to 2021 
£'000   

Salaries and wages 260,022 241,085  
Social security costs 25,296 22,612  
Apprenticeship levy 1,274 1,149  
Employer's contributions to NHS pensions 42,679 39,610  
Other pension costs 99 322  
Termination benefits 86 160  
Temporary staff (agency) 16,378 8,963  
Total gross staff costs 345,834 313,901  
Included within: Costs capitalised as part of assets 1,505 2,108  
Total staff costs excluding capitalised staff 
costs 344,329 311,793 

 

7.1 Retirements due to ill-health 
During 2021-22 there were 8 early retirements from the Trust agreed on the grounds 
of ill-health (4 in the year ended 31 March 2021). The estimated additional pension 
liabilities of these ill-health retirements is £644,000 (£276,000 in 2020-21). 

These estimated costs are calculated on an average basis and will be borne by the 
NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division. 

 

8. Pension costs 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension 
Schemes. Details of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on 
the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded 
defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, 
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care in 
England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable 
NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: 
the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the 
contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period. 

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do 
not differ materially from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a 
formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal 
valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. 
An outline of these follows: 
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a) Accounting valuation  
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary 
(currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end of the reporting 
period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in 
conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting 
period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting 
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2022, is based on 
valuation data as 31 March 2021, updated to 31 March 2022 with summary global 
member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the 
methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount 
rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used. 

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the 
scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. 
These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published 
annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office. 

b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation 
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the 
benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent demographic 
experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and 
employers.  

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was 
completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation set the employer 
contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay.  

The 2016 funding valuation also tested the cost of the Scheme relative to the 
employer cost cap that was set following the 2012 valuation. There was initially a 
pause to the cost control element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty 
around member benefits caused by the discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud 
case.  

HMT published valuation directions dated 7 October 2021 (see Amending Directions 
2021) that set out the technical detail of how the costs of remedy are included in the 
2016 valuation process.  Following these directions, the scheme actuary has 
completed the cost control element of the 2016 valuation for the NHS Pension 
Scheme, which concludes no changes to benefits or member contributions are 
required.  The 2016 valuation reports can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/nhs-pension-scheme-accounts-and-valuation-reports 

https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/nhs-pension-scheme-accounts-and-valuation-reports
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9. Intangible assets 
9.1 Intangible assets 2021-22 

 Description Software 
licences 

£'000 

Development 
expenditure - 

internally 
generated 

£'000 

Intangible 
assets under 
construction 

£'000 
Total  
£'000 

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2021 22,648 2,729  4,314 29,691  
Additions 2,361 240  0 2,601  
Reclassifications 2,466 0  (2,466) 0  
Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2022 27,475 2,969  1,848 32,292  
Amortisation at 1 April 2021 17,311 1,961  0 19,272  
Provided during the year 1,886 184  0 2,070  
Amortisation at 31 March 2022 19,197 2,145  0 21,342  
Net book value at 31 March 2022 8,278 824  1,848 10,950  
Net book value at 1 April 2021 5,337 768  4,314 10,419  
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9.2 Intangible assets 2020-21 

Description Software 
licences 

£'000 

Development 
expenditure - 

internally 
generated 

£'000 

Intangible 
assets under 
construction 

£'000 
Total  
£'000 

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 2020 23,421 3,262  3,886 30,569  
Additions 1,920 254  461 2,635  
Reclassifications 33 0  (33) 0  
Disposals / de-recognition (2,726) (787) 0 (3,513) 
Valuation / gross cost at 31 March 2021 22,648 2,729  4,314 29,691  
Amortisation at 1 April 2020 19,287 2,620  0 21,907  
Provided during the year 750 128  0 878  
Disposals / de-recognition (2,726) (787) 0 (3,513) 
Amortisation at 31 March 2021 17,311 1,961  0 19,272  
Net book value at 31 March 2021 5,337 768  4,314 10,419  
Net book value at 1 April 2020 4,134 642  3,886 8,662  

 

9.3 Intangible assets - additional information 
Intangible assets comprise purchased computer software and licenses, which are carried at amortised historical cost, as a proxy for fair 
value. 

Assets are capitalised and amortised over their useful lives on a straight-line basis. Useful lives are all finite and range from 1 to 10 years. 
The gross carrying amount of fully amortised assets still in use is £15.2m (2020-21: £14.9m). 
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10. Property, plant and equipment 
10.1 Property, plant and equipment 2021-22 

Description 
Land  
£'000 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

£'000 
Dwellings 

£'000 

Assets under 
construction   

£'000 

Plant & 
machinery 

£'000 

Transport 
equipment 

£'000 

Information 
technology 

£'000 

Furniture 
& fittings  

£'000 
Total  
£'000  

Valuation / gross cost at 1 
April 2021 5,156 124,149 12 36,678 74,863 267 18,549 3,684 263,358 
Additions 0 10,512 0 21,169 7,495 506 1,670 80 41,432 
Impairments 0 (7,400) 0 (1,890) 0 0 0 0 (9,290) 
Reversals of impairments 0 1,926 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,926 
Revaluations 372 (1,254) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (882) 
Reclassifications 0 5,095 0 (5,120) 25 0 0 0 0 
Disposals / de-recognition 0 0 0 0 (10,764) (14) (5) (1,241) (12,024) 
Valuation / gross cost at 31 
March 2022 5,528 133,028 12 50,837 71,619 759 20,214 2,523 284,520 
Accumulated depreciation at 
1 April 2021 15 0 0 0 44,262 244 10,764 3,023 58,308 
Provided during the year 0 4,851 1 0 5,358 8 2,753 141 13,112 
Revaluations (15) (4,851) (1) 0 0 0 0 0 (4,867) 
Disposals / de-recognition 0 0 0 0 (10,578) (14) (5) (1,234) (11,831) 
Accumulated depreciation 
at 31 March 2022 0 0 0 0 39,042 238 13,512 1,930 54,722 

Net book value at 31 March 
2022 5,528 133,028 12 50,837 32,577 521 6,702 593 229,798 
Net book value at 1 April 
2021 5,141 124,149 12 36,678 30,601 23 7,785 661 205,050 
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10.2 Property, plant and equipment 2020-21 

Description 
Land  
£'000 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

£'000 
Dwellings 

£'000 

Assets 
under 

construction 
£'000 

Plant & 
machinery 

£'000 

Transport 
equipment 

£'000 

Information 
technology 

£'000 

Furniture 
& fittings  

£'000 
Total  
£'000  

Valuation / gross cost at 1 April 
2020 5,141 122,538  12 9,244  68,500 261  15,773 4,263  225,732 

Additions 15 5,474  0 29,628  13,783 24  3,480 308  52,712 
Impairments 0 (1,889) 0 0  0 0  0 0  (1,889) 
Revaluations 0 (3,930) 0 0  0 0  0 0  (3,930) 
Reclassifications 0 1,956  0 (2,194) 238 0  0 0  0 
Disposals / de-recognition 0 0  0 0  (7,658) (18) (704) (887) (9,267) 
Valuation / gross cost at 31 
March 2021 5,156 124,149  12 36,678  74,863 267  18,549 3,684  263,358 
Accumulated depreciation at 1 
April 2020 0 0  0 0  48,251 258  8,854 3,800  61,163 

Provided during the year 0 4,816  0 0  3,582 4  2,614 110  11,126 
Impairments 15 3,223  0 0  0 0  0 0  3,238 
Reversals of impairments 0 (3,524) 0 0  0 0  0 0  (3,524) 
Revaluations 0 (4,515) 0 0  0 0  0 0  (4,515) 
Disposals / de-recognition 0 0  0 0  (7,571) (18) (704) (887) (9,180) 
Accumulated depreciation at 
31 March 2021 15 0  0 0  44,262 244  10,764 3,023  58,308 

Net book value at 31 March 
2021 5,141 124,149  12 36,678  30,601 23  7,785 661  205,050 
Net book value at 1 April 
2020 5,141 122,538  12 9,244  20,249 3  6,919 463  164,569 
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10.3 Property, plant and equipment financing 2021-22 

Net book value at 31 March 
2022 

Land  
£'000 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

£'000 
Dwellings 

£'000 

Assets 
under 

construction   
£'000 

Plant & 
machinery 

£'000 

Transport 
equipment 

£'000 

Information 
technology 

£'000 

Furniture 
& fittings  

£'000 
Total  
£'000  

Owned - purchased 5,232 118,348  12 50,837  28,815 482  5,676 522  209,924 
Finance leased 0 0  0 0  0 0  1,017 0  1,017 
On-SOFP LIFT contracts 280 1,120  0 0  0 0  0 0  1,400 
Owned - donated / 
government granted 16 13,560  0 0  3,762 39  9 71  17,457 
Net book value total at 31 
March 2022 5,528 133,028  12 50,837  32,577 521  6,702 593  229,798 

 

10.4 Property, plant and equipment financing 2020-21 

Net book value at 31 March 
2021 

Land  
£'000 

Buildings 
excluding 
dwellings 

£'000 
Dwellings 

£'000 

Assets 
under 

construction  
£'000 

Plant & 
machinery 

£'000 

Transport 
equipment 

£'000 

Information 
technology 

£'000 

Furniture 
& fittings  

£'000 
Total  
£'000  

Owned - purchased 4,876 110,251  12 36,678  24,683 23  5,960 570  183,053 
Finance leased 0 0  0 0  0 0  1,232 0  1,232 
On-SOFP LIFT contracts 250 950  0 0  0 0  0 0  1,200 
Owned - donated / 
government granted 15 12,948  0 0  5,918 0  593 91  19,565 

Net book value total at 31 
March 2021 5,141 124,149  12 36,678  30,601 23  7,785 661  205,050 



 

Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2021/22 

Page 148 of 172 

10.5 Property, plant and equipment - additional information 
Revaluations 
Land and property assets are carried at valuation on the Statement of Financial 
Position. All of the Trust's land, building and dwelling assets have been revalued as 
at 31 March 2022 by the District Valuers of the Valuation Office Agency. The 
valuations have been carried out in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered 
Surveyors' (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual insofar as these terms are 
consistent with the agreed requirements of the Department of Health and Social 
Care and HM Treasury. 

Since 30 June 2014, the valuation of the Trust's land and building assets has been 
undertaken on a Modern Equivalent Asset (MEA) basis with the assumption that the 
assets are situated on an alternative site to their current location. 

The Trust's plant and machinery assets (with individual values in excess of £15,000) 
were last revalued at 1 April 2009, by the Valuation Office Agency. Since that date 
these assets have been carried on the Statement of Financial Position at those 
valuations less subsequent depreciation. Plant and machinery assets not valued as 
part of this revaluation continue to be carried at depreciated historical cost as a proxy 
for current value. 

The Trust's tangible information technology assets were revalued by the Valuation 
Office Agency as at 31 December 2013. Prior to 31 December 2013, these assets 
were carried on the Statement of Financial Position on a depreciated historic cost 
basis. Since that date these assets have been carried on the Statement of Financial 
Position at those valuations less subsequent depreciation. Purchases since the 
valuation date are carried on a depreciated historic cost basis, as a proxy for current 
value. 

There have been no changes to the valuation methods used by the Trust in 2021-22. 

No compensation from third parties has been received for assets impaired, lost or 
given up. 

The Trust has no temporarily idle assets.  

The gross carrying amount of fully depreciated assets still in use is £34.0m (2020-21: 
£40.5m). 

Donations 
Donations towards property, plant and equipment expenditure in the year have been 
provided by the following organisations: 

• Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust Charitable Fund (see related party 
transactions in Note 21); 

• The Friends of The Royal Cornwall Hospital; 
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• Peninsula Cancer Alliance; and 

• Cornwall Arthritis Trust. 

 

Other than the conditions imposed by Macmillan Cancer Support (referred to in Note 
16), no restrictions or conditions have been imposed by the donors.  

 

11. Inventories 

Inventory type 
31 March 

2022 
£'000 

 31 March 
2021 
£'000  

Drugs 3,142 3,073 
Consumables 5,580 5,783 
Energy 147 124 
Total inventories 8,869 8,980 
Of which: held at fair value less costs to sell 0 0 

 

Inventories recognised in expenses for the year were £101.015m (2020-21: 
£94.417m). Write-down of inventories recognised as expenses for the year were 
£370,000 (2020-21: £338,000).  

In response to the Coronavirus pandemic, the Department of Health and Social Care 
centrally procured personal protective equipment and passed these to NHS 
providers free of charge. During 2021-22 the Trust received £1,434,000 (2020-21: 
£5,823,000) of items purchased by DHSC. 

These inventories were recognised as additions to inventory at deemed cost with the 
corresponding benefit recognised in income. The utilisation of these items is included 
in the expenses disclosed above. 
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12. Receivables 

Current 
31 March 

2022 
£'000 

 31 
March 
2021 
£'000  

Contract receivables 10,606 10,433 
Allowance for impaired contract receivables / assets (3,169) (4,010) 
Allowance for other impaired receivables (433) (224) 
Prepayments 3,166 3,379 
PDC dividend receivable 130 0 
VAT receivable 1,736 1,349 
Other receivables 523 338 
Total current trade and other receivables 12,559 11,265 

   

Non-current 
31 March 

2022 
£'000 

 31 March 
2021 
£'000  

Contract receivables 532 449 
Prepayments 814 651 
Other receivables 853 23 
Total non-current trade and other receivables 2,199 1,123 

 

Of which receivables from NHS and DHSC group 
bodies:  

31 March 
2022 
£'000 

 31 March 
2021 
£'000  

Current  6,420 4,750 
Non-current 854 23 
Total 7,274 4,773 

 

The great majority of trade is with clinical commissioning groups. As clinical 
commissioning groups are funded by Government to buy NHS patient care services, 
no credit scoring of them is considered necessary. 

There are no prepaid pension contributions included above in either 2021-22 or 
2020-21. 
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13. Cash and cash equivalents movements 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, cash in hand and cash 
equivalents. Cash equivalents are readily convertible investments of known value 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
31 March 

2022 
£'000 

 31 March 
2021  
£'000  

Opening balance 42,085 6,576 
Net change in year (9,451) 35,509 
Closing balance 32,634 42,085 

 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise: 
31 March 

2022 
£'000 

 31 
March 
2021 
£'000  

Cash with commercial banks and in hand 99 55 
Cash with the Government Banking Service 32,535 42,030 
Cash and cash equivalents as in the Statement of 
Financial Position 32,634 42,085 

Bank overdraft - commercial banks and Government Banking 
Service (1) 0 

Cash and cash equivalents as in the Statement of Cash 
Flows 32,633 42,085 

 

14. Trade and other payables 

Current trade and other payables 
31 March 

2022 
£'000 

 31 
March 
2021 
£'000  

Trade payables 4,291 5,111 
Capital payables (including capital accruals) 16,036 18,633 
Accruals (revenue only) 37,264 37,049 
Social security costs 7,419 6,189 
PDC dividend payable 0 424 
Other payables 5,427 4,967 
Total current trade and other payables 70,437 72,373 
Of which payables to NHS and DHSC group bodies:  1,270 2,468 

 

There are no amounts included above to buy out early retirement liabilities in either 
2021-22 or 2020-21. 
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15.1 Provisions 

Description 

Pensions 
- early 

departure 
costs 
£'000 

Pensions 
- injury 
benefits  

£'000 

Legal 
claims 
£'000 

Other 
£'000 

Total 
£'000 

Balance at 1 April 2021 1,389 2,730  108 577  4,804 
Change in the discount rate 23 70  0 0  93 
Arising during the year 88 7  62 1,336  1,493 
Utilised during the year (144) (170) (56) 0  (370) 
Reversed unused (19) 0  (26) 0  (45) 
Unwinding of discount (12) (24) 0 5  (31) 
Balance at 31 March 2022 1,325 2,613  88 1,918  5,944 

 

Expected timing of cash 
flows 

Pensions 
- early 

departure 
costs 
£'000 

Pensions 
- injury 
benefits  

£'000 

Legal 
claims 
£'000 

Other 
£'000 

Total 
£'000 

No later than one year 144 170  88 1,065  1,467 
Later than one year and no 
later than five years 597 702  0 34  1,333 
Later than five years 584 1,741  0 819  3,144 
Total 1,325 2,613  88 1,918  5,944 

 

Pension provisions and pensions are calculated based on figures supplied by the 
NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division, using actuarial tables. As 
these tables cover significant time periods it is not possible to be precise about future 
amounts and timings of payment. 

It is not possible to be precise regarding dates of settlement for industrial injury and 
other legal claims and therefore there is uncertainty over the calculation and timings 
of amounts due. 

No reimbursements are expected in relation to the provisions disclosed above. 

 

15.2 Clinical negligence liabilities 
At 31 March 2022, £330.488m was included in provisions of NHS Resolution in 
respect of clinical negligence liabilities of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust (31 
March 2021: £208.487m). 
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16. Contingencies 

Value of contingent liabilities 
31 

March 
2022 
£'000 

 31 
March 
2021 
£'000  

NHS Resolution legal claims (1) 28 41 
Other (2) 3,055 3,055 
Net value of contingent liabilities 3,083 3,096 

 

(1) The balance relates to employer liability and public liability claims made against 
the Trust. 

(2) The Trust received funding between 2015-16 and 2018-19 totalling £3,055,000 
from Macmillan Cancer Support, to fund the building of the Cove Cancer Information 
Centre on the main hospital site in Truro. Under the terms of the agreement with 
Macmillan, the Trust is obliged to use the building for its intended purpose for a 
period of 15 years. Should the Trust not do so, the Trust will be obliged to repay a 
percentage of the funding to Macmillan. As at 31 March 2022, this percentage 
stands at 100% (31 March 2021: 100%). 

The Trust has no contingent assets. 

 

17. Contractual capital commitments 
Contracted capital commitments at 31 March not otherwise included in these 
financial statements: 

Description 
31 

March 
2022 
£'000 

 31 
March 
2021 
£'000  

Property, plant and equipment 11,826 5,687 
Total 11,826 5,687 

 

Individually significant capital commitments 
MRI/Oncology Re-Provision 
Phase 2 of the Trust’s Clinical Site Development Plan (CSDP) involves the provision 
of new clinical space for the Trust’s Oncology and Haematology departments as well 
as the relocation of its MRI services into a purpose-built facility. 

The total cost of this project is expected to be £34,427,000 and construction is 
expected to be completed in March 2023. As at 31 March 2022 the Trust has 
incurred £20,166,000 of expenditure on the project, of which £19,994,000 has been 
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spent with the main contractor. The Trust is committed to a further £10,142,000 of 
expenditure with the main contractor. 

 

18. On-SOFP LIFT arrangements 
The Trust's LIFT scheme relates to the property used by Sustenation (formerly 
known as the Cornwall Food Production Unit). Lease payments are made each 
month and updated for inflation on an annual basis. Under the terms of the lease, the 
Trust enjoys rights and obligations to the property until February 2033. The lease 
agreement includes the need for the landlord to insure and maintain the property. 
The Trust is required to meet the costs of utilities, and these are payable to the 
landlord.  

The Trust has the option to purchase the premises, during and at the end of the 
term, and details are set out in the lease agreement. There are no other significant 
terms of the lease that may impact on the timing or certainty of cash flows. There 
have been no changes in the arrangement during the year. 

 

18.1 Total on-SOFP arrangement commitments 
The Trust's total future obligations under this on-SOFP scheme are as follows: 

Description 
31 

March 
2022 
£'000 

 31 
March 
2021 
£'000  

Total future payments committed in respect of the LIFT 
arrangement 9,770 10,560 
Of which liabilities are due: not later than one year 800 801 
Of which liabilities are due: later than one but not later than 
five years 3,356 3,274 

Of which liabilities are due: later than five years 5,614 6,485 
Total future payments 9,770 10,560 

 

19. Financial instruments 
19.1 Financial risk management 
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures requires 
disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in 
creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.  Because of 
the continuing service provider relationship that the Trust has with Clinical 
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and the way those CCGs are financed, the Trust is 
not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business entities.  Also, financial 
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instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be 
typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply.  
The Trust has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets 
and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being 
held to change the risks facing the Trust in undertaking its activities.  

The Trust’s treasury management operations are carried out by the finance 
department, within parameters defined formally within the Trust’s standing financial 
instructions and policies agreed by the Board of Directors.  Trust treasury activity is 
subject to review by the Trust’s internal auditors. 

Currency risk 
The Trust is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of 
transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and sterling based.  The Trust has 
no overseas operations.  The Trust therefore has low exposure to currency rate 
fluctuations. 

Interest rate risk 
The Trust borrows from Government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability 
as confirmed by NHS Improvement.  The borrowings are for 1-10 years, in line with 
the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund 
rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The Trust may also borrow from Government for 
revenue financing subject to approval by NHS Improvement.  Interest rates are 
confirmed by the Department of Health and Social Care (the lender) at the point 
borrowing is undertaken. The Trust therefore has low exposure to interest rate 
fluctuations. 

Credit risk 
Because the majority of the Trust’s revenue comes from contracts with other public 
sector bodies, the Trust has low exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as 
at 31 March 2022 are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and 
other receivables note. 

Liquidity risk 
The Trust’s operating costs are incurred under contracts with CCGs, which are 
financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The Trust funds its capital 
expenditure from funds obtained within its prudential borrowing limit.  The Trust is 
not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risk. 

There have been no changes to the Trust’s exposure to the risks above since the 
previous period. There have also been no changes in the methods used to measure 
the risks, or the policies and processes in place for managing the risks. 
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19.2 Carrying values of financial assets 

Carrying values of financial assets held at amortised 
cost 

31 
March 
2022 
£'000 

 31 
March 
2021 
£'000  

Trade and other receivables excluding non-financial assets 8,911 7,009 
Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand 32,634 42,085 
Total 41,545 49,094 

 

The carrying value of the above assets considered to be a reasonable approximation 
of fair value. 

19.3 Carrying values of financial liabilities 

Carrying values of financial liabilities held at amortised 
cost 

31 
March 
2022 
£'000 

 31 
March 
2021 
£'000  

Loans from the Department of Health and Social Care 3,496 4,848 
Other borrowings 1 0 
Obligations under finance leases 965 1,231 
Obligations under LIFT contracts  1,422 1,455 
Trade and other payables excluding non-financial liabilities  57,143 65,760 
Total 63,027 73,294 

 

The carrying value of the above liabilities is considered to be a reasonable 
approximation of fair value. 

19.4 Maturity of financial liabilities 
The following maturity profile of financial liabilities is based on the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows. This differs to the amounts recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position which are discounted to present value. 

Maturity of financial liabilities 
31 

March 
2022 
£'000 

 31 
March 
2021 
£'000  

Financial liabilities maturing in one year or less 59,170 67,806 
Financial liabilities maturing in more than one year but not 
more than five years 4,231 5,921 

Financial liabilities maturing in more than five years 1,989 2,325 
Total 65,390 76,052 
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20. Losses and special payments 

Losses 

2021 to 
2022  
Total 

number of 
cases 

2021 to 
2022 

Total value 
of cases 

£'000 

 2020 to 
2021  
Total 

number of 
cases 

(Restated*)  

 2021 to 
2021 

Total value 
of cases 

£'000 
(Restated*)  

Losses: Cash losses 9 6 4 4 
Losses: Bad debts and claims 
abandoned 42 273 30 14 

Losses: Stores losses and 
damage to property 14 357 14 236 

Total losses 65 636 48 254 
Special payments: Ex-gratia 
payments* 53 90 48 819 

Total special payments 53 90 48 819 
Total losses and special 
payments 118 726 96 1,073 

 

There were no individual losses, special payments or gifts in excess of £300,000 in 
either 2021-22 or 2020-21. No compensation payments were received in respect of 
the above losses and special payments in either 2021-22 or 2020-21. 

*2020-21 balances have been restated to include an additional case with a value of 
£769,000 in respect of overtime corrective payments following the 'Flowers' 
judgement. These amounts were accrued in 2020-21 and paid in 2021-22 but were 
not previously disclosed within this note. DHSC has now confirmed that these 
payments are considered special payments for which HM Treasury approval was 
sought nationally by NHS England on behalf of the Trust and that these payments 
should have been previously disclosed. All amounts paid were nationally funded. 
The number of cases previously reported in respect of ex gratia payments was 47 
and the value previously reported was £50,000. 

 

21. Related party transactions 
During the year none of the Department of Health and Social Care Ministers, Trust 
Board members or members of the key management staff, or parties related to any 
of them, has undertaken any material transactions with Royal Cornwall Hospitals 
NHS Trust, other than those transactions disclosed in this note. 

The Trust has had material transactions with entities for which the Department is 
regarded as the parent department. These entities and their associated transactions 
with the Trust are listed below: 
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Year to 31 March 2022 
Revenue 

with related 
party  
£'000 

Expenditure 
with related 

party 
£'000 

Receivables 
with related 

party 
£'000 

Payables 
with 

related 
party  
£'000 

Kernow Clinical Commissioning 
Group 411,326 0 580 1,318 

NHS England 107,535 (400) 2,922 958 
Cornwall Partnership NHS FT 8,177 10,459 558 1,047 
NHS Resolution 0 13,527 0 0 
Health Education England 19,243 0 1,124 166 

 

Year to 31 March 2021  
 Revenue 

with related 
party  
£'000  

 Expenditure 
with related 

party 
£'000  

 
Receivables 
with related 

party 
£'000  

 Payables 
with 

related 
party  
£'000  

Kernow Clinical Commissioning 
Group 350,796 21 19 441 

NHS England 124,728 585 1,811 1,599 
Cornwall Partnership NHS FT 6,710 10,251 1,461 1,340 
NHS Resolution 0 11,991 0 0 
Health Education England 16,779 4 355 168 

 

In addition, the Trust has had a number of material transactions with other 
government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of 
these transactions have been with the NHS Pension Scheme, National Insurance 
Fund, NHS Blood and Transplant and HM Revenue and Customs. 

Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust Charitable Fund  
The Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust is the Corporate Trustee for the Royal 
Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust Charitable Fund. The Trust has not consolidated the 
accounts of the Charitable Fund within these financial statements on the grounds 
that the transactions with the Charity and the Charity's balances are not material to 
the Trust. 

Included within current receivables at 31 March 2022 is £11,000 (31 March 2021: 
£22,000) owed to Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust. During 2021-22 the Trust 
received income of £494,000 (2020-21: £697,000) from the Charity.  

 

22. Events after the reporting date 
There are no known post balance sheet events requiring disclosure.  
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23. Better Payment Practice Code 

2021 to 2022: non-NHS payables Number £'000 
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 113,243 253,428 
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 107,397 238,887 
Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid 
within target 94.8% 94.3% 

 

2021 to 2022: NHS payables Number £'000 
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 2,437 84,789 
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 2,352 84,261 
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within 
target 96.5% 99.4% 

 

2020 to 2021: non-NHS payables Number £'000 
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year 96,125 227,383 
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target 91,797 211,014 
Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid 
within target 95.5% 92.8% 

 

2020 to 2021: NHS payables Number £'000 
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year 2,358 79,544 
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target 2,228 77,762 
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within 
target 94.5% 97.8% 

 
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the Trust to aim to pay all valid invoices 
by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. 

 

24. External financing 
The Trust is given an External Financing Limit (EFL) which it is permitted to under 
spend. 

Description 2021 to 2022 
£'000 

  2020 to 2021 
£'000   

Cash flow financing 28,949 (607) 
External financing requirement and External 
Financing Limit 28,949 39,739 

Underspend against the External Financing Limit 0 40,346 



 

Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2021/22 

Page 160 of 172 

 

25. Capital Resource Limit 
The Trust is given a Capital Resource Limit (CRL) which it is not permitted to 
exceed. 

Description 2021 to 2022 
£'000 

  2020 to 2021 
£'000   

Gross capital expenditure 44,033 55,347 
Less: Disposals (193) (87) 
Less: Donated and granted capital additions (601) (1,389) 
Plus: Loss on disposal of donated/granted assets 63 0 
Charge against the Capital Resource Limit 43,302 53,871 
Capital Resource Limit 43,963 59,383 
Underspend against the Capital Resource Limit 661 5,512 

 

The underspend in both 2021-22 and 2020-21 arose from technical adjustments to 
the CRL limit to show the levels of funding originally approved rather than the 
amount the Trust agreed to spend. The Trust spent to within £50,000 of the funding it 
received in both 2021-22 and 2020-21. 

 

26. Break-even duty financial performance 

Description 2021 to 2022 
£'000 

  2020 to 2021 
£'000   

Adjusted financial performance surplus (control 
total basis) 888 2,756 

Remove impairments scoring to Departmental 
Expenditure Limit 1,890 0 

IFRIC 12 breakeven adjustment 26 28 
Breakeven duty financial performance surplus 2,804 2,784 
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27. Break-even rolling duty assessment 

Description 

1997-98 
to 2008-
09 Total 

£'000 2009-10 
£'000 

2010-11 
£'000 

2011-12 
£'000 

2012-13 
£'000 

2013-14 
£'000 

2014-15 
£'000 

Break-even in-year financial performance 0 8,349 7,544 4,437 9,809 3,938 (6,908) 
Break-even duty cumulative position  (42,768) (34,419) (26,875) (22,438) (12,629) (8,691) (15,599) 
Operating income 0 303,925 310,471 314,246 323,341 332,819 342,503 
Cumulative break-even position as a 
percentage of turnover 0 (11.3%) (8.7%) (7.1%) (3.9%) (2.6%) (4.6%) 

 

Description 
2015-16 

£'000 
2016-17 

£'000 
2017-18 

£'000 
2018-19 

£'000 
2019-20 

£'000 
2020-21  

£'000 
2021-22 

£'000 
Break-even in-year financial performance (6,906) (929) (2,557) (4,104) 487 2,784 2,804 
Break-even duty cumulative position  (22,505) (23,434) (25,991) (30,095) (29,608) (26,824) (24,020) 
Operating income 355,815 379,462 405,020 445,376 481,623 537,177 580,590 
Cumulative break-even position as a 
percentage of turnover (6.3%) (6.2%) (6.4%) (6.8%) (6.1%) (5.0%) (4.1%) 

 

The Trust reported a £2.8m surplus in 2021-22 and holds a cumulative deficit of £24.0m at 31 March 2022. The Trust expects to fail to 
achieve breakeven on a cumulative basis at 31 March 2023, however it aims to recover its financial position as quickly as possible. A plan 
to recover the current cumulative deficit over a 5-year period has not been agreed to date.
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Independent auditor's report to the Directors of Royal 
Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 

Qualified opinion on financial statements 
We have audited the financial statements of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust 
(the ‘Trust’) for the year ended 31 March 2022, which comprise the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of 
Changes in Taxpayers Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the 
accounts, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the 
Accounts Directions issued under Schedule 15 of the National Health Service Act 
2006, as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care 
Group Accounting Manual 2021 to 2022. 
In our opinion, except for the possible effects on the corresponding figures of the 
matter described in the Basis for qualified opinion section of our report, the financial 
statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Trust as at 31 March 
2022 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended;  

• have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting 
standards as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social 
Care Group Accounting Manual 2021 to 2022; and  

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 

 

Basis for qualified opinion 
Due to the national lockdown arising from the Covid-19 pandemic in March 2020, we 
were not able to not observe the counting of the physical inventories at 31 March 
2020 or satisfy ourselves by alternative means concerning the inventory quantities 
held at that date, which had a carrying amount in the Statement of Financial Position 
of £9.006 million. Consequently, we were unable to determine whether there was 
any consequential effect on the drug costs for the year ended 31 March 2021. Our 
audit opinion on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 was 
modified accordingly. Our opinion on the current year’s financial statements is also 
modified because of the possible effect of this matter on the comparability of the 
current year’s drug costs and the corresponding prior year figures. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) 
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit Practice (2020) 
(“the Code of Audit Practice”) approved by the Comptroller and Auditor General. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s 
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responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are 
independent of the Trust in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion. 
 

Conclusions relating to going concern 
We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Trust to cease to continue as a going concern. 
In our evaluation of the Directors’ conclusions, and in accordance with the 
expectation set out within the Department of Health and Social Care Group 
accounting manual 2021 to 2022 that the Trust’s financial statements shall be 
prepared on a going concern basis, we considered the inherent risks associated with 
the continuation of services provided by the Trust. In doing so we had regard to the 
guidance provided in Practice Note 10 Audit of financial statements and regularity of 
public sector bodies in the United Kingdom (Revised 2020) on the application of ISA 
(UK) 570 Going Concern to public sector entities. We assessed the reasonableness 
of the basis of preparation used by the Trust and the Trust’s disclosures over the 
going concern period. 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material 
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may 
cast significant doubt on the Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised 
for issue. 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is 
appropriate. 
The responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in 
the ‘Responsibilities of the Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the 
financial statements’ section of this report. 
 

Other information 
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
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the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.  
As described in the basis for qualified opinion section of our report, we were unable 
to satisfy ourselves concerning the inventory quantities of £9.006 million held as at 
31 March 2020, and whether there was any consequential effect on the drug costs 
for the year ended 31 March 2021. Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether 
or not the other information is materially misstated with respect to this matter. 
 

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of 
Audit Practice 
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in April 2020 
on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are 
required to consider whether the Annual Governance Statement does not comply 
with the guidance issued by NHS England or is misleading or inconsistent with the 
information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider 
whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that 
risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.  
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 

Opinion on other matters required by the Code of Audit Practice  
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:  

• the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been 
properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in 
conformity with the requirements of the Accounts Directions issued under 
Schedule 15 of the National Health Service Act 2006, as interpreted and 
adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group accounting 
manual 2021 to 2022; and 

• based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial 
statements and our knowledge of the Trust, the other information published 
together with the financial statements in the annual report for the financial 
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements. 
 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if: 

• we issue a report in the public interest under Section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under Section 30 of the Local Audit 
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and Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the 
Trust, or an officer of the Trust, is about to make, or has made, a decision 
which involves or would involve the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is 
about to take, or has begun to take a course of action which, if followed to its 
conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or 

• we make a written recommendation to the Trust under Section 24 of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the 
audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters except on 6 June 2022 we 
referred a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 (b) of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 in relation to Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust’s 
ongoing breach of its cumulative break-even duty for the period ending 31 March 
2022.  
 

Responsibilities of the Directors and Those Charged with Governance for the 
financial statements 
As explained in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities in respect of the accounts, 
set out on page 81, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial 
statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Directions, for being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the 
Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the 
Trust’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
they have been informed by the relevant national body of the intention to dissolve the 
Trust without the transfer of its services to another public sector entity. 
The Audit & Risk Assurance Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those 
Charged with Governance are responsible for overseeing the Trust’s financial 
reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is 
located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report. 
 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to 
detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. Owing to 
the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that material 
misstatements in the financial statements may not be detected, even though the 
audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs (UK).  
The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including 
fraud is detailed below:  

• We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are 
applicable to the Trust and determined that the most significant which are 
directly relevant to specific assertions in the financial statements are those 
related to the reporting frameworks (international accounting standards and 
the National Health Service Act 2006, as interpreted and adapted by the 
Department of Health and Social Care Group accounting manual 2021 to 
2022). 

• We enquired of management and the Audit & Risk Assurance Committee, 
concerning the Trust’s policies and procedures relating to:  

o the identification, evaluation and compliance with laws and regulations; 
o the detection and response to the risks of fraud; and 
o the establishment of internal controls to mitigate risks related to fraud 

or non-compliance with laws and regulations.  

• We enquired of management, and the Audit & Risk Assurance Committee, 
whether they were aware of any instances of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations or whether they had any knowledge of actual, suspected or 
alleged fraud.  

• We assessed the susceptibility of the Trust’s financial statements to material 
misstatement, including how fraud might occur, evaluating management's 
incentives and opportunities for manipulation of the financial statements. This 
included the evaluation of the risk of management override of controls and 
revenue and expenditure recognition. We determined that the principal risks 
were in relation to: 

o journal entries posted by senior officers, journals posted by authorised 
users, journals without a description, journals adjusting deferred 
income and large accruals and material post year end journals; and 

o the significant accounting estimates in the financial statements, 
including those related to the valuation of property, plant and 
equipment and the year-end accruals. 

• Our audit procedures involved:  
o evaluation of the design effectiveness of controls that management has in 

place to prevent and detect fraud; 
o journal entry testing, with a focus on large and unusual journals; 
o challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its 



 

Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust Annual Report and Accounts 2021/22 

Page 167 of 172 

significant accounting estimates in respect of land and buildings valuations 
and significant accruals;  

o assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and regulations 
as part of our procedures on the related financial statement item. 

• These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that 
the financial statements were free from fraud or error. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting 
one resulting from error and detecting irregularities that result from fraud is 
inherently more difficult than detecting those that result from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional 
misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-compliance with laws and 
regulations is from events and transactions reflected in the financial 
statements, the less likely we would become aware of it. 

• The team communications in respect of potential non-compliance with 
relevant laws and regulations, including the potential for fraud in revenue 
and/or expenditure recognition, and the significant accounting estimates 
related to land and building valuations.  

• Our assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and 
capabilities of the engagement team included consideration of the 
engagement team's. 

o understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of 
a similar nature and complexity through appropriate training and 
participation 

o knowledge of the health sector and economy in which the Trust 
operates 

o understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the 
Trust including: 
 the provisions of the applicable legislation 
 NHS England’s rules and related guidance 
 the applicable statutory provisions. 

• In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an 
understanding of: 

o The Trust’s operations, including the nature of its income and 
expenditure and its services and of its objectives and strategies to 
understand the classes of transactions, account balances, expected 
financial statement disclosures and business risks that may result in 
risks of material misstatement. 

o The Trust's control environment, including the policies and procedures 
implemented by the Trust to ensure compliance with the requirements 
of the financial reporting framework. 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – the Trust’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources 
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Matter on which we are required to report by exception – the Trust’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources 
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, 
we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources for the year ended 31 March 2022.   
Our work on the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources is not yet complete so we are unable to 
conclude whether the significant weaknesses reported on 17 September 2021 have 
been addressed. The outcome of our work will be reported in our commentary on the 
Trust’s arrangements in our Auditor’s Annual Report. If we identify any significant 
weaknesses in these arrangements, they will be reported by exception in a further 
auditor’s report. We are satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on 
our opinion on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.  
 

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer 
As explained in the Statement of the chief executive’s responsibilities as the 
accountable officer of the Trust set out on page 80, the Chief Executive, as 
Accountable Officer, is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the Trust's resources. 
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Trust’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 
We are required under Section 21(3)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the Trust has made 
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all 
aspects of the Trust's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 
We undertake our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having 
regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in December 
2021. This guidance sets out the arrangements that fall within the scope of ‘proper 
arrangements’. When reporting on these arrangements, the Code of Audit Practice 
requires auditors to structure their commentary on arrangements under three 
specified reporting criteria: 

• Financial sustainability: how the Trust plans and manages its resources to 
ensure it can continue to deliver its services;  

• Governance: how the Trust ensures that it makes informed decisions and 
properly manages its risks; and  

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Trust uses 
information about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages 
and delivers its services. 
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We document our understanding of the arrangements the Trust has in place for each 
of these three specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to support our 
risk assessment and commentary in our Auditor’s Annual Report. In undertaking our 
work, we consider whether there is evidence to suggest that there are significant 
weaknesses in arrangements. 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Delay in certification of 
completion of the audit 
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for Royal 
Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust for the year ended 31 March 2022 in accordance with 
the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of 
Audit Practice until we have completed our work on the Trust’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
 
Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the Directors of the Trust, as a body, in accordance with 
Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the Trust's Directors those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Trust and the Trust's Directors as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
Peter Barber 
 
Peter Barber, Key Audit Partner 
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor 
 
Bristol 
21 June 2022 
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Independent auditor’s report to the Directors of Royal 
Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust 
In our auditor’s report issued on 21 June 2022, we explained that we could not 
formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for the Trust for the year 
ended 31 March 2022, in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice, until we had completed our 
work on the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources. We have now completed this work, and the results of our 
work are set out below. 

 

Opinion on the financial statements 
In our auditor’s report for the year ended 31 March 2022 issued on 21 June 2022 we 
reported that, in our opinion, except for the possible effects on the corresponding 
figures of the matter described in the Basis for qualified opinion section of our report, 
the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Trust as at 31 March 
2022 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended;  

• have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting 
standards as interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social 
Care Group accounting manual 2021 to 2022; and  

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National 
Health Service Act 2006. 

 
Basis for qualified opinion 
Due to the national lockdown arising from the Covid-19 pandemic in March 2020, we 
were not able to not observe the counting of the physical inventories at 31 March 
2020 or satisfy ourselves by alternative means concerning the inventory quantities 
held at that date, which had a carrying amount in the Statement of Financial Position 
of £9.006 million. Consequently, we were unable to determine whether there was 
any consequential effect on the drug costs for the year ended 31 March 2021. Our 
audit opinion on the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 was 
modified accordingly.  

Our opinion on the current year’s financial statements is also modified because of 
the possible effect of this matter on the comparability of the current year’s drug costs 
and the corresponding prior year figures. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) 
(ISAs (UK)) and applicable law, as required by the Code of Audit Practice (2020) 
(“the Code of Audit Practice”) approved by the Comptroller and Auditor General. Our 
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responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are 
independent of the Trust in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion. 

No matters have come to our attention since that date that would have a material 
impact on the financial statements on which we gave this opinion.  

 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - the Trust’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources 
 

Matter on which we are required to report by exception – the Trust’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources 

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, 
we have not been able to satisfy ourselves that the Trust has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources for the year ended 31 March 2022.   

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter. 

 
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer 
The Chief Executive, as Accountable Officer, is responsible for putting in place 
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use 
of the Trust's resources. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Trust’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

We are required under Section 21(3)(c) and Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the Trust has made 
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all 
aspects of the Trust's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, 
having regard to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in 
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December 2021. This guidance sets out the arrangements that fall within the scope 
of ‘proper arrangements’. When reporting on these arrangements, the Code of Audit 
Practice requires auditors to structure their commentary on arrangements under 
three specified reporting criteria: 

• Financial sustainability: how the Trust plans and manages its resources to 
ensure it can continue to deliver its services;  

• Governance: how the Trust ensures that it makes informed decisions and 
properly manages its risks; and  

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Trust uses 
information about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages 
and delivers its services. 

We have documented our understanding of the arrangements the Trust has in place 
for each of these three specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to 
support our risk assessment and commentary in our Auditor’s Annual Report. In 
undertaking our work, we have considered whether there is evidence to suggest that 
there are significant weaknesses in arrangements. 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Audit certificate 
 

We certify that we have completed the audit of Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust 
for the year ended 31 March 2022 in accordance with the requirements of the Local 
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice. 

 
Use of our report  
This report is made solely to the Directors of the Trust, as a body, in accordance with 
Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the Trust's Directors those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the 
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the Trust and the Trust's Directors as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Peter Barber 
 
Peter Barber, Key Audit Partner 
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor 
 
Bristol 
7 September 2022 
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